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CAUTIONARY STATEMENTS FOR FORWARD -LOOKING INFORMATION

Unless otherwise indicated, references to “Johizamrols,” the “Company,” “we,
to Johnson Controls, Inc. and its consolidatedididrges.

our” and “us” irhis Annual Report on Form 10-K refer

Certain statements in this report, other than guritorical information, including estimates, pdiions, statements relating to our business
plans, objectives and expected operating resultsflze assumptions upon which those statementsaaesl, are “forward-looking statements”
within the meaning of the Private Securities Litiga Reform Act of 1995, Section 27A of the SedastAct of 1933 and Section 21E of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934. These forward-loglstatements generally are identified by the wdtmklieve,” “project,” “expect,”
“anticipate,” “estimate,” “forecast,” “outlook,” fitend,” “strategy,” “plan,” “may,” “should,” “will; “would,” “will be,” “will continue,” “will
likely result,” or the negative thereof or variatfothereon or similar terminology generally intethtie identify forward-looking statements.
Forward-looking statements are based on currergaapons and assumptions that are subject to aistaincertainties which may cause
actual results to differ materially from the fonddboking statements. A detailed discussion ofgigkd uncertainties that could cause actual
results and events to differ materially from suciwiard-looking statements is included in the secéntitled “Risk Factors” (refer to Part |,
Item 1A, of this Annual Report on Form 10-K). Wedantake no obligation, and we disclaim any obligatito update or revise publicly any
forward-looking statements, whether as a resuttesf information, future events or otherwise.

PART |
ITEM 1 BUSINESS

General

Johnson Controls brings ingenuity to the placesrevpeople live, work and travel. By integratingtteclogies, products and services, we
create smart environments that redefine the relshiips between people and their surroundings. Yileedb create a more comfortable, safe
and sustainable world through our products andaEsvto millions of vehicles, homes and commergialdings. Johnson Controls provides
innovative automotive interiors that help make hgvmore comfortable, safe and enjoyable. For Ingis, we offer products and services
optimize energy use and improve comfort and secuie also provide batteries for automobiles anlariayelectric vehicles, along with
related systems engineering, marketing and seexpertise.

Johnson Controls was originally incorporated ingtage of Wisconsin in 1885 as Johnson Electrizi€eiCompany to manufacture, install
and service automatic temperature regulation systenbuildings. The Company was renamed to Joh@swrirols, Inc. in 1974. In 1978, we
acquired Globe-Union, Inc., a Wisconsin-based mactufer of automotive batteries for both the reptaent and original equipment markets.
We entered the automotive seating industry in 1885 the acquisition of Michigan-based Hoover Uniaad, Inc.

Our building efficiency business is a global markeider in designing, producing, marketing andailiisg integrated heating, ventilating and
air conditioning (HVAC) systems, building managemgystems, controls, security and mechanical eqgeipinin addition, the building
efficiency business provides technical servicesrgnmanagement consulting and operations of ergikestate portfolios for the non-
residential buildings market. We also provide resighl air conditioning and heating systems andistdgial refrigeration products.

Our automotive experience business is one of thddgdargest automotive suppliers, providing inative interior systems through our
design and engineering expertise. Our technolagitand into virtually every area of the interiocluding seating and overhead systems,
systems, floor consoles, instrument panels, coslkgt integrated electronics. Customers include nfdee world’s major automakers.

Our power solutions business is a leading globapker of lead-acid automotive batteries for vitty@very type of passenger car, light truck
and utility vehicle. We serve both automotive aragjiequipment manufacturers (OEMs) and the genetitle battery aftermarket. We offer
Absorbent Glass Mat (AGM) and lithium-ion batteeghnologies to power hybrid vehicles.

Financial Information About Business Segments

Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) 280, “SegtriReporting,” establishes the standards for réppihformation about operating
segments in financial statements. In applying titeréa set forth in ASC 280, the
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Company has determined that it has ten reportagments for financial reporting purposes. Certaierating segments are aggregated or
combined based on materiality within building eitcy — rest of world and power solutions in aceorck with ASC 280. The Company’s
ten reportable segments are presented in the daftég three primary businesses: building effiig, automotive experience and power
solutions.

Refer to Note 19, “Segment Information,” of theew®to the consolidated financial statements in Bewhthis report for financial information
about business segments.

For the purpose of the following discussion of @@mmpany’s businesses, the six building efficieregyortable segments and the three
automotive experience reportable segments areresstogether due to their similar customers aedstinilar nature of their products,
production processes and distribution channels.

Products/Systems and Services
Building efficiency

Building efficiency is a global leader in delivegiintegrated control systems, mechanical equipnsentjces and solutions designed to
improve the comfort, safety and energy efficientpan-residential buildings and residential projgsrivith operations in 59 countries.
Revenues come from facilities management, techeealices and the replacement and upgrade of HV#@rals and mechanical equipment
in the existing buildings market, where the Compsaigrge base of current customers leads to rdpesdness, as well as with installing
controls and equipment during the constructionenf uildings. Customer relationships often spairebuilding lifecycles.

Building efficiency sells its control systems, manfcal equipment and services primarily throughGloenpany’s extensive global network of
sales and service offices. Some building controtsrmechanical systems are sold to distributorsrefanditioning, refrigeration and
commercial heating systems throughout the worlgorapimately 45% of building efficiency’s sales akerived from HVAC products and
installed control systems for construction andafittmarkets, of which 13% of its total sales agtated to new commercial construction.
Approximately 55% of its sales originate from ie\dce offerings. In fiscal 2010, building efficignaccounted for 37% of the Company’s
consolidated net sales.

The Company’s systems include Yd&tkhillers, industrial refrigeration products, aimdéers and other HYAC mechanical equipment that
provide heating and cooling in non-residential dinig)s. The Metasy8 control system monitors and integrates HVAC equipingth other
critical buildings systems to maximize comfort vehieducing energy and operating costs. As the sagjebal supplier of HVAC technical
services, building efficiency staffs, optimizes argairs building systems made by the Company @nwbimpetitors. The Company offers a
wide range of solutions such as performance catimigaander which guaranteed energy savings are lngéloe customer to fund project costs
over a number of years. In addition, the globalkptace solutions segment provides full-time on-ejperations staff and real estate and
energy consulting services to help customers, épemulti-national companies, reduce costs andrime the performance of their facility
portfolios. The Company'’s on-site staff typicallgrfprms tasks related to the comfort and religbdit the facility, and manages
subcontractors for functions such as foodservileaning, maintenance and landscaping. ThroughatsiNAmerica unitary products busine
the Company produces air conditioning and heatingpenent for the residential market.

Automotive experience

Automotive experience designs and manufacturesianteroducts and systems for passenger cars ghtitfiicks, including vans, pick-up
trucks and sport/crossover utility vehicles. Theibass produces automotive interior systems for ® &N operates approximately 175
wholly- and majority-owned manufacturing or assemiiants in 27 countries worldwide (see Item 2 distrties”). Additionally, the business
has partially-owned affiliates in Asia, Europe, NoAmerica and South America.

Automotive experience products and systems inchaoaieplete seating systems and components; coclgigrsg, including instrument panels
and clusters, information displays and body coldrs] overhead systems, including headliners aectreinic convenience features; floor
consoles; and door systems. In fiscal 2010, autometxperience accounted for 49% of the Company'solidated net sales.

The business operates assembly plants that supiynative OEMs with complete seats on a “just-indiin-sequence” basis. Seats are
assembled to specific order and delivered on agpeechined schedule directly to an automotive asielime. Certain of the business’s other
automotive interior systems are also supplied §osd-in-
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time/in-sequence” basis. Foam, metal and plastiireg components, seat covers, seat mechanismstlagdcomponents are shipped to these
plants from the business’s production facilitieatside suppliers.

Power solutions

Power solutions services both automotive OEMs ardattery aftermarket by providing advanced batichnology, coupled with systems
engineering, marketing and service expertise. Témag@any is the largest producer of lead-acid automadiatteries in the world, producing
approximately 120 million lead-acid batteries artyua approximately 55 wholly- and majority-ownedaanufacturing or assembly plants in
18 countries worldwide (see Item 2, “Propertiesiyestments in new product and process technolagg lexpanded product offerings to
AGM and lithium-ion battery technology to power higbvehicles. Approximately 77% of automotive bagteales worldwide in fiscal 2010
were to the automotive replacement market, withréimeaining sales to the OEM market.

Sales of automotive batteries generated 14% oftmpany’s fiscal 2010 consolidated net sales. Bat@nd plastic battery containers are
manufactured at wholly- and majority-owned plamt®Niorth America, South America, Asia and Europe.

Competition
Building efficiency

The building efficiency business conducts certdiitsooperations through thousands of individuaitcacts that are either negotiated or
awarded on a competitive basis. Key factors iratlvard of contracts include system and service pedace, quality, price, design,
reputation, technology, application engineeringatalty and construction management expertise. Gaitgus for contracts in the residential
and non-residential marketplace include many regjorational and international controls providéasger competitors include Honeywell
International, Inc.; Siemens Building Technologi@s,operating group of Siemens AG; Carrier Corpgonata subsidiary of United
Technologies Corporation; Trane Incorporated, @isligry of Ingersoll-Rand Company Limited; Rheemnvtacturing Company; Lennox
International, Inc.; and Goodman Global, Inc. Teevees market, including global workplace solusipis highly fragmented. Sales of
services are largely dependent upon numerous thaivicontracts with commercial businesses worldwide loss of any individual contract
would not have a material adverse effect on the @my.

Automotive experience

The automotive experience business faces compefitbon other automotive suppliers and, with respedertain products, from the
automobile OEMs who produce or have the capahiitgroduce certain products the business supfltes automotive supply industry
competes on the basis of technology, quality, béitst of supply and price. Design, engineering gammdduct planning are increasingly
important factors. Independent suppliers that gethe principal automotive experience competitoclude Lear Corporation, Faurecia SA
and Magna International Inc.

Power solutions

Power solutions is the principal supplier of bageito many of the largest merchants in the batiisrmarket, including Advance Auto Parts,
AutoZone, Robert Bosch GmbH, Costco, NAPA, O'RIIBK, Interstate Battery System of America, PepB@&ears, Roebuck & Co. and
Wal-Mart stores. Automotive batteries are sold tigtwout the world under private labels and undebmpany’s brand names (Optima®,
Varta®, LTH® and Heliar®) to automotive replacemeéattery retailers and distributors and to autoneoimanufacturers as original
equipment. The power solutions business competisaniumber of major domestic and international uficturers and distributors of lead-
acid batteries, as well as a large number of sma#igional competitors. The power solutions bussngrimarily competes in the battery
market with Exide Technologies, GS Yuasa Corponatitast Penn Manufacturing Company and Fiamm Grble.North American,
European and Asian lead-acid battery markets af@yhcompetitive. The manufacturers in these marketpete on price, quality, technical
innovation, service and warranty.
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Backlog

The Company’s backlog relating to the building@éncy business is applicable to its sales of systend services. At September 30, 2010,
the backlog was $4.7 billion, compared with $418dsi as of September 30, 2009. The increase iklbgavas primarily due to market share
gains and conditions in the North America systedwmth America service and rest of world marketstiptly offset by a decline in Europe.
The backlog does not include amounts associatddasittracts in the global workplace solutions besinbecause such contracts are typi
multi-year service awards, nor does it includeamiproducts. The backlog amount outstanding atgivsn time is not necessarily indicative
of the amount of revenue to be earned in the upagrigcal year.

At September 30, 2010, the Company’s automotiveeepce backlog of net new incremental businesggaonsolidated and
unconsolidated subsidiaries to be executed witlemiext three fiscal years was approximately $aliom, $1.1 billion of which relates to
fiscal 2011. The backlog as of September 30, 2089 approximately $2.5 billion. The increase in bagkvas primarily due to higher
industry production volumes in North America, Eugagmnd Asia. The automotive backlog is generalljexiitio a number of risks and
uncertainties, such as related vehicle productmuanaes, the timing of related production launched ehanges in customer development
plans.

Raw Materials

Raw materials used by the businesses in connegttbrtheir operations, including lead, steel, uagth chemicals, copper, sulfuric acid and
polypropylene, were readily available during tharyand the Company expects such availability tdinaa. In fiscal 2011, the Company
expects increases in steel, copper, chemicalsesinl costs. Lead and other commodity costs arecéaqbéo be relatively stable.

Intellectual Property

Generally, the Company seeks statutory protectostrategic or financially important intellectyabperty developed in connection with its
business. Certain intellectual property, where appate, is protected by contracts, licenses, demtiality or other agreements.

The Company owns numerous U.S. and non-U.S. paimdstheir respective counterparts), the more mapéd of which cover those
technologies and inventions embodied in currentlpets, or which are used in the manufacture ofahpreducts. While the Company
believes patents are important to its businessatipas and in the aggregate constitute a valuasetano single patent, or group of patents, is
critical to the success of the business. The Comfaom time to time, grants licenses under iteptt and technology and receives licenses
under patents and technology of others.

The Company'’s trademarks, certain of which are ri@t® its business, are registered or otherwagglly protected in the U.S. and many
non-U.S. countries where products and serviceseCompany are sold. The Company, from time to,tlmeeomes involved in trademark
licensing transactions.

Most works of authorship produced for the Compaagh as computer programs, catalogs and salestliter carry appropriate notices
indicating the Company’s claim to copyright protestunder U.S. law and appropriate internationedties.

Environmental, Health and Safety Matters

Laws addressing the protection of the environmEntironmental Laws) and workers’ safety and he@lorker Safety Laws) govern the
Company'’s ongoing global operations. They genegaibvide for civil and criminal penalties, as wadl injunctive and remedial relief, for
noncompliance or require remediation of sites wi@wmpany-related materials have been releasedhatenvironment.

The Company has expended substantial resourcealigldoth financial and managerial, to comply withvironmental Laws and Worker
Safety Laws and maintains procedures designedsterfand ensure compliance. Certain of the Comgamnysinesses are, or have been,
engaged in the handling or use of substances thptimmpact workplace health and safety or the emwvirent. The Company is committed to
protecting its workers and the environment agahmstisks associated with these substances.

The Company'’s operations and facilities have baad,in the future may become, the subject of foronéformal enforcement actions or
proceedings for noncompliance with such laws ottierremediation of Company-related
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substances released into the environment. Suclemmagpically are resolved by negotiation with regory authorities that result in
commitments to compliance, abatement or remedigiograms and, in some cases, payment of penafis®rically, neither such
commitments nor such penalties have been matésieé Iltem 3, “Legal Proceedings,” of this reportdaliscussion of the Company’s
potential environmental liabilities.)

Environmental Capital Expenditures

The Company’s ongoing environmental compliance gnogoften results in capital expenditures. Envirental considerations are a part of
all significant capital expenditures; however, exgitures in fiscal 2010 related solely to enviromta¢ compliance were not material. It is
management’s opinion that the amount of any futagtal expenditures related solely to environmlesdenpliance will not have a material
adverse effect on the Company'’s financial resultsompetitive position in any one year.

Employees

As of September 30, 2010, the Company employedoappately 137,000 employees, of whom approxima®3y000 were hourly and 44,0
were salaried.

Seasonal Factors

Certain of building efficiency’s sales are seas@salhe demand for residential air conditioningiganent generally increases in the summer
months. This seasonality is mitigated by the otiteducts and services provided by the buildingcifficy business that have no material
seasonal effect.

Sales of automotive seating and interior systendsodibatteries to automobile OEMs for use as oabaguipment are dependent upon the
demand for new automobiles. Management believasitraand for new automobiles generally reflectsisieity to overall economic
conditions with no material seasonal effect.

The automotive replacement battery market is affbbly weather patterns because batteries are keketb fail when extremely low
temperatures place substantial additional powarireaents upon a vehicle’s electrical system. Alsitery life is shortened by extremely
high temperatures, which accelerate corrosion ratesrefore, either mild winter or moderate sumteerperatures may adversely affect
automotive replacement battery sales.

Financial Information About Geographic Areas

Refer to Note 19, “Segment Information,” of theew®to the consolidated financial statements in Bewhthis report for financial information
about geographic areas.

Research and Development Expenditures

Refer to Note 1, “Summary of Significant AccountiRglicies,”of the notes to the consolidated financial stateéminitem 8 of this report fc
research and development expenditures.

Available Information

The Company'’s filings with the U.S. Securities &athange Commission (SEC), including annual repmmt&orm 10K, quarterly reports o
Form 10-Q, definitive proxy statements on Scheddl&, current reports on Form 8-K, and any amendminthose reports filed pursuant to
Section 13 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act, are maadable free of charge through the Investor Refaisection of the Company’s Internet
website at http://www.johnsoncontrols.ca@® soon as reasonably practicable after the Comglantronically files such material with, or
furnishes it to, the SEC. Copies of any materiaés@ompany files with the SEC can also be obtafremlof charge through the SEGVebsiti
at http://www.sec.goy at the SEC’s Public Reference Room at 100 F StkeE., Washington, D.C. 20549, or by calling 8&C'’s Office of
Investor Education and Assistance at 1-800-732-08B8 Company also makes available, free of chég&thics Policy, Corporate
Governance Guidelines, Board of Directors commitfegrters and other information related to the Camypon the Company’s Internet
website or in printed form upon request. The Corgpamot including the information contained on @empany’s website as a part of, or
incorporating it by reference into, this Annual Repn Form 10-K.
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ITEM 1A RISK FACTORS

General Risks

General economic, credit and capital market conditns could adversely affect our financial performane, and may affect our ability to
grow or sustain our businesses and could negativedffect our ability to access the capital markets.

We compete around the world in various geograpdtions and product markets. Global economic canmttaffect each of our three primary
businesses. As we discuss in greater detail isfbeific risk factors for each of our businesses #ppear below, any future financial distress
in the automotive industry or residential and conmuia construction markets could negatively affegt revenues and financial performance
in future periods, result in future restructurifaoges, and adversely impact our ability to growsustain our businesses.

The capital and credit markets provide us withitiijy to operate and grow our businesses beyondigh&lity that operating cash flows
provide. A worldwide economic downturn and disroptbf the credit markets could reduce our accesapial necessary for our operations
and executing our strategic plan. If our accesafital were to become significantly constrainedasts of capital increased significantly due
to lowered credit ratings, prevailing industry ciimhs, the volatility of the capital markets ohet factors, then our financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows could be afgaffected. The Company’s $2.05 billion five-yeavolving credit facility expires in
December 2011. The Company plans to renew thetfapiior to its expiration.

We are subject to pricing pressure from our automae customers.

We face significant competitive pressures in albof business segments. Because of their purchagiegour automotive customers can
influence market participants to compete on prieens. If we are not able to offset pricing redutsioesulting from these pressures by
improved operating efficiencies and reduced exganes, those pricing reductions may have an adversact on our business.

We are subject to risks associated with our non-U.®perations that could adversely affect our resudt of operations.

We have significant operations in a number of coestoutside the U.S., some of which are locatezhierging markets. Longrm economi
uncertainty in some of the regions of the worlavinich we operate, such as Asia, South AmericaMiuglle East, Central Europe and other
emerging markets, could result in the disruptiomafrkets and negatively affect cash flows from apgrations to cover our capital needs and
debt service.

In addition, as a result of our global presencggaificant portion of our revenues and expensei®minated in currencies other than the
U.S. dollar. We are therefore subject to foreigrrency risks and foreign exchange exposure. Oungni exposures are to the euro, British
pound, Japanese yen, Czech koruna, Mexican pesss 8anc, Polish zloty, Canadian dollar and Chenesminbi. While we employ
financial instruments to hedge transactional amdifm exchange exposure, these activities do sofate us completely from those expost
Exchange rates can be volatile and could advensgigct our financial results.

There are other risks that are inherent in our ddh-operations, including the potential for chaniesocio-economic conditions, laws and
regulations, including import, export, labor andieonmental laws, and monetary and fiscal polic@stectionist measures that may prohibit
acquisitions or joint ventures, unsettled politicahditions, natural and man-made disasters, hazard losses, violence and possible terrorist
attacks.

These and other factors may have a material adeéfieset on our non-U.S. operations and thereforewrbusiness and results of operations.

We are subject to regulation of our international gerations that could adversely affect our businesand results of operations.

Due to our global operations, we are subject toynhaws governing international relations, includithgse that prohibit improper payments
government officials and restrict where we can dsitess, what information or products we can sufipbertain countries and what
information we can provide to a non-U.S. governmimuding but not limited to the Foreign Corrigractices Act and the U.S. Export
Administration Act. Violations of
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these laws, which are complex, may result in crahpenalties or sanctions that could have a matedizerse effect on our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

We are subject to costly requirements relating to mvironmental regulation and environmental remediaton matters, which could
adversely affect our business and results of opeians.

Because of uncertainties associated with envirotmheggulation and environmental remediation ati#igiat sites where we may be liable,
future expenses that we may incur to remediateifikhsites could be considerably higher thandheent accrued liability on our
consolidated statement of financial position, whichild have a material adverse effect on our basiaed results of operations. As of
September 30, 2010, we recorded $47 million foiremmental liabilities and $84 million in relatedraitional asset retirement obligations.

Negative or unexpected tax consequences could adsely affect our results of operations.

Adverse changes in the underlying profitability dimé&ncial outlook of our operations in severaigdictions could lead to changes in our
valuation allowances against deferred tax asset®ter tax reserves on our statement of finampaltion that could materially and
adversely affect our results of operations. Additilty, changes in tax laws in the U.S. or in otb@untries where we have significant
operations could materially affect deferred tavetsand liabilities on our consolidated stateméffinancial position and tax expense.

We are also subject to tax audits by governmentilogities in the U.S. and in ndih-S. jurisdictions. Negative unexpected resultenfiane ol
more such tax audits could adversely affect owrlte®f operations.

Legal proceedings in which we are, or may be, a parmay adversely affect us.

We are currently and may in the future become stitbjelegal proceedings and commercial or conteddisputes. These are typically claims
that arise in the normal course of business inolgidivithout limitation, commercial or contractudplutes with our suppliers, intellectual
property matters, third party liability, includimgoduct liability claims and employment claims. Tdexists the possibility that such claims
may have an adverse impact on our results of dpagathat is greater than we anticipate.

A downgrade in the ratings of our debt could restret our ability to access the debt capital marketsrad increase our interest costs.

Changes in the ratings that rating agencies assigar debt may ultimately impact our access todistet capital markets and the costs we
incur to borrow funds. If ratings for our debt faklow investment grade, our access to the delita¢taparkets would become restricted.
Tightening in the credit markets and the reducedllef liquidity in many financial markets due tartnoil in the financial and banking
industries could affect our access to the debttabpiarkets or the price we pay to issue debt.dristlly, we have relied on our ability to
issue commercial paper rather than to draw on ditcfacility to support our daily operations, whimeans that a downgrade in our ratings
or continued volatility in the financial marketsuséng limitations to the debt capital markets cchddle an adverse effect on our business or
our ability to meet our liquidity needs.

Additionally, several of our credit agreements gahg include an increase in interest rates ifidngs for our debt are downgraded. Further,
an increase in the level of our indebtedness merg@se our vulnerability to adverse general ecoo@md industry conditions and may affect
our ability to obtain additional financing.

We are subject to potential insolvency or financiatistress of third parties.

We are exposed to the risk that third parties tioua arrangements who owe us money or goods awxiteg, or who purchase goods and
services from us, will not be able to perform thahtigations or continue to place orders due tolwency or financial distress. If third parties
fail to perform their obligations under arrangensenith us, we may be forced to replace the undaglgommitment at current or above
market prices or on other terms that are less &blerto us. In such events, we may incur lossesypresults of operations, financial position
or liquidity could otherwise be adversely affected.
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We may be unable to complete or integrate acquisans effectively, which may adversely affect our greth, profitability and results of
operations.

We expect acquisitions of businesses and assptayt@ role in our future growth. We cannot be @erthat we will be able to identify
attractive acquisition targets, obtain financingdoquisitions on satisfactory terms or successhghuire identified targets. Additionally, we
may not be successful in integrating acquired lassias into our existing operations and achieviongepted synergies. Competition for
acquisition opportunities in the various industiiesvhich we operate may rise, thereby increasimgoosts of making acquisitions or causing
us to refrain from making further acquisitions. \afe also subject to applicable antitrust laws andtravoid anticompetitive behavior. These
and other acquisition-related factors may negatiaeld adversely impact our growth, profitabilitydaresults of operations.

We are subject to business continuity risks assod¢ed with centralization of certain administrative functions.

Certain administrative functions, primarily in NleAmerica and Europe, have been or are in the psoakbeing regionally centralized to
improve efficiency and reduce costs. To the exteait these central locations are disrupted or thslley business processes, such as
invoicing, payments and general management opaestanuld be interrupted.

We are in the process of implementing new informatin technology systems.

We are in the process of implementing a new gléibahcial consolidations software system. We expedinplement this system in the first
half of fiscal 2011, and it will replace our exigdifinancial consolidations system. If we do nopiement the system successfully, or if the
system does not perform in a satisfactory manheaguld be disruptive and/or adversely affect querations and results of operations,
including our ability to report accurate and timéhancial results. We are also implementing netegmise resource planning (ERP) systems
in certain of our businesses over a period of sdyears. As we implement the new ERP systemssythiems may not perform as expected.
This could have an adverse effect on our business.

Our business success depends on attracting and ratang qualified personnel.

Our ability to sustain and grow our business razgirs to hire, retain and develop a highly skiflad diverse management team and
workforce. Any unplanned turnover or inability tttract and retain key employees could have a negeffect on our results of operations.

Building Efficiency Risks

Our building efficiency business relies to a greagxtent on contracts and business with U.S. governmeentities, the loss of which may
adversely affect our results of operations.

Our building efficiency business contracts with gowment entities and is subject to specific rulegulations and approvals applicable to
government contractors. We are subject to routirtits by the Defense Contract Audit Agency to assur compliance with these
requirements. Our failure to comply with these threo laws and regulations could result in conttahinations, suspension or debarment
from contracting with the U.S. federal governmentil fines and damages and criminal prosecutiaraddition, changes in procurement
policies, budget considerations, unexpected U.@ldpments, such as terrorist attacks, or simitditipal developments or events abroad
may change the U.S. federal government’s natiosalrity defense posture may affect sales to govemmentities.

Volatility in commodity prices may adversely affectour results of operations.

Commodity prices were highly volatile in the pasay, primarily steel, aluminum, copper and fueltsolicreases in commodity costs
negatively impact the profitability of orders indbkdog as prices on those orders are fixed; theeefarthe short term we cannot adjust for
changes in commodity prices. If we are not abletmver commodity cost increases through pricecim®es to our customers on new orders,
then such increases will have an adverse effecuomesults of operations. Additionally, unfavotépiin our hedging programs during a
period of declining commaodity prices could resaltower margins as we reduce prices to match thi&ehan a fixed commodity cost level.
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Conditions in the residential and commercial new aostruction markets may adversely affect our resultof operations.

HVAC equipment sales in the residential and commenew construction markets correlate to the nunab@ew homes and buildings that
are built. The strength of the residential and camial markets depends in part on the availabiiftgonsumer and commercial financing for
our customers, along with inventory and pricingristing homes and buildings. If economic and drewdirket conditions worsen, it may
result in a decline in the residential housing ¢artsion market and construction of new commerbiagldings. Such conditions could have an
adverse effect on our results of operations andtrespotential liabilities or additional costsicdluding impairment charges.

A variety of other factors could adversely affecthe results of operations of our building efficiencybusiness.

Any of the following could materially and adverséhypact the results of operations of our buildifficency business: loss of, or changes in,
facility management supply contracts with our majastomers; cancellation of, or significant delayrojects in our backlog; delays or
difficulties in new product development; the potahintroduction of similar or superior technologjidinancial instability or market declines
of our major component suppliers; the unavailabiit raw materials (primarily steel, copper andcelenic components) necessary for
production of HVAC equipment; price increases ofited-source components, products and servicesvihare unable to pass on to the
market; unseasonable weather conditions in vapauns of the world; changes in energy costs or gowental regulations that would
decrease the incentive for customers to updat@prave their building control systems; revisiongtwrgy efficiency legislation; a decline in
the outsourcing of facility management servicesilability of labor to support growth of our sergibusinesses; natural or man-made
disasters or losses that impact our ability towgelfacility management and other products andises\wto our customers; and changes in
foreign currency rates, which could adversely intmag profit on imported and exported goods.

Automotive Experience Risks

Conditions in the automotive industry may adverselyaffect our results of operations.

Our financial performance depends, in part, on @@t in the automotive industry. In fiscal 20bQy largest customers globally were
automobile manufacturers Ford Motor Company (Fd&#neral Motors Corporation (GM) and Daimler AGeTbetroit 3 (Ford Motor
Company, General Motors Company and Chrysler LL&®ehimplemented significant restructuring actianan effort to improve profitabilit
and are burdened with substantial structural cestsh as pension and healthcare costs, that hgaeted their profitability and labor
relations. If automakers that compete in North Aicger and European markets experience a declifeinumber of new vehicle sales, we
may experience reductions in orders from theseoousts, incur write offs of accounts receivablepimienpairment charges or require
additional restructuring actions beyond our currestructuring plans, particularly if any of the@makers cannot adequately fund their
operations or experience financial distress.

Financial distress of the original equipment suppkr base could harm our results of operations.

Automotive industry conditions could adversely affthe original equipment supplier base. Lower putithn levels for key customers,
increases in certain raw material, commodity arergncosts and global credit market conditions deakult in financial distress among
many companies within the automotive supply bas®ri€ial distress within the supplier base may teacbmmercial disputes and possible
supply chain interruptions, which in turn couldrdist our production. In addition, an adverse indushvironment may require us to provide
financial support to distressed suppliers or takemomeasures to ensure uninterrupted productibichacould involve additional costs or
risks. If any of these risks materialize, we akelly to incur losses, or our results of operatidimgncial position or liquidity could otherwise
be adversely affected.

Change in consumer demand may adversely affect ovesults of operations.

Increases in energy costs may shift consumer demangl from motor vehicles that typically have highrgerior content that we supply, st

as light trucks, crossver vehicles, minivans and SUVSs, to smaller vasidiaving less interior content. The loss of bissiveith respect to, «

a lack of commercial success of, one or more paatiic/ehicle models for which we are a significanpplier could reduce our sales and harm
our profitability, thereby adversely affecting aesults of operations.
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We may not be able to successfully negotiate prigrterms with our customers in the automotive expeence business, which may
adversely affect our results of operations.

We negotiate sales prices annually with our autoracteating and interiors customers. Cost-cuttiiggiives that our customers have
adopted generally result in increased downwardspireson pricing. In some cases our customer suggplyements require reductions in
component pricing over the period of productionwé# are unable to generate sufficient producticst savings in the future to offset price
reductions, our results of operations may be aéleeffected. In particular, large commercial settents with our customers may adversely
affect our results of operations or cause our i mesults to vary on a quarterly basis.

Volatility in commodity prices may adversely affectour results of operations.

Commodity prices can be volatile from year to yéacommodity prices rise, and if we are not aldedcover these cost increases from our
customers, then these increases will have an asledfect on our results of operations.

The cyclicality of original equipment automobile poduction rates may adversely affect the results afperations in our automotive
experience business.

Our automotive experience business is directijtedléo automotive production by our customers. Adtive production and sales are highly
cyclical and depend on general economic conditantbother factors, including consumer spendingpmaterences. An economic decline 1
results in a reduction in automotive productionolly automotive experience customers could havetariabadverse impact on our results of
operations.

A variety of other factors could adversely affecthe results of operations of our automotive experiare business.

Any of the following could materially and adversétypact the results of operations of our automogixperience business: the loss of, or
changes in, automobile seating and interiors supmhfracts or sourcing strategies with our maj@ta@oners or suppliers; start-up expenses
associated with new vehicle programs or delaysaocellations of such programs; underutilizatiomaf manufacturing facilities, which are
generally located near, and devoted to, a particulstomer’s facility; inability to recover engin@® and tooling costs; market and financial
consequences of any recalls that may be requirgatamucts that we have supplied; delays or diffieslin new product development; the
potential introduction of similar or superior techrgies; and global overcapacity and vehicle platfproliferation.

Power Solutions Risks

We face competition and pricing pressure from othecompanies in the power solutions business.

Our power solutions business competes with a nuimbajor domestic and international manufactuesrd distributors of lead-acid
batteries, as well as a large number of smallgipral competitors. The North American, Europeath Asian lead-acid battery markets are
highly competitive. The manufacturers in these ratrlcompete on price, quality, technical innovatssrvice and warranty. If we are unable
to remain competitive and maintain market shathénregions and markets we serve, our results efatipns may be adversely affected.

Volatility in commodity prices may adversely affectour results of operations.

Lead is a major component of our lead-acid battefi@e price of lead has been highly volatile dherlast several years. We attempt to
manage the impact of changing lead prices throhghecycling of used batteries returned to us lryaftermarket customers, commercial
terms and commodity hedging programs. Our abititynitigate the impact of lead price changes cammipacted by many factors, including
customer negotiations, inventory level fluctuatiamsl sales volume/mix changes, any of which coaicetan adverse effect on our results of
operations.

Additionally, the prices of other commaodities, pairity fuel, acid and resin, have been volatileotier commaodity prices rise, and if we are
not able to recover these cost increases througé jprcreases to our customers, then such incredldsmve an adverse effect on our results
of operations.
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Decreased demand from our customers in the automet industry may adversely affect our results of opations.

Our financial performance in the power solutionsibass depends, in part, on conditions in the aotiomindustry. Sales to OEMs accoun
for approximately 23% of the total sales of the powolutions business in fiscal 2010. DeclinesqieaNlorth American and European
automotive production levels could reduce our satebadversely affect our results of operationsiddition, if any OEMs reach a point
where they cannot fund their operations, we mauyrimeite offs of accounts receivable, incur impadmhcharges or require additional
restructuring actions beyond our current restructuplans.

A variety of other factors could adversely affecthe results of operations of our power solutions busess.

Any of the following could materially and adverséhypact the results of operations of our power ohs business: loss of, or changes in,
automobile battery supply contracts with our langginal equipment and aftermarket customers; ticeciasing quality and useful life of
batteries or use of alternative battery technokdieth of which may contribute to a growth slowdaw the lead-acid battery market; delays
or cancellations of new vehicle programs; markek famancial consequences of any recalls that magbeired on our products; delays or
difficulties in new product development, includilignium-ion technology; financial instability or meet declines of our customers or
suppliers; interruption of supply of certain singl@urce components; the increasing global envirotamheggulation related to the manufact
and recycling of lead-acid batteries; our abildysecure sufficient tolling capacity to recycletbeaes; and the lack of the development of a
market for hybrid vehicles.

ITEM 1B UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

The Company has no unresolved written commentgsdeggits periodic or current reports from the stdfthe SEC that were issued 180 d
or more preceding the end of our fiscal 2010.

ITEM 2 PROPERTIES

At September 30, 2010, the Company conducted gsatipns in 63 countries throughout the world, viishworld headquarters located in
Milwaukee, Wisconsin. The Company’s wholly- and ardy-owned facilities, which are listed in the lalon the following pages by business
and location, totaled approximately 95 million scpifeet of floor space and are owned by the Compangpt as noted. The facilities
primarily consisted of manufacturing, assembly and/arehouse space. The Company considers it#ifio be suitable and adequate for
their current uses. The majority of the facilitaage operating at normal levels based on capacity.
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Building Efficiency

Delaware
Florida

lllinois
Kansas
Kentucky
Maryland
Mississippi
Missouri

Oklahoma
Pennsylvani:

Texas
Virginia
Wisconsin
Austria

Brazil

Belgium
Canads

China

Newark (1),(4)
Largo (1),(3)
Medley (1),(4)
Dixon (2),(3)
Wheeling (1)
Wichita (2),(3)
Erlanger (1,
Baltimore (1)
Sparks (1),(4
Hattiesburg (1
Albany (1)
Norman (3)
Philadelphia (1),(4
York (1), (3)
Waynesboro (3
San Antonic
Roanoke
Milwaukee (2),(4)

Graz (4)
Vienna (4)
Pinhais

S&o Paulo (3
Diegem (1),(4
Ajax (1),(3)
Victoria (1),(4)
Qingyuan (2),(3
Wuxi (1),(3)
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Denmark

France

Germany

Hong Kong
Italy
India

Japar
Mexico

Netherlands
Poland
Puerto Ricc
Romania
Russia
South Africa
Spain
Taiwan
Turkey

United Arab Emirate
United Kingdom

Aarhus (3)
Hornslet (2),(4
Viby (2),(3)
Amiens Glisy (3)
Colombes (1),(3
Nantes (1,

Saint Quentin Fallavier (1),(:
Essen (2),(3
Kempen (1),(3
Mannheim (1
Hong Kong (1)
Milan (1),(4)
Chakan (1),(3
Pune (1),(3

Tokyo (1),(4)
Cienega de Flores (.
Durango (1)
Monterrey (1)
Gorinchem (1),(4
Warsaw (1),(3
Carolina (1),(4
Bucharest (1),(3
Moscow (1),(3)
Johannesburg (1),(:
Sabadell (1),(3
Taipei (1),(4)
Istanbul (1),(4
Izmir (1),(3)

Dubai (2),(3)
Essex (1),(4
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Automotive Experience

Argentina
Australia
Austria
Belgium

Brazil

Canads

China
Czech Republi

France

Germany

Italy

Buenos Aires (1 Japar
Rosario

Adelaide (1)

Melbourne

Graz (1),(3)

Mandling (3) Korea
Geel (3)

Gent (1),(3)

Pouso Alegre

San Bernardo do Campo (1), Malaysia
Santo Andre

Sao Jose dos Camp

Sao Jose dos Pinhais

Milton (1) Mexico
Mississauga (1),(<

Orangeville

Saint Man's

Tilsonburg

Whitby

Beijing (3)

Benatky nad Jizerou (1),(

Mlada Boleslav (1),(3 Poland
Ni Ebohy (1)

Straz pod Ralskem (.

Happich (2),(3 Romania
Rosny (1),(3

Strasbourg (3

Boblingen (1),(3 Russia
Bochum (1),(3
Bremen (1),(3 Slovak Republic

Burscheid (2),(3
Espelkamp (3
Hannover (1),(3
Holzgerlingen (1),(3
Lahnwerk (2),(3

Luneburg (2] South Africa
Neustadt (2),(3
Peine (1),(3 Spain

Rastatt (1),(3

Remchingen (3

Saarlouis (1

Uberherrn (1),(3 Sweder
Unterriexingen (2),(3 Thailand
Waghausel (3 Tunisia
Wuppertal (1),(3 United Kingdom
Zwickau (3)

Cicerale (3

Grugliasco (1),(3

Melfi (1),(3)

Rocca ['Evandro (1
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Ayase (3)

Hamakita (3]
Mouka (3)
Toyotsucho (2),(3
Yokosuka (2),(3
Ansan (1),(4

Asan (3)

Dangijin (3)

Namsa (1,

Alor Gajah (1)
Mukin Hulu Bernan
Peramu Jaya (.
Persiaran Sabak Berng
Monclova (3)
Naucalpan de Juar:
Puebla (1

Ramos Arizpe (2
Saltillo (1)

Tlaxcala

Tlazala (1)

Toluca (1)
Siemianowice
Tychy

Zory (3)

Mioveni (1),(3)
Pitesti (1),(3)
Ploiesti (3)

St. Petersburg (1),(
Togliatti (1)
Bratislava (1),(3
Kostany nad Turcom (¢
Lucenec (1),(3
Namestovo (1),(3
Trencin (1),(4)
Zilina (1)

East London (1
Pretoria (2),(3
Alagon (3)

Madrid (1),(3)
Valencia (2),(3
Valladolid (3)
Hamneviksvagen (1),(
Rayong (3]

Bi'r al Bay (2),(3]
Burtor-Upor-Trent (2),(3)
Essex (1),(3
Leamington Spa (1),(¢
Redditch (1

Speke (3
Sunderlanc

Telford (2),(3)
Wednesbury (3
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Automotive Experience (continued)

Alabama Cottondale (1 Mississippi Madison
McCalla (1) Missouri Earth City (1)
Georgia Suwanee (1 Jefferson City
LaGrange (1 Kansas City (1),(3
lllinois Sycamore Ohio Bryan
Indiana Kendallville Northwood
Princeton (1, Tennesse Columbia (1)
Kentucky Cadiz (1) Pulaski (2)
Georgetowr Texas El Paso (1
Louisville (1) San Antonic
Nicholasville (1) Wisconsin Hudson (1)
Owensboro (1
Shelbyville (1)
Winchester (1
Louisiana Shrevepor
Michigan Battle Creelk
Detroit (3)
Highland Park (1
Holland (2),(3)
Lansing (3)
Oxford
Plymouth (2),(3
Warren (3)
Power Solutions
Arizona Yuma (3) Austria Graz (1),(3)
Delaware Middletown (3) Vienna (1),(3)
Florida Tampa (2),(3 Brazil Sorocaba (3
lllinois Geneva (3 China Shanghai (2),(3
Indiana Ft. Wayne (3 Czech Republi Ceska Lipa (2),(3
lowa Red Oak (3 France Sarreguemines (¢
Kentucky Florence (3 Germany Hannover (3
Missouri St. Joseph (2),(% Krautscheid (3
Ohio Toledo (3) Zwickau (2),(3)
Oregon Clackamas (1 Korea Gumi (3)
Portland (3} Mexico Celaya
South Carolini Florence (3 Cienega de Flores (.
Oconee (2),(3 Escobedc
Texas San Antonio (3 Flores
Wisconsin Milwaukee (4) Monterrey (2),(3
Torreon
Spain Burgos (3)
Guadamar del Segu
Guadalajar:
Sweder Hultsfred
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Corporate
Wisconsin Milwaukee (4)

(1) Leased facility

(2) Includes both leased and owned facilii

(3) Includes both administrative and manufacturinglitées

(4) Administrative facility only

In addition to the above listing, which identifiesge properties (greater than 25,000 square finetle are approximately 695 building

efficiency branch offices and other administratdfices located in major cities throughout the wloiThese offices vary in size in proportion
to the volume of business in the particular logalit

ITEM 3 LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

As noted in Item 1, liabilities potentially arisebally under various Environmental Laws and WorRafety Laws for activities that are no
compliance with such laws and for the cleanup tessivhere Company-related substances have beesedlato the environment.

Currently, the Company is responding to allegatitias it is responsible for performing environmémgmediation, or for the repayment of
costs spent by governmental entities or otherpmihg remediation, at approximately 44 sites | thS. Many of these sites are landfills
used by the Company in the past for the disposaiaste materials; others are secondary lead smeltet lead recycling sites where the
Company returned lead-containing materials for cbiy; a few involve the cleanup of Company mantueng facilities; and the remaining
fall into miscellaneous categories. The Company faag similar claims of liability at additional it in the future. Where potential liabilities
are alleged, the Company pursues a course of dotiemded to mitigate them.

The Company accrues for potential environmentadesn a manner consistent with accounting priesigenerally accepted in the United
States; that is, when it is probable a loss has berirred and the amount of the loss is reasoredtiynable. Reserves for environmental ¢
totaled $47 million and $32 million at Septembey 3010 and 2009, respectively. The Company revibestatus of its environmental sites
on a quarterly basis and adjusts its reserves diogy. Such potential liabilities accrued by ther@pany do not take into consideration
possible recoveries of future insurance proceelsy o, however, take into account the likely stwher parties will bear at remediation
sites. It is difficult to estimate the Company’simiate level of liability at many remediation sitége to the large number of other parties that
may be involved, the complexity of determining th&ative liability among those parties, the undetiaas to the nature and scope of the
investigations and remediation to be conductedutiwertainty in the application of law and riskessament, the various choices and costs
associated with diverse technologies that may bd irscorrective actions at the sites, and thenaftéte lengthy periods over which eventual
remediation may occur. Nevertheless, the Compaeyg dot currently believe that any claims, penattiesosts in connection with known
environmental matters will have a material adveféect on the Company'’s financial position, resolt®perations or cash flows.

The Company is involved in a number of productilighand various other casualty lawsuits incidemthe operation of its businesses.
Insurance coverages are maintained and estimastsl @e recorded for claims and lawsuits of thtanea It is management’s opinion that
none of these will have a material adverse effadche Company’s financial position, results of @ens or cash flows. Costs related to such
matters were not material to the periods presented.

The U.S. Department of Justice and the Securitidstxchange Commission previously moved for thendisal of the Information against
York International Corp. (which the Company acqdiie 2005) upon the successful completion of théeed Prosecution Agreement that
York had entered into with the Department of Jestand on October 7, 2010, the U.S. District Cdismissed the Information against York.
In recommending the dismissal of this action, tidependent compliance monitor certified that thenBany’s anti-bribery compliance
program, as applied to the legacy York operatiemappropriately designed to ensure compliance thighForeign Corrupt Practices Act and
other applicable anterruption laws. As this situation has come to ad, ¢he Company faces no additional liability eitirem the underlyin
events or this proceeding. The Company’s firstidmare regarding the United Nations “Oil-for-Foo®&§amme” occurred in its Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended Decer@bgP005, and that disclosure has been intermijteipdated in the Company’s
subsequent filings.
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ITEM 4 (REMOVED AND RESERVED)
EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

Pursuant to General Instruction G(3) of Form 1GH¢€, following list of executive officers of the Cpamny as of November 15, 2010 is
included as an unnumbered Item in Part | of thi®rein lieu of being included in the Company’s Bré&tatement relating to the Annual
Meeting of Shareholders to be held on January @612

Stephen A. Roell60, was elected Chief Executive Officer effectivéctober 2007, Chairman effective in January&@hd President
effective in May 2009. He was first elected to Bward of Directors in October 2004 and served ascHtive Vice President from
October 2004 through September 2007. Mr. Roelliptesly served as Chief Financial Officer betwee@ll@nd May 2005, Senior Vice
President from September 1998 to October 2004 acel Rtesident from 1991 to September 1998. Mr. IRoieled the Company in 1982.

Susan F. Davis57, was elected Executive Vice President of HuRasources in September 2006. She previously sa¥lice
President of Human Resources from May 1994 to &dpe 2006 and as Vice President of Organizatiomaielbpment for automotive
experience from August 1993 to April 1994. Ms. Bajgined the Company in 1983.

R. Bruce McDonald 50, was elected Executive Vice President in $apexr 2006 and Chief Financial Officer in May 206k
previously served as Corporate Vice President flanuary 2002 to September 2006, Assistant Chiefrigial Officer from October 2004
to May 2005 and Corporate Controller from Noveni2@dl to October 2004. Mr. McDonald joined the Comypia 2001.

Beda Bolzenius54, was elected a Corporate Vice President ineltber 2005 and serves as President of the autarmtperience
business. He previously served as Executive ViesiBent and General Manager Europe, Africa andhiSamnterica for automotive
experience from November 2004 to November 2005Bblzenius joined the Company in November 2004 fRaobert Bosch GmbH, a
global manufacturer of automotive and industriahteology, consumer goods and building technoloderne& he most recently served as
the president of Bosch’s Body Electronics division.

Alex A. Molinaroli, 51, was elected a Corporate Vice President in B4 and has served as President of the poweigwibusines
since January 2007. Previously, Mr. Molinaroli sghas Vice President and General Manager for Namibrica Systems & the Middle
East for the building efficiency business and halsl Increasing levels of responsibility for consrglystems and services sales and
operations. Mr. Molinaroli joined the Company in8B9

C. David Myers 47, was elected a Corporate Vice President aesidant of the building efficiency business in Daber 2005, when
he joined the Company in connection with the adtjaisof York International Corporation (York). Atork, Mr. Myers served as Chief
Executive Officer from February 2004 to Decembed2,(President from June 2003 to December 2005, HixecVice President and Chi
Financial Officer from January 2003 to June 2008 ¥ite President and Chief Financial Officer froebFuary 2000 to January 2003.

Jeffrey G. Augustin48, was elected a Corporate Vice President icMa005 and has served as Vice President of Firfantlee
building efficiency business since December 2008viBusly, Mr. Augustin served as Corporate Cotgrdrom March 2005 to
March 2007. From 2001 to March 2005, Mr. Augustimswice President of Finance and Corporate Coantrofl Gateway, Inc.

Jeffrey S. Edwards48, was elected a Corporate Vice President in 04 and serves as Group Vice President and Gevianager
for Japan and Asia Pacific for the automotive eiguere business. He previously served as Group Riiesident and General Manager for
automotive experience North America from August28®@May 2004 and Group Vice President and Gendaslager for product and
business development. Mr. Edwards joined the Compath984.

Charles A. Harvey 58, was elected Corporate Vice President of Bitaeand Public Affairs in November 2005. He praasty served
as Vice President of Human Resources for the auteenexperience business and in other human ressdeadership positions.
Mr. Harvey joined the Company in 1991.

Susan M. Kreh 48, was elected Corporate Vice President in M7V and has served as Vice President of Finamded power
solutions business since November 2009. Ms. Kreyegeas Corporate Controller from
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March 2007 to November 2009. Prior to joining tten@any, Ms. Kreh served 22 years at PPG Industries,including as Corporate
Treasurer from January 2002 until March 2007.

Jerome D. Okarmab58, was elected Vice President, Secretary ané@e@ounsel in November 2004 and was named a GugWice
President in September 2003. He previously sersefkaistant Secretary from 1990 to November 20@4asnDeputy General Counsel
from June 2000 to November 2004. Mr. Okarma joitedCompany in 1989.

Colin Boyd, 51, was elected Vice President, Information Tetbgy and Chief Information Officer in October 2008r. Boyd
previously served as Chief Information Officer abarporate Vice President of Sony Ericsson from 21@02008.

Frank A. Voltolina, 50, was elected a Corporate Vice President amgdCate Treasurer in July 2003 when he joined then@any.
Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Voltolina was ¥i®resident and Treasurer at ArvinMeritor, Inc.

Jacqueline F. Strayer56, was elected Vice President, Corporate Comaeatinn in September 2008. She previously servaficaes
President, Corporate Communications, for Arrow Etatcs, Inc. from 2004 to 2008. Prior to that, sieédd communication leadership
positions at United Technologies Corporation and@igital Corporation.

Brian J. Stief 54, was elected Vice President and CorporaterGitettin July 2010 and serves as the Companyisdifyal Accounting
Officer. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Stief sva partner with PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, whecfoined in 1979 and where he
became partner in 1989, and where he served safaha firm's largest clients and also held vasaffice managing partner roles.

There are no family relationships, as defined lgyitfstructions to this item, among the Company#&cetive officers.

All officers are elected for terms that expire be tate of the meeting of the Board of Directotl®fang the Annual Meeting of Sharehold:s

or until their successors are elected and qualified

PART Il

ITEM5 MARKET FOR REGISTRANT 'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND IS SUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

The shares of the Company’s common stock are traddéde New York Stock Exchange under the symb@l.”J

Number of Record Holdel

Title of Class as of September 30, 20
Common Stock, $0.01 7/18 par va 44,627

Common Stock Price Rani Dividends

2010 2009 2010 2009
First Quartel $23.62- 28.3¢  $13.65-30.0 $ 0.1: 3 0.1z
Second Quarte 27.21- 33.6( 8.35- 19.6¢ 0.1z 0.1z
Third Quartel 25.56- 35.71 11.78- 22.6¢ 0.1z 0.1z
Fourth Quarte 26.07- 31.1¢ 19.43- 27.9( 0.12 0.12
Year $23.62-35.77 $ 8.35-30.00 $ 052 $ 0.52

In September 2006, the Company’s Board of Direcaoithorized a stock repurchase program to acqgpite 200 million of the Company’s
outstanding common stock. Stock repurchases uheptogram may be made through open market, glivaegotiated transactions or
otherwise at times and in such amounts as Compamagement deems appropriate. The stock repurchageam does not have an
expiration date and may be amended or terminatabébBoard of Directors at any time without priatioe.
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The Company entered into an Equity Swap Agreenaated March 18, 2004 and amended March 3, 20084aydl6, 2006, with Citibank,
N.A. (Citibank). The Company settled the Equity $wagreement at the beginning of the second quaftiscal 2009. The Company entel
into a new Swap Agreement, dated March 13, 200%fS#greement), at the end of the second quartisazl 2009. The Company
selectively uses equity swaps to reduce marketagskciated with its stock-based compensation parch as its deferred compensation
plans. These equity compensation liabilities insecas the Company’s stock price increases andatces the Company’s stock price
decreases. In contrast, the value of the Swap Aggatmoves in the opposite direction of these litéds, allowing the Company to fix a
portion of the liabilities at a stated amount.

In connection with the Swap Agreement, Citibank maychase unlimited shares of the Company’s sto¢ke market or in privately
negotiated transactions. The Company disclaimsGitdtank is an “affiliated purchaser” of the Compgaas such term is defined in Rule 10b-
18(a)(3) under the Securities Exchange Act or @itibank is purchasing any shares for the Compa@hg. Swap Agreement has no stated
expiration date. The net effect of the change inialue of the Swap Agreement and the change ilitegompensation liabilities was not
material to the Company’s earnings for the threatimoended September 30, 2010.

The following table presents information regardihg repurchase of the Company’s common stock b tmpany as part of the publicly
announced program and purchases of the Companyisioa stock by Citibank in connection with the Swageement during the three
months ended September 30, 2010.

Approximate Dollai

Total Number o Value of Shares thi
Shares Purchased May Yet be
Total Number o Average Price Part of the Publich Purchased under tt
Period Shares Purchas Paid per Shar Announced Progra Programs
7/1/10 - 7/31/10
Purchases by Company | — = — $102,394,71
8/1/10 - 8/31/10
Purchases by Company | — — — $102,394,71
9/1/10 - 9/30/10
Purchases by Company | — = — $102,394,71
7/1/10 - 7/31/10
Purchases by Citibar — — — NA
8/1/10 - 8/31/10
Purchases by Citibar — — — NA
9/1/10 - 9/30/10
Purchases by Citibar — — — NA

(1) The repurchases of the Company’s common digd¢ke Company are intended to partially offséitdin related to our stock option and
restricted stock equity compensation plans andraated as repurchases of Company common stoglufposes of this disclosul

The following information in Item 5 is not deemedite “soliciting material” or to be “filed” with #6SEC or subject to Regulation 14A or
14C under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (Brgk Act) or to the liabilities of Section 18 oétBxchange Act, and will not be deemed
to be incorporated by reference into any filing enthe Securities Act of 1933 or the Exchange Axtept to the extent the Company
specifically incorporates it by reference into sacfiling.

The line graph below compares the cumulative &hakeholder return on our Common Stock with theudative total return of companies
the Standard & Poor’s (S&P’s) 500 Stock Index aomhpanies in our Diversified Industrials Peer GréUdphis graph assumes the investment
of $100 on September 1, 2005 and the reinvestnfait dividends since that date.
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COMPANY/INDEX Sep0t& Sep0€ Sep07 Sep0& Sep0¢ SeplC
Johnson Controls, In 10C 117.37 195.3: 152.8: 133.0¢ 161.7¢
Diversified Industrials Peer Groug 10C 114.47 152.1( 113.3: 115.6¢ 141.8¢
S&P 500 Com-Ltd. 10C 110.7¢ 129.4¢ 100.9¢ 94.0z 103.57
Total Return to Shareholders
Diallars
250
200 /-r\\
150 S — S §
B —
100 T — e — .
50
[1] - ' : 1
Sep0s Sephd Sep0T Sep08 Sep0d Sepl0
—a— Johnson Conrrels, Ine. —— Diversifisd Indusinals Peer Group * —a— S&P 500 Comp-Litd. |

* The Diversified Industrials Peer Group includBsnaher Corporation, Dover Corporation, Eatonp@ration, Emerson Electric
Corporation, Honeywell International Inc., lllinol®ol Works Inc., Ingersoll-Rand PLC, ITT Corporatji 3M Company, Textron Inc.,
and United Technologies Corporati

The Company'’s transfer agent’s contact informatioas follows:

Wells Fargo Bank Minnesota, N.A.
Shareowner Services Department
P.O. Box 64856

St. Paul, MN 55164-0856

(877) 602-7397
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ITEM 6 SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following selected financial data reflects thsults of operations, balance sheet data, and consimare information for the fiscal years
ended September 30, 2006 through September 30,(R0d0ilions, except per share data and numbeangbloyees and shareholders).

Year ended September 30,

2010 2009 2008 2007 2006 (2)
OPERATING RESULTS
Net sales $ 34,30¢ $ 28,49° $ 38,06: $ 34,62¢ $ 32,23t
Segment income (¢ 1,93: 262 2,071 1,88¢ 1,60¢
Income (loss) attributable to Johnson Controls, Inc
from continuing operation 1,491 (339 97¢ 1,29t 1,03:
Net income (loss) attributable to Johnson Contiloks, 1,491 (339 97¢ 1,252 1,02¢
Earnings (loss) per share from continuing operatidr
Basic $ 222 $ (0.59) $ 1.6t $ 21¢ $ 177
Diluted 2.1¢ (0.57) 1.6: 2.1¢€ 1.7¢
Earnings (loss) per share |
Basic $ 222 $ (0.59) $ 1.6t $ 212 $ 1.7¢
Diluted 2.1¢ (0.57) 1.6 2.0¢ 1.74
Return on average shareholders’ equity attributable
Johnson Controls, Inc. (. 16% -4% 11% 16% 16%
Capital expenditure $ 17 $ 647 $ 807 $ 82t $ 711
Depreciation and amortizatic 691 745 78< 732 70t
Number of employee 137,00( 130,00( 140,00( 140,00( 136,00(
FINANCIAL POSITION
Working capital (5 $ 91¢ $ 1,147 $ 1,22t $ 1,441 $ 1,357
Total asset 25,74 24,08¢ 24,98 24,10t 21,921
Long-term debt 2,652 3,16¢ 3,201 3,25¢ 4,16¢€
Total debt 3,38¢ 3,96¢ 3,944 4,41¢ 4,743
Shareholders’ equity attributable to Johnson
Controls, Inc. 10,07: 9,10( 9,40¢ 8,87: 7,31¢
Total debt to total capitalization ( 25% 30% 30% 33% 39%
Net book value per share (1) | $ 14.9¢ $ 13.5¢ $ 15.8¢ $ 14.9¢ $ 12.4¢
COMMON SHARE INFORMATION (1)
Dividends per shar $ 0.5z $ 0.5z $ 0.5z $ 0.44 $ 0.37
Market prices
High $ 35.7i $ 30.01 $ 44.4¢ $ 43.0% $ 30.0C
Low 23.6: 8.3t 26.0( 23.8¢ 20.0¢
Weighted average shares (in milliol
Basic 672.( 595.: 593.1 590.€ 583.t
Diluted 682.t 595.: 601.4 599.2 589.¢
Number of shareholde 44,627 46,46( 47,54 47,81( 51,24(
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(1) All share and per share amounts reflect @gtfior-one common stock split payable October 726 shareholders of record on
September 14, 200

(2) In December 2005, the Company acquired York Int@nal Corporation, significantly expanding theldirig efficiency busines:

(3) Segmentincome is calculated as income frontiguing operations before income taxes and nanalting interests excluding net
financing charges, debt conversion costs and isting costs

(4) Return on average shareholders’ equity aftaible to Johnson Controls, Inc. (ROE) represemisme from continuing operations
divided by average shareholders’ equity attribigablJohnson Controls, Inc. Income from continwpgrations includes $230 million,
$495 million and $197 million of restructuring cest fiscal year 2009, 2008 and 2006, respecti

(5) Working capital is defined as current astets current liabilities, excluding cash, shortvtatebt, the current portion of long-term debt
and net assets of discontinued operati

(6) Total debt to total capitalization represdnotal debt divided by the sum of total debt andrsholders’ equity attributable to Johnson
Controls, Inc.

(7) Net book value per share represents shareh’ equity attributable to Johnson Controls, Inc.idad by the number of common shares
outstanding at the end of the peri

ITEM 7 MANAGEMENT 'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AN D RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

General

The Company operates in three primary businesséding efficiency, automotive experience and poselutions. Building efficiency
provides facility systems, services and workpladatons including comfort, energy and security mgement for the residential and non-
residential buildings markets. Automotive experedesigns and manufactures interior systems arglipt®for passenger cars and light
trucks, including vans, pick-up trucks and spodgsover utility vehicles. Power solutions desigmd mmanufactures automotive batteries for
the replacement and original equipment markets.

This discussion summarizes the significant facadiscting the consolidated operating results, faiaincondition and liquidity of the
Company for the three-year period ended Septenthe2@®.0. This discussion should be read in conjanatith Item 8, the consolidated
financial statements and notes to the consolid@edcial statements.

Executive Overview

In fiscal 2010, the Company recorded net sale84f3billion, a 20% increase from the prior yeaet Micome attributable to Johnson
Controls, Inc. was $1.5 billion, $1.8 billion higttaan prior year’s net loss attributable to Jolm€antrols, Inc. of $338 million. The increase
is primarily the result of significantly increasediustry production volumes in the automotive mé&slend growth in energy solutions
markets. The Company experienced market share gathsmproved margins in all three businesses anéfiied from cost reduction
initiatives. The Company continues to introduce r@&d enhanced technology applications in all bssies and markets served, while at the
same time improving the quality of its products.

Building efficiency business net sales and segrimeime increased 2% and 70%, respectively, compartitk prior year primarily due to
growth in the rest of world and energy solutiongkats, modest recovery in construction spendingrasitiential HVAC demand, and the
favorable impact of foreign currency translation.

The automotive experience business was favoraljppated by higher automobile production in all segiseNet sales increased 38% from
the prior year and segment income increased frayasaof $541 million in the prior year to a prafit$591 million in the current year.

Net sales and segment income for the power solutioisiness increased by 23% and 65%, respectaatypared to the prior year primar
due to increased demand, higher unit prices regultom increases in the cost of lead, and therfehle impact of foreign currency
translation.
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Compared to September 30, 2009, the Company’s lbdefat decreased by $577 million, decreasing &l debt to capitalization ratio to
25% at September 30, 2010 from 30% at Septembe08®.

Outlook

In fiscal 2011, the Company anticipates that nktssaill grow to approximately $37 billion, an imase of 9% from fiscal 2010 net sales, and
earnings will increase to approximately $2.30 4%$2er diluted share. Sales, earnings and marginowements are expected in all three
businesses in fiscal 2011. The Company expects ratadg higher automotive production in North Amerigvith flat European production,
versus fiscal 2010. China automotive productioexigected to increase in the coming year, thoughsiwer pace than in fiscal 2010. The
Company expects the global building efficiency nedrio improve in fiscal 2011 led by recovery in #raerging markets, especially China
and the Middle East, offsetting softness in mageegraphic markets.

The Company expects building efficiency businessakes to be 8% — 10% higher in fiscal 2011 basestrong backlog and order rate
improvements entering the year. The Company expegter demand in emerging markets and global wadgpsolutions as well as in its
energy efficiency and sustainability (greenhousergduction) offerings. A moderate recovery is@péted for technical services in non-
residential buildings. The Company’s residential&0/business is expected to increase at a dadiggiepace for the second consecutive y
Segment margins are expected to increase to 55894 led by the growth in emerging markets andioaetl improvements in the
residential business. The higher margins will kkie¢ partially offset by investments in growth oppaities including an expansion in sales
force and the establishment of dedicated energyisnk resources in Europe and Asia.

The Company expects approximately 5% net salestfriowfiscal 2011 by its automotive experience hass, reflecting the impact of new
seating and interiors program launches in additiathe slightly higher production volumes. Segnmaatgins are expected to improve to
4.5% — 4.7% in fiscal 2011 resulting from the Comya cost improvement initiatives and improved lexiprofitability on new business
awards, including in China where the Company ogsrptimarily through unconsolidated joint ventures.

Power solutions net sales are expected to inctHatge— 15% due to volume growth across all regiessiting from market share gains and
growth in emerging markets. Segment margins areagd to be 13.4% 13.6%, reflecting manufacturing process efficieactbe benefits ¢

vertical integration for the recycling of lead ahé expansion of local production capacity in China

Segment Analysis

Management evaluates the performance of its busingiss based primarily on segment income, whiakeffned as income from continuing
operations before income taxes and noncontrolhiterésts excluding net financing charges, debt eion costs and restructuring costs.

FISCAL YEAR 2010 COMPARED TO FISCAL YEAR 2009

Summary
Year Endec
September 3(
(in millions) 2010 2009 Change
Net sales $34,30¢ $28,49° 20%
Segment incom 1,93: 262 *

* Measure not meaningf

. The $5.8 billion increase in consolidated ne¢salas primarily due to higher sales in the autora@xperience business
($4.5 billion) as a result of increased industrydarction levels in all segments, higher sales éngbwer solutions business ($0.8
billion) reflecting higher sales volumes and thgaut of higher lead costs on pricing, the favoratleact of foreign currency
translation ($0.5 billion) and a slight increaséiilding efficiency net sale
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. Excluding the favorable impact of foreign curreti@nslation, consolidated net sales increased 19ébmpared to the prior yei

. The $1.7 billion increase in consolidated segneedme was primarily due to higher volumes in &lnéomotive experience and
power solutions businesses, favorable operatintg @oshe automotive experience North America segnfavorable overall margin
rates in the building efficiency business, impaintneharges recorded in the prior year on an edgoitystment in the building
efficiency North America unitary products segme$it52 million), incremental warranty charges recdritethe prior year in the
building efficiency North America unitary productsgment ($105 million), fixed asset impairment gearrecorded in the prior year
in the automotive experience North America and Rarsegments ($77 million and $33 million, respetdyiy; gain on acquisition of
Korean joint venture net of acquisition costs agldted purchase accounting adjustments in the psaetions business
($37 million) and higher equity income in the autiiive experience and power solutions businessesalbaoffset by higher selling
general and administrative expenses, fixed asgeimment charges recorded in the automotive expegidsia segment
($22 million) and the unfavorable impact of foreigmrrency translation ($6 million

Building Efficiency

Net Sales Segment Incom
for the Year Ende for the Year Ende
September 3( September 3(
(in millions) 2010 2009 Change 2010 2009 Change
North America system $ 2,142 $ 2,222 -4% $ 26z $ 251 4%
North America servic 2,127 2,16¢ -2% 10z 204 -50%
North America unitary produc 787 684 15% 58 (329 *
Global workplace solutior 3,28¢ 2,832 16% 54 45 20%
Europe 1,897 2,14( -11% (7 41 *
Rest of world 2,561 2,447 5% 20% 18C 13%
$12,80: $12,49: 2% $ 673 $ 397 70%

* Measure not meaningf
Net Sales

. The decrease in North America systems was priynduie to lower volumes of equipment in the comrigmonstruction and
replacement markets ($101 million) partially offbgtthe favorable impact from foreign currency slation ($21 million).

. The decrease in North America service was prigndte to lower truck-based business ($155 millipaitially offset by higher
volumes in energy solutions ($72 million), the featnle impact of foreign currency translation ($2@ian) and incremental sales d

to a business acquisition ($20 millio

. The increase in North America unitary products wamarily due to improvement in the U.S. resideplacement markets
(%96 million) and the favorable impact of foreiguriency translation ($7 million

. The increase in global workplace solutions wamarily due to a net increase in services to exgstiustomers ($208 million), new
business ($151 million) and the favorable impadboéign currency translation ($97 millior

. The decrease in Europe was primarily due to lomérmes across the region ($290 million) basedexiines in commercial and
residential construction partially offset by thedeable impact of foreign currency translation ($diflion).

. The increase in rest of world was primarily daéavorable impact of foreign currency translat{§86 million) and volume increases
in Asia ($73 million) and Latin America ($13 mill, partially offset by volume decreases in MidBEst ($33 million) and other
global businesses ($25 millior
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Segment Income:

. The increase in North America systems was prisdrie to favorable margin rates ($33 million), Ewegelling, general and
administrative expenses ($8 million) and the falsampact of foreign currency translation ($3 i), partially offset by lower
volumes ($17 million) and reserves for existingtoogers ($13 million)

. The decrease in North America service was prigdtie to information technology implementation tsasnd inventory
adjustments ($55 million), unfavorable margin rg&24 million), lower volumes in truck-based seesd$18 million) and higher
selling, general and administrative expenses ($fom), partially offset by the favorable impact fafreign currency translation
($2 million).

. The increase in North America unitary products wemarily due to impairment charges recordedroeguity investment in the
prior year ($152 million), incremental warranty ofp@s in the prior year ($105 million), favorabldwoes and margin rates ($100
million), prior year inventory related charges ($80lion) and lower selling, general, and admirasitre expenses ($7 million

. The increase in global workplace solutions wasarily due to higher volumes ($24 million), prigear bad debt expense
associated with a customer bankruptcy ($8 millem) the favorable impact of foreign currency tratish ($1 million), partially
offset by higher selling, general, and administagxpenses ($17 million) primarily related to Imesis development investments
and unfavorable margin rates ($7 millio

. The decrease in Europe was primarily due to Isaées volumes ($67 million) partially offset byder selling, general and
administrative expenses ($13 million), favorablergimarates ($8 million) and the favorable impactafign currency translation
($2 million).

. The increase in rest of world was primarily doéavorable margin rates ($73 million), higher vaks ($6 million) and the
favorable impact of foreign currency translatiod (#illion), partially offset by higher selling, geral and administrative expenses
($58 million) primarily related to investments imerging markets and increased engineering sper

Automotive Experience

Net Sales Segment Incom
for the Year Ende for the Year Ende
September 3( September 3(
(in millions) 2010 2009 Change 2010 2009 Change
North America $ 6,76F $ 4,631 46% $ 37¢ $ (339 S
Europe 8,01¢ 6,281 28% 10¢ (212) *
Asia 1,82¢ 1,09¢ 66% 107 4 *
$16,61( $12,01¢ 38% $ 591 $ (54) *

* Measure not meaningf
Net Sales

. The increase in North America was primarily dodigher industry production volumes by the Companyajor OEM customers
($2.1 billion) and incremental sales from a bussresuisition ($58 million), partially offset by favorable commercial
settlements and pricing ($36 millior

. The increase in Europe was primarily due to highieduction volumes and new customer awards ($illi8n) partially offset by
unfavorable commercial settlements and pricing ($8%on) and the unfavorable impact of foreign @mcy translation
($20 million).

. The increase in Asia was primarily due to higherduction volumes and new customer awards ($6U®mjiand the favorable
impact of foreign currency translation ($125 mitljo

Segment Income:

. The increase in North America was primarily dodigher industry production volumes ($478 milliplower operating and
selling, general and administration costs ($15%onil, an impairment charge on fixi
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assets recorded in the prior year ($77 mmjliand higher equity income ($28 million), partyatiffset by higher engineering
expenses ($22 million

. The increase in Europe was primarily due to highreduction volumes ($350 million), favorable pursimg costs ($64 million),
impairment charge on fixed assets recorded in tioe pear ($33 million), higher equity income ($a0llion) and favorable
operating costs ($8 million), partially offset bigher prior year commercial recoveries ($45 mil)idmigher engineering expenses
($44 million), higher selling, general and admirative costs ($39 million) and the unfavorable irtpaf foreign currency
translation ($19 million)

. The increase in Asia was primarily due to higherduction volumes ($90 million), higher equity @mee at our joint ventures
mainly in China ($62 million) and the favorable iagb of foreign currency translation ($1 milliongrgally offset by asset
impairment charges in Japan ($22 million), highegieeering expenses ($10 million) and higher sgllgeneral and administrat
costs ($17 million)

Power Solutions

Year Endec
September 3(
(in millions) 2010 2009 Change
Net sales $4,89: $3,98¢ 23%
Segment incom 66¢ 40€ 65%

. Net sales increased primarily due to higher sabdsmes ($454 million), the impact of higher leadtsoon pricing ($316 million’
the favorable impact of foreign currency transkat{$69 million), incremental sales due to a busiresyuisition ($43 million) and
favorable price/product mix ($23 millior

. Segment income increased primarily due to highégs volumes ($164 million), gain on acquisitibm &orean joint venture net
of acquisition costs and related purchase accogiatifjustments ($37 million) as discussed in Not#2quisitions,” to the
accompanying financial statements, higher equitgime ($27 million), prior year disposal of a fornmeanufacturing facility in
Europe and other assets ($20 million), the faverahlpact of foreign currency translation ($3 mifljaand favorable net lead and
other commadity costs and pricing ($56 million),ighincludes a prior year $62 million out of periadjustment as discussed in
Note 1,“Summary of Significant Accounting Policies,” toetlaccompanying financial statements. Partiallyatffisg these factors
were higher selling, general and administrativa @46 million).

Restructuring Costs

To better align the Company’s cost structure wlthbgl automotive market conditions, the Company mated to a restructuring plan (2009
Plan) in the second quarter of fiscal 2009 andrdexba $230 million restructuring charge. The regtiring charge related to cost reduction
initiatives in the Company’s automotive experierma)ding efficiency and power solutions businessed included workforce reductions and
plant consolidations. The Company expects to subaty complete the 2009 Plan by the end of 20tie automotive-related restructuring
actions targeted excess manufacturing capacitytimgdirom lower industry production in the Europe&lorth American and Japanese
automotive markets. The restructuring actions iitding efficiency were primarily in Europe whereetiCompany is centralizing certain
functions and rebalancing its resources to tatgegeographic markets with the greatest potent@ali. Power solutions actions focused on
optimizing its manufacturing capacity as a restilbaver overall demand for original equipment be#s resulting from lower vehicle
production levels.

Since the announcement of the 2009 Plan in Marél9 2the Company has experienced lower employegaese and termination benefit
cash payouts than previously calculated for autva@xperience — Europe of approximately $70 milliof which $42 million was identified
in the current fiscal year, due to favorable seweganegotiations and the decision to not closeipusiy planned plants in response to
increased customer demand. The underspend ofitlee 2009 Plan reserves is committed to be utilifer additional costs to be incurred as
part of power solutions, automotive experience rofge and automotive experience — North Americatiitamhal cost reduction initiatives.
The planned workforce reductions disclosed for2b@9 Plan have been updated for the Company’sa@stions.
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To better align the Company’s resources with itsrgh strategies while reducing the cost structdiiesaylobal operations, the Company
committed to a restructuring plan (2008 Plan) i fiturth quarter of fiscal 2008 and recorded a $#8kon restructuring charge. The
restructuring charge related to cost reductionaitiites in its automotive experience, building @#ncy and power solutions businesses and
included workforce reductions and plant consolmizgi The Company expects to substantially comphet@008 Plan by the end of 2011. °
automotive-related restructuring was in respongbédundamentals of the European and North Amergzgomotive markets. The actions
targeted reductions in the Company’s cost basesbyedsing excess manufacturing capacity due torlmdestry production and the
continued movement of vehicle production to lowtamuntries, especially in Europe. The restructyactions in building efficiency were
primarily in Europe where the Company centralizedain functions and rebalanced its resourcestetdhe geographic markets with the
greatest potential growth. Power solutions actfoessed on optimizing its regional manufacturingagity.

Since the announcement of the 2008 Plan in Septed®d, the Company has experienced lower emplsgreerance and termination ben
cash payouts than previously calculated for bugdfficiency — Europe and automotive experienceirope of approximately $95 million, of
which $32 million was identified in the currentda year, due to favorable severance negotiatindsjiduals transferred to open positions
within the Company and changes in cost reductitior@e from plant consolidation to downsizing of cgt@ons. The underspend of the initial
2008 Plan is committed to be utilized for similaidaional restructuring actions. The underspenceegpced by building efficiency — Europe
is committed to be utilized for workforce reductsosnd plant consolidations in building efficienciurope. The underspend experienced by
automotive experience — Europe is committed tothieed for additional plant consolidations for antotive experience — North America and
workforce reductions in building efficiency — EusAlso, in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2010, thempany sold one plant in automotive
experience — North America it had planned to ckxsa part of the 2008 Plan. The loss on the saleeglant of $12 million was offset by a
decrease in the Company’s restructuring reserverfggloyee severance and termination benefits rbtatéhe planned workforce reductions
which will no longer occur. The planned workforegluctions disclosed for the 2008 Plan have beeatagdor the Company’s revised
actions.

The 2008 and 2009 Plans included workforce redostaf approximately 20,400 employees (9,500 foomative experience — North
America, 5,200 for automotive experience — Eurdp®Q0 for automotive experience — Asia, 400 fotding efficiency — North America,

2,700 for building efficiency — Europe, 700 for loimg efficiency — rest of world, and 800 for poveaiutions). Restructuring charges
associated with employee severance and terminbé&oafits are paid over the severance period graatedch employee and on a lump sum
basis when required in accordance with individe&ksance agreements. As of September 30, 2010apyately 16,400 of the employees
have been separated from the Company pursuang @208 and 2009 Plans. In addition, the 2008 af® Elans included 33 plant closures
(14 for automotive experience — North America, dddutomotive experience — Europe, 3 for automatixgerience — Asia, 1 for building
efficiency — North America, 1 for building efficien — rest of world, and 3 for power solutions). &sSeptember 30, 2010, 23 of the 33 plants
have been closed. The restructuring charge fointpairment of long-lived assets associated withplaat closures was determined using fair
value based on a discounted cash flow analysis.

Net Financing Charges

Year Endec
September 3(
(in millions) 2010 2009 Change

Net financing charge $17C $23¢ -29%

. The decrease in net financing charges was piiyrmauie to lower debt levels, including the convensof the Company’s convertible
senior notes and Equity Units in September 2008 |larer interest rates in fiscal 20!

Provision for Income Taxes

The Company'’s base effective income tax rate fotinaing operations for fiscal years 2010 and 26@8 18.1% and 22.7%, respectively
(prior to certain discrete period items as outlibetbw).

The Company'’s effective tax rate for fiscal 201Gsuess than the base effective tax rate due intpasrious items during the year as
discussed in detail below.
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The Company'’s effective tax rate for fiscal 200%waeater than the base effective tax rate duarint various items during the year as
discussed in detail below.

Restructuring Charge

In the second quarter of fiscal year 2009, the Canmgpecorded a $27 million discrete period tax sihient related to the second quarter Z
restructuring costs using a blended statutory dtex of 19.2%. Due to the tax rate change in the tiarter of fiscal 2009, the discrete period
tax adjustment decreased by $19 million for a tztaladjustment of $8 million.

I mpairment Charges

In the first quarter of fiscal 2009, the Compangareled a $30 million discrete period tax adjustmelgted to first quarter 2009 impairment
costs using a blended statutory tax rate of 12[B&&.to the change in the base effective tax ratiséal 2009, the discrete period tax
adjustment decreased by $4 million for a totaladpustment of $26 million.

Debt Conversion Costs

In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2009, the Compasagarded a $15 million discrete period tax adjustmelated to debt conversion costs using
an effective tax rate of 36.5%.

Valuation Allowances

The Company reviews its deferred tax asset valnatimwances on a quarterly basis, or whenevertsv@archanges in circumstances indic
that a review is required. In determining the reguient for a valuation allowance, the historical projected financial results of the legal
entity or consolidated group recording the net detktax asset are considered, along with any qbsitive or negative evidence. Since
future financial results may differ from previoustienates, periodic adjustments to the Company'satain allowances may be necessary.

In fiscal 2010, the Company recorded an overaltekese to its valuation allowances of $87 milliohisTwas comprised of a $111 million
decrease in income tax expense with the remainimguat impacting the consolidated statement of firerposition.

In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2010, the Compasyf@rmed an analysis related to the realizabilftitsoworldwide deferred tax assets. As a
result, and after considering tax planning initiei and other positive and negative evidence, tiepany determined that it was more likely
than not that the deferred tax assets primariliiwiMexico would be utilized. Therefore, the Compaeleased $39 million of valuation
allowances in the three month period ended SepteBthe010. Further, the Company determined thaa# more likely than not that the
deferred tax assets would not be utilized in setbentities in Europe. Therefore, the Company dEb$14 million of valuation allowances
in the three month period ended September 30, 204 €he extent the Company improves its underlyipgrating results in these entities,
these valuation allowances, or a portion theremijdbe reversed in future periods.

In the third quarter of fiscal 2010, the Companted®mined that it was more likely than not that atipo of the deferred tax assets within the
Slovakia automotive entity would be utilized. THere, the Company released $13 million of valuaatiowances in the three month period
ended June 30, 2010.

In the first quarter of fiscal 2010, the Companyedmined that it was more likely than not that atipo of the deferred tax assets within the
Brazil automotive entity would be utilized. Thersfothe Company released $69 million of valuatibomeaances. This was comprised of a ¢
million decrease in income tax expense offset B24million reduction in cumulative translation astiments.

In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2010, the Compamgréased the valuation allowances by $20 milliomictv was substantially offset by a
decrease in its reserves for uncertain tax postiora similar amount. These adjustments were basedreview of tax return filing positions
taken in these jurisdictions and the establishedries.
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In fiscal 2009, the Company recorded an overalldase to its valuation allowances by $245 millibhis was comprised of a $252 million
increase in income tax expense with the remainmguat impacting the consolidated statement of fierposition.

In the third quarter of fiscal 2009, the Companted®mined that it was more likely than not that atipo of the deferred tax assets within the
Brazil power solutions entity would be utilized. &rkfore, the Company released $10 million of vadmaallowances in the three month
period ended June 30, 2009. This was comprisedb8fraillion decrease in income tax expense withrémeaining amount impacting the
consolidated statement of financial position beeatieelated to acquired net operating losses.

In the second quarter of fiscal 2009, the Compatgrthined that it was more likely than not thatdleéerred tax asset associated with a
capital loss would be utilized. Therefore, the Campreleased $45 million of valuation allowancethimthree month period ended March
20009.

In the first quarter of fiscal 2009, as a resulthef rapid deterioration in the economic environmseveral jurisdictions incurred unexpected
losses in the first quarter that resulted in curitivgdosses over the prior three years. As a reantl after considering tax planning initiatives
and other positive and negative evidence, the Casngatermined that it was more likely than not tiwt deferred tax assets would not be
utilized in several jurisdictions including Franddexico, Spain and the United Kingdom. Therefohe, Company recorded $300 million of
valuation allowances in the three month period dridecember 31, 2008. To the extent the Companydwagwrits underlying operating resi
in these jurisdictions, these valuation allowances portion thereof, could be reversed in fupgaods.

It is reasonably possible that over the next 12 thigyrvaluation allowances recorded against defdepedssets in certain jurisdictions of up to
$100 million may be adjusted.

Uncertain Tax Positions

The Company is subject to income taxes in the Bh8.numerous non-U.S. jurisdictions. Judgmentgsired in determining its worldwide
provision for income taxes and recording the rela@ssets and liabilities. In the ordinary coursthefCompany’s business, there are many
transactions and calculations where the ultimat@é&iermination is uncertain. The Company is redplander audit by tax authorities. In

June 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards B{fa#$B) issued guidance prescribing a comprehemsivgel for how a company should
recognize, measure, present, and disclose imisdial statements uncertain tax positions thatnapany has taken or expects to take on a tax
return. The Company adopted this guidance, whiahcisided in ASC 740, “Income Taxes,” as of Octobg2007. As such, accruals for tax
contingencies are provided for in accordance withrequirements of ASC 740.

Based on recently published case law in a hon-jurBBdiction and the settlement of a tax audit dgrihe third quarter of fiscal 2010, the
Company released net $38 million of reserves faetain tax positions, including interest and ptes

As a result of certain events related to prior waamlanning initiatives during the first quartdirfiscal 2010, the Company increased the
reserve for uncertain tax positions by $31 milliovcluding $26 million of interest and penalties.

In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2010, the Compasgréased its reserves for uncertain tax positigri20 million, which was substantially
offset by an increase in its valuation allowaneea similar amount. These adjustments were basedreview of tax filing positions taken in
jurisdictions with valuation allowances as indich&bove

As a result of certain events in various jurisdiot during the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2068Juding the settlement of the fiscal 2002
through fiscal 2003 U.S. federal tax examinatidhe,Company decreased its total reserve for urindea positions by $32 million. This was
comprised of a $55 million decrease to tax expamska $23 million increase to goodwill.

As a result of various entities exiting businesseérntain jurisdictions and certain events relatedrtor tax planning initiatives during the third
quarter of fiscal 2009, the Company reduced thervesfor uncertain tax positions by $33 million.i§twvas comprised of a $17 million
decrease to tax expense and a $16 million decteagmdwill.
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The Company’s federal income tax returns and gertan.S. income tax returns for various fiscal yearmam under various stages of al
by the Internal Revenue Service and respectivelh&tax authorities. Although the outcome of taits is always uncertain, management
believes that it has appropriate support for thatfmms taken on its tax returns and that its ahtaaxaprovisions included amounts sufficien
pay assessments, if any, which may be proposededtaking authorities. At September 30, 2010, them@any had recorded a liability for its
best estimate of the probable loss on certairsdiit positions, the majority of which is includadther noncurrent liabilities in the
consolidated statements of financial position. Nbekess, the amounts ultimately paid, if any, upsolution of the issues raised by the
taxing authorities, may differ materially from thmounts accrued for each year.

Changein Tax Status

In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2009, the Compasagarded $84 million in discrete period tax benefidated to a change in tax status of a U.S.
and a U.K. subsidiary. This is comprised of a $58ian tax expense benefit and a $25 million deseeto goodwill. In the second quarter of
fiscal 2009, the Company recorded a $30 millioridise period tax benefit related to a change irstatus of a French subsidiary.

The changes in tax status resulted from voluntxyetections that produced deemed liquidationdJi&. federal income tax purposes. The
Company received tax benefits in the U.S. for tdesés from the decrease in value as compared titheal tax basis of its investments.
These elections changed, for U.S. federal incom@uaposes, the tax status of these entities andegiorted as a discrete period tax bene
accordance with the provision of ASC 740.

Interest Refund Claim

In the second quarter of fiscal 2009, the Compdag & claim for refund with the Internal Revenwngce related to interest computations of
prior tax payments and refunds. The refund claisulted in a tax provision decrease of $6 million.

Impacts of Tax Legisation and Change in Statutory Tax Rates

On March 23, 2010, the U.S. President signed emodomprehensive health care reform legislatioreutite Patient Protection and
Affordable Care Act (HR3590). Included among thganarovisions of the law is a change in the taatment of a portion of Medicare

Part D medical payments. The Company recorded eastintax charge of approximately $18 million in $eeond quarter of fiscal year 2010
to reflect the impact of this change. In the fougtiarter of fiscal 2010, the amount decreased byifibn resulting in an overall impact of
$16 million.

During the fiscal year ended September 30, 20k0getzislation was adopted in various jurisdictioN®ne of these changes are expected to
have a material impact on the Company’s consolititancial condition, results of operations ortcélews.

In fiscal 2009, the Company obtained High Tech Enise status from the Chinese Tax Bureaus foouarChinese subsidiaries. This status
allows the entities to benefit from a 15% tax rate.

In February 2009, Wisconsin enacted numerous clsatogé/isconsin income tax law as part of the Bu@ighulus and Repair Bill,
Wisconsin Act 2. These changes are effective irGtbmpany’s tax year ended September 30, 2010. Hjer thanges included an adoption
of corporate unitary combined reporting and an agjm of the related entity expense add back pianss These Wisconsin tax law changes
did not have a material impact on the Company’sobdated financial condition, results of operati@r cash flows.
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Income Attributable to Noncontrolling Interests

Year Endec
September 3(
(in millions) 2010 2009 Change
Income (loss) attributable to noncontrolling intEs $75 $(12) *

* Measure not meaningf

. The increase in income attributable to noncolit@linterests was primarily due to improved eagsiat certain automotive experience
joint ventures in North America and Asia and a pogautions joint venture

Net Income Attributable to Johnson Controls, Inc.

Year Endec
September 3(
(in millions) 2010 2009 Change

Net income (loss) attributable to Johnson Contials, $1,491 $(33¢) *

* Measure not meaningf

. The increase in net income attributable to Johi@ontrols, Inc. was primarily due to higher volugie the automotive experience and
power solutions businesses, favorable operatintg doshe automotive experience North America segnfavorable overall margin
rates in the building efficiency business, impaintneharges recorded in the prior year on an eduitystment in the building efficiency
North America unitary products segment, incremewtairanty charges recorded in the prior year inbihiéding efficiency Nortf
America unitary products segment, fixed asset inmpait charges recorded in the prior year in theraative experience North Ameri
and Europe segments, gain on acquisition of a Kojaat venture in the power solutions businesstreeturing charges recorded in the
prior year, higher equity income in the automotx@erience and power solutions businesses, delsersian costs incurred in the prior
year and lower net financing charges, partiallgefffoy higher selling, general and administratixgeases, fixed asset impairm
charges recorded in the automotive experience gegiaent, an increase in the provision for incomesand higher income attributa
to noncontrolling interests. Fiscal 2010 dilutedn@@gs per share was $2.19 compared to prior's diluted loss per share of $0.!

FISCAL YEAR 2009 COMPARED TO FISCAL YEAR 2008

Summary
Year Endec
September 3(
(in millions) 2009 2008 Change
Net sales $28,497 $38,06: -25%
Segment incom 262 2,077 -87%

. The $9.6 billion decrease in consolidated netssalas primarily due to lower sales in the automeotixperience business
($5.0 billion) as a result of significantly reducedustry production levels by all our major OEMstamers primarily in North
America and Europe, the unfavorable impact of fpraurrency translation ($2.1 billion), lower saileshe power solutions
business ($1.6 billion) reflecting the impact oivier lead costs on pricing and lower sales voluraed,lower sales in the building
efficiency business ($0.9 billion) as a resultafér sales volumes across all segme
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. Excluding the unfavorable effects of foreign emty translation, consolidated net sales decrez@¥das compared to the prior
year.

. The $1.8 billion decrease in segment income wangnily due to lower volumes mainly in the autometexperience business ¢
result of significantly reduced industry productiaslumes, lead costs not recovered through pridirgf,quarter impairment
charges recorded on an equity investment ($152omjlin the building efficiency North American uait products segment and
certain fixed asset impairment charges recordékddarautomotive experience North America and Eusgggnents ($77 million a
$33 million, respectively), fourth quarter increrterwarranty charges recorded in the building éficy North American unitary
products segment ($105 million) and the unfavor@hbleact of foreign currency translation ($116 noitl).

. Excluding the unfavorable effects of foreign emey translation, consolidated segment income dserk82% as compared to the
prior year.

Building Efficiency

Net Sales Segment Incom
for the Year Ende for the Year Ende
September 3( September 3(
(in millions) 2009 2008 Change 2009 2008 Change
North America system $ 2,227 $ 2,282 -3% $ 251 $ 256 -2%
North America servic 2,16¢ 2,40¢ -10% 204 224 -9%
North America unitary produc 684 81C -16% (329 2 *
Global workplace solutior 2,832 3,191 -11% 45 59 -24%
Europe 2,14( 2,71( -21% 41 114 -64%
Rest of world 2,44 2,718 -10% 18C 302 -40%
$12,49: $14,12; -12% $ 397 $ 957 -59%

* Measure not meaningf
Net Sales

. The decrease in North America systems was priynduie to lower volumes of control systems and popgint in the construction
and replacement market ($53 million) and the unfabte impact of foreign currency translation ($2illion), partially offset by
the impact of prior year acquisitions ($14 millio

. The decrease in North America service was prigndtie to lower truck-based and specialty busiri®259 million) and the
unfavorable impact of foreign currency translaff§88 million), partially offset by higher volumes €nergy solutions ($46
million).

. The decrease in North America unitary products pramarily due to a depressed U.S. residentiakatawhich continues to
impact the demand for HVAC equipment in new housitagts ($117 million), and the unfavorable impafcforeign currency
translation ($9 million)

. The decrease in global workplace solutions wamaly due to the unfavorable impact of foreignremcy translation
($333 million) and a net decrease in services istiag customers ($137 million), partially offset bew business ($105 millior

. The decrease in Europe was primarily due to ttfiawnrable impact of foreign currency translati®8@2 million) and lower
control systems and specialty product demand athessgion ($268 million]

. The decrease in rest of world was primarily duttver volumes mainly in Latin America, Asia ame tMiddle East
($225 million) and the unfavorable impact of foreigurrency translation ($41 millior

Segment Income:

. The decrease in North America systems was priynduie to lower net volumes ($8 million), unfavol@imargin rates
($33 million) and the unfavorable impact of foreigurrency translation ($3 million), partially oftdey lower SG&A expenses
($39 million).
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. The decrease in North America service was prigdtie to lower net volumes ($62 million) and th€avorable impact of foreign
currency translation ($3 million), partially offsey lower SG&A expenses ($45 millior

. The decrease in North America unitary products pramarily due to an equity investment impairmemarge ($152 million),
incremental warranty charges ($105 million), lowelumes ($18 million), and unfavorable margin rg&s6 million), partially
offset by lower SG&A expenses ($5 million). Theremental warranty charges were due to a specifidymt issue and an
adjustment to the p-existing warranty accruals based on analysis afreactual return rate

. The decrease in global workplace solutions wamaily due to higher bad debt expense associatdarcustomer bankruptcy
($8 million), the unfavorable impact of foreign cemcy translation ($7 million) and lower volumeslamfavorable mix in North
America ($11 million), partially offset by lower @ expenses ($12 million’

. The decrease in Europe was primarily due to lovedrmes ($61 million), the unfavorable impact ofdign currency translation
($16 million) and unfavorable margin rates ($37lionl), partially offset by lower SG&A costs ($41 lian).

. The decrease in rest of world was primarily dutwer volumes ($53 million), prior year gains sales of a business and
investments ($8 million) and higher SG&A costs ($6illion), partially offset by the favorable impaet foreign currency
translation ($6 million)

Automotive Experience

Net Sales Segment Incom
for the Year Ende for the Year Ende
September 3( September 3(

(in millions) 2009 2008 Change 2009 2008 Change
North America $ 4,631 $ 6,72 -31% $ (339 $ 79 &
Europe 6,287 9,85¢ -36% (212) 464 *
Asia 1,09¢ 1,514 -27% 4 36 -89%

$12,01¢ $18,09: -34% $ (54) $ b57¢ *

* Measure not meaningf
Net Sales

. The decrease in North America was primarily duthe significantly reduced industry productionwaks by all of the Compars/’
major OEM customers ($2.5 billion), partially offd®y the acquisition of the interior product ass#t®lastech Engineered
Products, Inc. in July 2008, which had a favoralpact of $299 million in fiscal 2009, and net faable commercial settlements
and pricing ($63 million)

. The decrease in Europe was primarily due to loweustry production volumes across all customerss(BRlion), the unfavorabl
impact of foreign currency translation ($1.0 bitjjcand higher prior year commercial recoveries (@fion).

. The decrease in Asia was primarily due to lowedpation volumes mainly in Korea and Japan ($32%anil and the unfavorab
impact of foreign currency translation ($87 milljo

Segment Income:

. The decrease in North America was primarily dulwer industry production volumes ($517 milliothe unfavorable impact of
the acquisition of the interior product assetslasfech Engineered Products, Inc. ($55 million)imapairment charge on fixed
assets in the first quarter ($77 million) and lowguity earnings ($44 million). These factors weaetially offset by lower
operational and SG&A costs ($154 million) includithg benefits of cost reduction initiatives, favdeapurchasing and
commercial costs ($72 million), and lower enginegréxpenses ($55 million

. The decrease in Europe was primarily due to landustry production volumes ($497 million), prigiand material costs
(%93 million), higher operational costs ($73 mitljpthe unfavorable impact of foreil
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currency translation ($66 million), an impaént charge on fixed assets in the first quartgs (&illion) and higher net direct
material purchasing costs ($31 million). Thesedexctvere partially offset by lower engineering exges ($65 million) and SG&
costs ($52 million)

. The decrease in Asia is primarily due to loweluwes ($60 million) and the unfavorable impactarfeign currency translation
($10 million), partially offset by higher equityagame at our joint ventures mainly in China ($24liorl), lower SG&A costs
($10 million) and lower engineering expenses ($Hiani).

Power Solutions

Year Endec
September 3(
(in millions) 2009 2008 Change
Net sales $3,98¢ $5,85( -32%
Segment incom 40¢€ 541 -25%

. Net sales decreased primarily due to the impaltiveér lead costs on pricing ($1.5 billion), lowedes volumes ($352 million) a
the unfavorable impact of foreign currency transta{$260 million), partially offset by improvedipe/product mix
($215 million).

. Segment income decreased due to lower volumésr{fiion), the unfavorable impact of foreign curoy translation
($17 million), a nonrecurring charge related to digposal of a manufacturing facility and othereassn Europe ($20 million),
other nonrecurring items recorded in the prior Y844 million), and the negative impact of lead atitder commodity costs not
fully recovered through pricing ($230 million), vehi includes a $62 million out of period adjustmastdiscussed in Note 1,
“Summary of Significant Accounting Policies,” togttaccompanying financial statements. Partiallyetfiisg these factors was
improved price/product mix ($192 million) and higleguity income from joint ventures ($7 millior

Restructuring Costs

To better align the Company’s cost structure wltbgl market conditions, the Company committed testructuring plan (2009 Plan) in the
second quarter of fiscal 2009 and recorded a $2B@mrestructuring charge. The restructuring dearelated to cost reduction initiatives in
the Company’s automotive experience, building &fficy and power solutions businesses and includelfarce reductions and plant
consolidations. The Company expects to substantalinplete the 2009 Plan by the end of 2011. Thenaotive-related restructuring actions
targeted excess manufacturing capacity resultiog flower industry production in the European, Na@ktherican and Japanese automotive
markets. The restructuring actions in buildinga@éincy were primarily in Europe where the Compaantialized certain functions and
rebalanced its resources to target the geograpduikats with the greatest potential growth. Powéutsms actions focused on optimizing its
manufacturing capacity as a result of lower ovetathand for original equipment batteries resulfiogh lower vehicle production levels.

To better align the Company’s resources with itsagh strategies while reducing the cost structdiiesaglobal operations, the Company
committed to a restructuring plan (2008 Plan) i fiturth quarter of fiscal 2008 and recorded a $#8kon restructuring charge. The
restructuring charge related to cost reductionaitiites in its automotive experience, building @fncy and power solutions businesses and
includes workforce reductions and plant consola@tai The Company expects to substantially comiet®008 Plan in 2011. The
automotive-related restructuring was in respongb@édundamentals of the European and North Amerazgomotive markets. The actions
targeted reductions in the Company’s cost basesbyedsing excess manufacturing capacity due torlmdestry production and the
continued movement of vehicle production to lowtaasuntries, especially Europe. The restructurictipas in building efficiency were
primarily in Europe where the Company centralizedain functions and rebalanced its resourcesgetahe geographic markets with the
greatest potential growth. Power solutions actfoessed on optimizing its regional manufacturingageity.

Refer to Note 16, “Restructuring Costs,” to theampanying financial statements for further disctesielated to the Comparsytestructuring
plans.
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Net Financing Charges

Year Endec
September 3(
(in millions) 2009 2008 Change
Net financing charge $23¢ $25¢ -7%

. Net financing charges decreased primarily duewetdnterest rates during fiscal 2009 partiallysetfby higher debt level

Provision for Income Taxes

The Company’s base effective income tax rate fotinaing operations for fiscal years 2009 and 2@8@8 22.7% and 21.0%, respectively
(prior to certain discrete period items as outlibetbw).

The Company'’s effective tax rate for fiscal 200%waeater than the base effective tax rate duarint various items during the year as
discussed in detail below.

The Company’s effective tax rate for fiscal 2008réased over the base effective tax rate due tiwthith quarter restructuring charge, which
was recorded using a blended statutory rate oP42ekulting in a $43 million discrete period tajustiment.
Restructuring Charge

In the second quarter of fiscal 2009, the Compaepnded a $27 million discrete period tax adjustmelated to the second quarter 2009
restructuring costs using a blended effective #& of 19.2%. Due to the change in the base effetdix rate in fiscal 2009, the discrete pe
tax adjustment decreased by $19 million for a tztaladjustment of $8 million.

In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008, the Compasagarded a $43 million discrete period tax adjustmelated to the fourth quarter 2008
restructuring charge using a blended effectiveraédés of 12.4%.
I mpairment Charges

In the first quarter of fiscal 2009, the Compangareled a $30 million discrete period tax adjustnrelgted to first quarter 2009 impairment
costs using a blended statutory tax rate of 12B&&.to the change in the base effective tax ratiséal 2009, the discrete period tax
adjustment decreased by $4 million for a totaladpustment of $26 million.

Debt Conversion Costs

In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2009, the Compasagarded a $15 million discrete period tax benefated to debt conversion costs using an
effective tax rate of 36.5%.

Valuation Allowances

The Company reviews its deferred tax asset valnatiiowances on a quarterly basis, or whenevertev@rchanges in circumstances indic
that a review is required. In determining the regent for a valuation allowance, the historical pmojected financial results of the legal
entity or consolidated group recording the net defketax asset is considered, along with any gtbsitive or negative evidence. Since future
financial results may differ from previous estingtperiodic adjustments to the Company'’s valuagltmwances may be necessary.

In fiscal 2009, the Company recorded an overalldase to its valuation allowances by $245 millibhis was comprised of a $252 million
increase in income tax expense with the remainmguat impacting the consolidated statement of firerposition.

In the third quarter of fiscal 2009, the Companted®mined that it was more likely than not that atipo of the deferred tax assets in Brazil
would be utilized. Therefore, the Company releg&Ha million of valuation
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allowances. This is comprised of a $3 million desein income tax expense with the remaining amioypeicting the consolidated statement
of financial position because it related to acqiiimet operating losses.

In the second quarter of fiscal 2009, the Compatgrchined that it was more likely than not thatdlegerred tax asset associated with a
capital loss would be utilized. Therefore, the Campreleased $45 million of valuation allowancethia three month period ended March
20009.

In the first quarter of fiscal 2009, as a resulttaf rapid deterioration in the economic environteeveral jurisdictions incurred unexpected
losses in the first quarter that resulted in cuitivddosses over the prior three years. As a reanll after considering tax planning initiatives
and other positive and negative evidence, the Casngatermined that it was more likely than not tihet deferred tax assets would not be
utilized in several jurisdictions including Franddexico, Spain and the United Kingdom. Therefone, Company recorded $300 million of
valuation allowances in the three month period dridecember 31, 2008. To the extent the Companydwgsrits underlying operating resi
in these jurisdictions, these valuation allowanoes portion thereof, could be reversed in fupgdods.

Uncertain Tax Positions

The Company is subject to income taxes in the Bh8.numerous non-U.S. jurisdictions. Judgmentdsired in determining its worldwide
provision for income taxes and recording the rela@ssets and liabilities. In the ordinary coursthefCompany’s business, there are many
transactions and calculations where the ultimat@é&iermination is uncertain. The Company is redplander audit by tax authorities. In

June 2006, the FASB issued guidance prescribiraygrehensive model for how a company should rezegmieasure, present, and disclose
in its financial statements uncertain tax posititreg a company has taken or expects to take ax i@turn. The Company adopted this
guidance, which is included in ASC 740, “Income &gX as of October 1, 2007. As such, accrualsafoicbntingencies are provided for in
accordance with the requirements of ASC 740.

As a result of certain events in various jurisdins during the fourth quarter of fiscal year 20@8luding the settlement of the fiscal 2002
through fiscal 2003 U.S. federal tax examinatidhe,Company decreased its total reserve for urindea positions by $32 million. This was
comprised of a $55 million decrease to tax expamska $23 million increase to goodwill.

As a result of various entities exiting businesseértain jurisdictions and certain events relatedrtor tax planning initiatives, during the third
quarter of fiscal year 2009 the Company reducedeberve for uncertain tax positions by $33 millidhis is comprised of a $17 million
decrease to tax expense and a $16 million decteagmdwill.

The Company'’s federal income tax returns and aertanU.S. income tax returns for various fiscal yearsai under various stages of al
by the Internal Revenue Service and respectivelh@tax authorities. Although the outcome of tadits is always uncertain, management
believes that it has appropriate support for thatmms taken on its tax returns and that its ahtauaprovisions included amounts sufficien
pay assessments, if any, which may be proposededtaking authorities. At September 30, 2009, thm@any had recorded a liability for its
best estimate of the probable loss on certairsdfit positions, the majority of which is includadbther noncurrent liabilities in the
consolidated statements of financial position. Nbekess, the amounts ultimately paid, if any, upssolution of the issues raised by the
taxing authorities, may differ materially from thmounts accrued for each year.

Changein Tax Status

In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2009, the Compaagarded $84 million in discrete period tax benefisted to a change in tax status of a U.S.
and a U.K. subsidiary. This is comprised of a $58ian tax expense benefit and a $25 million deseeto goodwill. In the second quarter of
fiscal 2009, the Company recorded a $30 milliordite period tax benefit related to a change irstatus of a French subsidiary.

The changes in tax status resulted from voluntxyetections that produced deemed liquidationdJf&. federal income tax purposes. The
Company received tax benefits in the U.S. for tesés from the decrease in value as compared twitheal tax basis of its investments.
These elections changed, for U.S. federal incom@uaposes, the tax status of these entities andegiorted as a discrete period tax bene
accordance with the provision of ASC 740.
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Interest Refund Claim

In the second quarter of fiscal 2009, the Compdag & claim for refund with the Internal Revenwengce related to interest computations of
prior tax payments and refunds. The refund claisulted in a tax provision decrease of $6 million.

Impacts of Tax Legisation and Change in Statutory Tax Rates

In fiscal 2009, the Company obtained High Tech Enise status from the Chinese Tax Bureaus foouarChinese subsidiaries. This status
allows the entities to benefit from a 15% tax rate.

In February 2009, Wisconsin enacted numerous clsatogé/isconsin income tax law as part of the Bu@ighulus and Repair Bill,
Wisconsin Act 2. These changes became effectitteeiiCompany’s tax year ended September 30, 20k0mEjor changes included an
adoption of corporate unitary combined reportind an expansion of the related entity expense adkl fr@visions. These Wisconsin tax law
changes did not have a material impact on the Cagipaonsolidated financial condition, results peoations or cash flows.

Various other tax legislation was adopted in thelt® months ended September 30, 2009. None of tiesees had a material impact on the
Company'’s consolidated financial condition, resofteperations or cash flows.

Income Attributable to Noncontrolling Interests

Year Endec
September 3(

(in millions) 2009 2008 Change
Income (loss) attributable to noncontrolling intEs $(12) $24 *

* Measure not meaningf

. The decrease in income attributable to noncdirtgpinterests was primarily due to losses at agosolutions joint venture and certain
automotive experience joint ventures in North Aroefbecause of the decline in the global automatigrastry.

Net Income Attributable to Johnson Controls, Inc.

Year Endec
September 3(
(in millions) 2009 2008 Change
*

Net income (loss) attributable to Johnson Contials, $(33¢) $97¢

* Measure not meaningf

. Net loss attributable to Johnson Controls, Incfiral 2009 was $338 million, $1.3 billion lesathprior yee's net income attributable
to Johnson Controls, Inc. of $979 million, primamue to lower volumes mainly in the automotive erkgnce business, lead costs not
recovered through pricing, first quarter impairmelnarges recorded on an equity investment in ththNEmerican unitary products
group in building efficiency and certain fixed atssia the automotive experience North America antbge segments, a second quarter
restructuring charge, fourth quarter debt conversiasts, fourth quarter incremental warranty chargeorded in the building efficien
North American unitary products segment, and tHaworable impact of foreign currency translatioartjally offset by lower SG&#
costs, a decrease in the provision for income taredoss attributable to noncontrolling intereBiscal 2009 diluted loss per share was
$0.57 compared to the prior y's diluted earnings per share of $1.
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GOODWILL, LONG-LIVED ASSETS AND OTHER INVESTMENTS

Goodwill at September 30, 2010 was $6.5 billioril $4llion lower than the prior year. The decreases\wrimarily due to foreign currency
translation adjustments partially offset by the @opof current year acquisitions.

Goodwill reflects the cost of an acquisition in egs of the fair values assigned to identifiableassets acquired. The Company reviews
goodwill for impairment during the fourth fiscal ager or more frequently if events or changes iowrhstances indicate the asset might be
impaired. The Company performs impairment reviesvstt reporting units, which have been determittelde the Company’s reportable
segments, using a fair-value method based on meareags judgments and assumptions or third party valoati®he fair value represents
amount at which a reporting unit could be bougtgald in a current transaction between willing j{ggron an arms-length basis. In estimating
the fair value, the Company uses multiples of em®ibased on the average of historical, publishéltiptes of earnings of comparable
entities with similar operations and economic chemastics. In certain instances, the Company dsEpunted cash flow analyses to further
support the fair value estimates. The estimated/édue is then compared with the carrying amodrhe reporting unit, including recorded
goodwill. The Company is subject to financial staémt risk to the extent that the carrying amouceexs the estimated fair value. The
impairment testing performed by the Company inftheth quarter of fiscal year 2010 indicated thna €stimated fair value of each reporting
unit substantially exceeded its corresponding @agramount including recorded goodwill, and as suchimpairment existed at

September 30, 2010. No reporting unit was deterdhiode at risk of failing step one of the goodivilpairment test.

At March 31, 2009, in conjunction with the preparatof its financial statements, the Company codetlit had a triggering event requiring
the assessment of impairment of goodwill in themdtive experience Europe segment due to the agdidecline in the automotive market.
As a result, the Company performed impairmentrgsior goodwill and determined that fair value loé reporting unit exceeded its carrying
value and no impairment existed at March 31, 2009.

At December 31, 2008, in conjunction with the pregian of its financial statements, the Companyctaated it had a triggering event
requiring the assessment of impairment of goodwithe automotive experience North America and Rarsegments and the building
efficiency unitary products group segment due tortpid declines in the automotive and construatiamnkets. As a result, the Company
performed impairment testing for goodwill and detered that fair values of the reporting units extteeir carrying values and no
impairment existed at December 31, 2008. To furtiw@port the fair value estimates of the automatiygerience North America and build
efficiency unitary product group segments, the Canypprepared a discounted cash flow analysis thatiadicated the fair value exceeded
the carrying value for each reporting unit. Theuagstions supporting the estimated future cash flofathe reporting units, including profit
margins, long-term sales forecasts and growth re¢éiect the Company’s best estimates. The assangptelated to automotive experience
sales volumes reflected the expected continuedratiee industry decline with a return to fiscal 3d0@lume production levels by fiscal
2013. The assumptions related to the constructiarket sales volumes reflected steady growth beginim fiscal 2010.

Indefinite lived other intangible assets are aldgject to at least annual impairment testing. Asiderable amount of management judgment
and assumptions are required in performing the impnt tests. The Company believes the judgmerdsaasumptions used in the
impairment tests are reasonable and no impairmested at September 30, 2010.

The Company reviews the realizability of its dedertax assets on a quarterly basis. In determihi@gotential need for a valuation
allowance, the historical and projected finanagaluits of the legal entity or consolidated grougording the net deferred tax asset are
considered, along with any other positive or negatividence. Since future financial results mafedifrom previous estimates, periodic
adjustments to the Company’s valuation allowanceyg be necessary.

The Company has certain subsidiaries, mainly lataié-rance, Spain and the U.S., which have gee@i@berating and/or capital losses and,
in certain circumstances, have limited loss camyfod periods. In accordance with ASC 740, “Incorages,” the Company is required to
record a valuation allowance when it is more likifigin not the Company will not utilize deductibla@unts or net operating losses for each
legal entity or consolidated group based on theuées in the applicable jurisdiction, evaluatingthbpositive and negative historical
evidences as well as expected future events angldaring strategies.

39




Table of Contents

The Company reviews long-lived assets for impairmérenever events or changes in circumstancesatedtbat the asset’s carrying amount
may not be recoverable. The Company conductsritg-liwed asset impairment analyses in accordantte A%C 360-10-15, “Impairment or
Disposal of Long-Lived Assets.” ASC 360-10-15 regaithe Company to group assets and liabiliti¢seatowest level for which identifiable
cash flows are largely independent of the cashdlofwther assets and liabilities and evaluata#set group against the sum of the
undiscounted future cash flows. If the undiscourti@sh flows do not indicate the carrying amourthefasset group is recoverable, an
impairment charge is measured as the amount byhthécarrying amount of the asset group exceedaiitvalue based on discounted cash
flow analysis or appraisals.

In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2010, the Companopaluded it had a triggering event requiring assesd of impairment of its long-lived
assets due to the planned relocation of a pladapan in the automotive experience Asia segmenrd r&sult, the Company reviewed its long-
lived assets for impairment and recorded an $1lamilmpairment charge within cost of sales in therth quarter of fiscal 2010 related to
Asia automotive experience segment. The impairmastmeasured under a market approach utilizingppragsal. The inputs utilized in the
analysis are classified as Level 3 inputs withim filir value hierarchy as defined in ASC 820, “Ré&tue Measurements and Disclosures.”

At September 30, 2010, the Company concluded ihdichave any other triggering events requiringgsssient of impairment of its long-
lived assets.

In the third quarter of fiscal 2010, the Companpaaded it had a triggering event requiring assesgraf impairment of its long-lived assets
due to the planned relocation of its headquarteilsibg in Japan in the automotive experience Asigment. As a result, the Company
reviewed its long-lived assets for impairment ascbrded an $11 million impairment charge withirisg| general and administrative
expenses in the third quarter of fiscal 2010 reladethe Asia automotive experience segment. Thpaimment was measured under a market
approach utilizing an appraisal. The inputs utdize the analysis are classified as Level 3 inmitkin the fair value hierarchy as defined in
ASC 820, “Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures.”

In the second quarter of fiscal 2010, the Compamgluded it had a triggering event requiring assess of impairment of its long-lived
assets due to planned plant closures for the Northrica automotive experience segment. These @ssane a result of the Company’s
revised restructuring actions to the 2008 PlaneRtf Note 16, “Restructuring Costs,” to the accanying financial statements for further
information regarding the 2008 Plan. As a reshi, €ompany reviewed its long-lived assets for impant and recorded a $19 million
impairment charge in the second quarter of fisGdl2related to the North America automotive experesegment. This impairment charge
was offset by a decrease in the Company’s restingtueserve related to the 2008 Plan due to l@ugployee severance and termination
benefit cash payments than previously expectedisasissed further in Note 16. The impairment waasueed under an income approach
utilizing forecasted discounted cash flows for dis2010 through 2014 to determine the fair valuthefimpaired assets. This method is
consistent with the method the Company has emplaypdor periods to value other long-lived assé&tse inputs utilized in the discounted
cash flow analysis are classified as Level 3 inptitkin the fair value hierarchy as defined in A82D, “Fair Value Measurements and
Disclosures.”

In the third quarter of fiscal 2009, the Companpaoded it had a triggering event requiring assesgraf impairment of its long-lived assets
in light of the restructuring plans in North Amexiannounced by Chrysler LLC (Chrysler) and Gendi@tbrs Corporation (GM) during the
quarter as part of their bankruptcy reorganizagilams. As a result, the Company reviewed its longd assets relating to the Chrysler and
GM platforms within the North America automotivepexience segment and determined no impairmenteekist

In the second quarter of fiscal 2009, the Compamgluded it had a triggering event requiring assess of impairment of its long-lived
assets in conjunction with its restructuring plan@unced in March 2009. As a result, the Compawigweed its long-lived assets associated
with the plant closures for impairment and recorde®#6 million impairment charge in the second tprasf fiscal 2009, of which $25 millic
related to the North America automotive experiesegment, $16 million related to the Asia automoéxperience segment and $5 million
related to the Europe automotive experience segrRerfier to Note 16, “Restructuring Costs,” to tike@npanying financial statements for
further information regarding the 2009 restructgrpian. Additionally, at March 31, 2009, in conjtioa with the preparation of its financial
statements, the Company concluded it had a triggevent requiring assessment of its other longdliassets within the Europe automotive
experience segment due to significant declinesurmfean automotive sales volume. As a result, ttragainy reviewed its other long-lived
assets within the Europe automotive experience segfor impairment and determined no additionalampent existed.
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At December 31, 2008, in conjunction with the pregian of its financial statements, the Companyctaaed it had a triggering event
requiring assessment of impairment of its longdiessets due to the significant declines in NomteAcan and European automotive sales
volumes. As a result, the Company reviewed its {liveg assets for impairment and recorded a $11bamimpairment charge within cost
sales in the first quarter of fiscal 2009, of whi&#7 million related to the North America autometiexperience segment and $33 million
related to the Europe automotive experience segment

Investments in partially-owned affiliates at Sepbem30, 2010 were $728 million, $10 million highlean the prior year. The increase was
primarily due to positive earnings by certain aubdire experience and power solutions joint ventupestially offset by dividends paid by
joint ventures and the acquisition of the contngjlinterest in a formerly unconsolidated Koreantj@enture in the power solutions segmi

The Company reviews its equity investments for iimpant whenever there is a loss in value of anstment which is other than a tempor
decline. The Company conducts its equity investnmapairment analyses in accordance with ASC 328/éstments-Equity Method and
Joint Ventures.” ASC 323 requires the Company tom an impairment charge for a decrease in vdia® investment when the decline in
the investment is considered to be other than teanpo

At December 31, 2008, in conjunction with the pregian of its financial statements, the Companyctaated it had a triggering event
requiring assessment of impairment of its equitiegiment in a 48%-owned joint venture with U.S.cainditioning Distributors, Inc. (U.S.
Air) due to the significant decline in North Amaeait residential housing construction starts, whiatt significantly impacted the financial
results of the equity investment. The Company reggkits equity investment in U.S. Air for impairnmiemd as a result, recorded a

$152 million impairment charge within equity incoitiess) for the building efficiency North Americaitary products segment in the first
quarter of fiscal 2009. The U.S. Air investmentdpade included in the consolidated statement ohfiiad position at September 30, 2010 was
$53 million. The Company does not anticipate fuiompairment of this investment as, based on itseturforecasts, a further decline in value
that is other than temporary is not consideredamasly likely to occur.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
Working Capital

September 3( September 3(
(in millions) 2010 2009 Change
Working capital $ 91¢ $1,147 -20%
Accounts receivabl 6,09t 5,52¢ 10%
Inventories 1,78¢ 1,521 17%
Accounts payabl 5,42¢ 4,43¢ 22%

. The Company defines working capital as curres¢®sless current liabilities, excluding cash, skerm debt, the current portion of
long-term debt and net assets of discontinued tipaga Management believes that this measure okinmgcapital, which excludes
financin¢-related items and discontinued activities, proviglesore useful measurement of the Com’s operating performanc

. The decrease in working capital at Septembe2300 as compared to September 30, 2009 was pryntlrd to higher accounts payable
primarily due to increased purchasing activity tigdly offset by higher accounts receivable frorgher sales volumes, higher inventory
levels to support higher sales and a decreasetiruoturing reserve:

. The Company’s days sales in accounts receivaueedsed to 55 at September 30, 2010 from 58 égpitilor year primarily due to
improved collections. The increase in accountsivebée compared to September 30, 2009 was primduib/to increased sales in the
fourth quarter of fiscal 2010 compared to the sgomter in the prior year. There has been no samif adverse change in the level of
overdue receivables or changes in revenue recogmitethods

. The Company’s inventory turns during fiscal 2@i€Ye slightly lower compared to the prior year iity due to increased inventory
production to meet increased deme
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. Days in accounts payable at September 30, 2@16ared to 74 days from 72 days at September 89, @@marily due to the timing of
supplier payment:

Cash Flows

Year Ended September &
(in millions) 2010 2009
Cash provided by operating activiti $1,51¢ $917
Cash used by investing activiti (96¢) (828)
Cash provided (used) by financing activit (895) 27¢
Capital expenditure (777) (647)

. The increase in cash provided by operating dd&/ivas primarily due to higher net income attidtmle to Johnson Controls, Inc. and
favorable working capital changes in accounts pieyadartially offset by unfavorable working capitdlanges in accounts receivable,
inventory and restructuring reserv

. The increase in cash used by investing actiwtias primarily due to higher capital expenditutbs,impact of settlement of cross-
currency interest rate swaps in the prior yearaogliisitions of businesses, partially offset byramease in sales of property, plant and
equipment and lower recoverable engineering expersdi in the current perio

. The increase in cash used by financing activitias primarily due to a decrease in overall delatlkepartially offset by prior year debt
conversion cost:

. The increase in capital expenditures in the cityear was primarily due to the timing of paymeiotsinvestments made across the
businesses

Capitalization

September 3 September 3
(in millions) 2010 2009 Chang
Total debt $ 3,38¢ $  3,96¢ -15%
Shareholder equity attributable to Johnson Contrals, | 10,07 9,10( 11%
Total capitalizatior $ 13,46( $ 13,06¢ 3%
Total debt as a % of total capitalizati 25% 30%

. The Company believes the percentage of total efotal capitalization is useful to understanding Company’s financial condition as
it provides a review of the extent to which the Q@amy relies on external debt financing for its fungdand is a measure of risk to its
shareholders

. In fiscal 2008, the Company entered into new cdtteah, revolving credit facilities totaling 350 riadn euro with 100 million euro
expiring in May 2009, 150 million euro expiringilay 2011 and 100 million euro expiring in Augusti20in May 2009, the 100
million euro revolving facility expired and the Cpany entered into a new one year committed, rengleredit facility in the amount
50 million euro expiring in May 2010. In May 2018 50 million euro revolving facility expired atite Company entered into a new
one year committed, revolving credit facility iretamount of 50 million euro expiring in May 2011 eptember 30, 2010, there were
no draws on the revolving credit facilitie

. In January 2009, the Company retired its 24daillyen, three year, floating rate loan agreemattrttatured. The Company used
proceeds from commercial paper issuances to rémalpan agreemer

. In February 2009, the Company entered into ariiibn, three year, floating rate bilateral loagreaement. The Company drew the
entire amount under the loan agreement duringdhese of the second quarter of fiscal 2009. Alsongduthe second quarter of fiscal
2009, the Company retired approximately $54 miliioprincipal amount of its $800 million fixed rat@nds that mature in
January 2011. The Company used proceeds from thenBon floating rate loan agreement to retire tionds. The Company retired
the loan during the fourth quarter of fiscal 20
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. In March 2009, the Company closed concurrentipufferings. The Company issued $402.5 millionraggte amount of 6.5% senior,
unsecured, fixed rate convertible notes that meBagtember 30, 2012. The notes are convertiblesimioes of the Company’s common
stock at a conversion rate of 89.3855 shares ohwamstock per $1,000 principal amount of notesciig equal to a conversion price
of approximately $11.19 per share, subject to diiittion adjustments. The Company also issued mitiéon Equity Units (the “Equity
Units”) each of which has a stated amount of $5@nmggregate principal amount of $450 million. Hugiity Units consist of (i) a
forward purchase contract obligating the holdguucchase from the Company for a price in cash 6f $& the purchase contract
settlement date of March 31, 2012, subject to esstitement, a certain number of shares of the @oip common stock and (ii) a
1/20, or 5%, undivided beneficial ownership intéiast1,000 principal amount of the Comp’s 11.5% subordinated notes due 2(

. In September 2009, the Company settled the gestilts previously announced offer to exchangea(g) and all of its outstanding 6.5%
convertible senior notes due 2012 for the followdogsideration per $1,000 principal amount of cefibble senior notes: (i) 89.3855
shares of the Company’s common stock, (ii) a castment of $120 and (iii) accrued and unpaid intevesthe convertible senior notes
to, but excluding, the settlement date, payableash. Upon settlement of the exchange offer, apmiately $400 million aggregate
principal amount of convertible senior notes wetehanged for approximately 36 million shares of oowon stock and approximately
$61 million in cash ($48 million of debt conversipayments and $13 million of accrued interest encbnvertible senior notes). As a
result of the exchange, in the fourth quarter s¢di 2009 the Company recognized approximatelyrfion of debt conversion costs
within its consolidated statement of income whicswomprised of $48 million of debt conversion sast the exchange and a
$9 million charge related to the wi-off of unamortized debt issuance co:

. In September 2009, the Company settled the gestilts previously announced offer to exchangéou,550,000 of its nine million
outstanding Equity Units in the form of Corporateitd (the “Corporate Units"omprised of a purchase contract obligating thedrotc
purchase from the Company shares of its commork stod a 1/20, or 5%, undivided beneficial ownershiprest in $1,000 principal
amount of the Company’s 11.50% subordinated nate2642, for the following consideration per CogierUnit: (i) 4.8579 shares of
the Company’s common stock, (ii) a cash payme®6a50 and (iii) a distribution consisting of thepata share of accrued and unpaid
interest on the subordinated notes to, but exctydire settlement date, payable in cash. Uporesattit of the exchange offer,
approximately 8,082,085 Corporate Units (consistih§404 million aggregate principal amount of éamsling 11.50% subordinated
notes due 2042) were exchanged for approximatelyi®n shares of common stock and approximat@y #hillion in cash
($52 million of debt conversion payments and $1Bioni of accrued interest payments on the subotdthaotes). As a result of the
exchange, in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2009Gmenpany recognized approximately $54 million oftdednversion costs within its
consolidated statement of income which was comprges53 million of debt conversion costs on theteange and a $1 million charge
related to the writ-off of unamortized debt issuance co:

. In November 2009, the Company repurchased 6789($670,000 par value) of its 6.5% convertibleesahaturing September 30,
2012. The Company used cash to fund the repurc

. In December 2009, the Company repurchased atiaualil,015 bonds ($1,015,000 par value) of iE®convertible notes maturing
September 30, 2012. The Company used cash to fienepurchast

. In December 2009, the Company retired its 7dsilyen, three year, floating rate loan agreemeattwttas scheduled to mature on
January 18, 2011. The Company used cash to repayote.

. In December 2009, the Company retired its 12dilyen, three year, floating rate loan agreemtait tnatured. The Company used cash
to repay the note

. In December 2009, the Company retired approxitym&3 million in principal amount of its fixed mbonds that was scheduled to
mature on January 15, 2011. The Company used cdahd the repurchas

. In February 2010, the Company retired approxitg&80 million in principal amount of its fixed @bonds that was scheduled to
mature on January 15, 2011. The Company used cdahd the repurchas

. In February 2010, the Company retired its 18dsillyen, three year, floating rate loan agreemteait was scheduled to mature on
January 18, 2011. The Company used cash to repayotie.

. In March 2010, the Company issued $500 milliogragate principal amount of 5.0% senior unsecurestifrate notes due in fiscal
2020. Net proceeds from the issue were used fagrgénorporate purposes including the retiremeshof-term debt
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In March 2010, the Company retired approxima$dg million in principal amount of its fixed ratefds that was scheduled to mature
on January 15, 2011. The Company used cash tattfienepurchast

In April 2010, a total of 200 bonds ($200,000 palue) of 6.5% convertible senior notes schedtdedature on September 30, 2012
were redeemed for Johnson Controls, Inc. commarks

In May 2010, the Company retired approximatel§ #iillion in principal amount of its fixed rate bds scheduled to mature on
January 15, 2011. The Company used cash to funeéphechase:

In September 2010, the Company entered into a $00 million committed revolving facility scheul to mature in December 2011.
At September 30, 2010, there were no draws outistgr

The Company also selectively makes use of skont-tredit lines. The Company estimates that, &eptember 30, 2010, it could
borrow up to $2.6 billion at its current debt ragmon committed credit line

The Company believes its capital resources apddity position at September 30, 2010 are adecoatecet projected needs. The
Company believes requirements for working capéapital expenditures, dividends, minimum pensiontidoutions, debt maturities al
any potential acquisitions in fiscal 2011 will conte to be funded from operations, supplementeshioyt- and long-term borrowings, if
required. The Company currently manages its sleont-tebt position in the U.S. and euro commeraglep markets and bank loan
markets. In the event the Company is unable teissmmercial paper, it would have the ability tawdion its $2.05 billion revolving
credit facility, which extends until December 20There were no draws on the revolving credit factis of September 30, 2010. As
such, the Company believes it has sufficient fimgmesources to fund operations and meet its abibgs for the foreseeable futu

The Company’s debt financial covenants requirdrdmum consolidated shareholdeesjuity attributable to Johnson Controls, Inc. ¢
least $1.31 billion at all times and allow a maximaggregated amount of 10% of consolidated shaterslequity attributable to
Johnson Controls, Inc. for liens and pledges. kEop@ses of calculating the Company’s covenantssaatated shareholders’ equity
attributable to Johnson Controls, Inc. is calculatéthout giving effect to (i) the application ofS&C 715-60, “Defined Benefit Plans-
Other Postretirement,” or (ii) the cumulative fgneicurrency translation adjustment. As of Septen38e2010, consolidated
shareholders’ equity attributable to Johnson Cdmittac. as defined per our covenants was $9.@bilind there were no outstanding
amounts for liens and pledges. The Company expectsmnain in compliance with all covenants and otkquirements set forth in its
credit agreements and indentures for the foresedahlre. None of the Company’s debt agreement ¢iotess to stated borrowing
levels or require accelerated repayment in the teves decrease in the Comp/'s credit rating

A summary of the Company’s significant contractigligations as of September 30, 2010 is as follgasillions):

2016
Total 2011 2012-201% 2014-201¢ and Beyon

Contractual Obligations
Long-term debt

(including capital lease obligations $ 3,31« $ 662 $ 45C $ 132 $ 2,07C
Interest on long-term debt

(including capital lease obligations 1,58: 16C 28t 241 897
Operating lease 1,02¢ 29¢€ 412 20t 11E
Purchase obligatior 2,93¢ 2,07¢ 714 92 49
Pension and postretirement contributi 55(C 11E 96 98 241
Total contractual cash obligatio $ 9,40¢ $ 3,317 $ 1,957 $ 76€ $ 3,372

*

See"Capitalizatiol” for additional information related to the Comp’s lon¢-term debt

44




Table of Contents

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND POLICIES

The Company prepares its consolidated financi&stants in conformity with accounting principlesigeally accepted in the United State
America (U.S. GAAP). This requires management tkerestimates and assumptions that affect reportexdiats and related disclosures.
Actual results could differ from those estimatelse Tollowing policies are considered by managen@be the most critical in understanding
the judgments that are involved in the preparatiothe Company’s consolidated financial statemantsthe uncertainties that could impact
the Company’s results of operations, financial posiand cash flows.

Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes revenue from certain long-tontracts in the building efficiency businessiothe contractual period under the
percentage-of-completion (POC) method of accountifrgler this method, sales and gross profit aregeized as work is performed based
on the relationship between actual costs incurnetitatal estimated costs at the completion of tirgract. Recognized revenues that will not
be billed under the terms of the contract untdter date are recorded in unbilled accounts rebkdvaikewise, contracts where billings to
date have exceeded recognized revenues are redordtéter current liabilities. Changes to the araiestimates may be required during the
life of the contract and such estimates are reviemventhly. Sales and gross profit are adjustedguigia cumulative catch-up method for
revisions in estimated total contract costs andrachvalues. Estimated losses are recorded whestified. Claims against customers are
recognized as revenue upon settlement. The use (#FOC method of accounting involves considerabéead estimates in determining
revenues, costs and profits and in assigning thauata to accounting periods. The periodic revieasgenot resulted in adjustments that were
significant to the Company’s results of operaticftse Company continually evaluates all of the aggtions, risks and uncertainties inherent
with the application of the POC method of accoumtin

The building efficiency business enters into extghdarranties and long-term service and maintenage=ements with certain customers.
For these arrangements, revenue is recognizedstraight-line basis over the respective contrachte

The Company’s building efficiency business alsdssegrtain HVAC products and services in bundledragements, where multiple products
and/or services are involved. In accordance witlCAB5-25, “Multiple-Element Arrangements,” the Camp divides bundled arrangements
into separate deliverables and revenue is allodatedch deliverable based on the relative fauevalf all elements or the fair value of
undelivered elements.

In all other cases, the Company recognizes revantie time title passes to the customer or asce=rare performed.

Gooduwill and Other Intangible Assets

Gooduwill reflects the cost of an acquisition in ess of the fair values assigned to identifiableassets acquired. The Company reviews
goodwill for impairment during the fourth fiscal ger or more frequently if events or changes iowrnstances indicate the asset might be
impaired. The Company performs impairment reviesvstk reporting units, which have been determittelde the Company’s reportable
segments, using a fair-value method based on mareagis judgments and assumptions or third party valoatidhe fair value represents
amount at which a reporting unit could be sold ocugrent transaction between willing parties oraems-length basis. In estimating the fair
value, the Company uses multiples of earnings basate average of historical, published multigiésarnings of comparable entities with
similar operations and economic characteristicgehtain instances, the Company uses discountédficas analyses to further support the
fair value estimates. The estimated fair valudéntcompared with the carrying amount of the répgmnit, including recorded goodwill. T
Company is subject to financial statement riskhdxtent that the carrying amount exceeds thmatsd fair value. The impairment testing
performed by the Company in the fourth quarterisdfdl year 2010 indicated that the estimated faline of each reporting unit substantially
exceeded its corresponding carrying amount incyidéctorded goodwill, and as such, no impairmergtesiat September 30, 2010. No
reporting unit was determined to be at risk ofifigilstep one of the goodwill impairment test.

Indefinite lived other intangible assets are aldoject to at least annual impairment testing. Othtangible assets with definite lives continue
to be amortized over their estimated useful lives are subject to impairment testing if eventst@anges in circumstances indicate that the
asset might be impaired. A considerable amountafagement
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judgment and assumptions are required in perfortiegmpairment tests. While the Company beliehesudgments and assumptions u
in the impairment tests are reasonable and no imgeai existed at September 30, 2010, differentrapsons could change the estimated fair
values and, therefore, impairment charges coulectyeired.

Employee Benefit Plans

The Company provides a range of benefits to itsleyaes and retired employees, including pensiodspastretirement health care. Plan
assets and obligations are measured annually, g fremjuently if there is a remeasurement eversiedan the Company’s measurement date
utilizing various actuarial assumptions such asdalist rates, assumed rates of return, compensatiogases, turnover rates and health care
cost trend rates as of that date. Measurementstqfeniodic benefit cost are based on the assungptised for the previous year-end
measurements of assets and obligations. The Compaigws its actuarial assumptions on an annuas laasi makes modifications to the
assumptions based on current rates and trends agpeopriate. As required by U.S. GAAP, the effaftthe modifications are recorded
currently or amortized over future periods.

U.S. GAAP requires that companies recognize istdgement of financial position a liability for defd benefit pension and postretirement
plans that are underfunded or unfunded, or an émsdefined benefit pension and postretiremenefieplans that are overfunded. U.S.
GAAP also requires that companies measure the hefmdifjations and fair value of plan assets thetednine a postretirement benefit plan’s
funded status as of the date of the employer'sfigear-end.

The discount rate used by the Company is baselddeomterest rate of non-callable high-quality cogte bonds, with appropriate
consideration of the Company’s pension plans’ pigrints’ demographics and benefit payment terms.@tmpany’s discount rate on U.S.
plans was 5.50% and 6.25% at September 30, 2010G08] respectively. The Company’s weighted avedigeount rate on non-U.S. plans
was 4.00% and 4.75% at September 30, 2010 and 28§ ctively.

In estimating the expected return on plan assesCbmpany considers the historical returns on aéasets, adjusted for forward-looking
considerations, inflation assumptions and the imphthe active management of the plans’ investsgts. Reflecting the relatively long-term
nature of the plans’ obligations, approximately 5&265% of the plans’ assets are invested in exgjitvith the balance primarily invested in
fixed income instruments. For the years ending &aper 30, 2010 and 2009, the Company’s expectedtknm return on U.S. plan assets
used to determine net periodic benefit cost waB8%.9-or the years ending September 30, 2010 and, 20® Company’s weighted average
expected long-term return on non-U.S. plan assas6i00%. The actual rate of return on U.S. plaas slightly below 8.50% in fiscal 2010.
Beginning in fiscal 2011 the Company believes trgtterm rate of return will approximate 8.50% &%6i0% for U.S. and non-U.S. plans,
respectively. Any differences between actual resaitd the expected long-term asset returns wileftected in other comprehensive income
and amortized to pension expense in future yefitise ICompany’s actual returns on plan assetseaethan the Company’s expectations,
additional contributions may be required.

For purposes of expense recognition, the Compaay asnarket-related value of assets that recogtiieedifference between the expected
return and the actual return on plan assets otlmea-year period. As of September 30, 2010, thaeg2my had approximately $74 million of
unrecognized asset losses associated with itspdrsion plans, which will be recognized in the gkdtion of the market-related value of
assets and subject to amortization in future psriod

In fiscal 2010, total employer and employee contiins to the defined benefit pension plans we&l36illion, of which $509 million were
voluntary contributions made by the Company. Then@Gany expects to contribute approximately $250iomlin cash to its defined benefit
pension plans in fiscal year 2011.

Based on information provided by its independetuaies and other relevant sources, the Comparsmvesithat the assumptions used are
reasonable; however, changes in these assumptioigimpact the Company’s financial position, réswif operations or cash flows.

Product Warranties

The Company offers warranties to its customers iggipg upon the specific product and terms of theamer purchase agreement. A typical
warranty program requires that the Company repiaéective products within a specified time periozhi the date of sale. The Company
records an estimate of future warranty-relatedscbased
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on actual historical return rates and other knoaatdrs. At September 30, 2010, the Company haddedd337 million of warranty reserves
based on an analysis of return rates and othesrfadthile the Company’s warranty costs have hisaly been within its calculated
estimates, the Company monitors its warranty agtamd adjusts its reserve estimates when it ibgivte that future warranty costs will be
different than those estimates.

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes in accordairtbeASC 740, “Income Taxes.” Deferred tax assetd liabilities are recognized for
the future tax consequences attributable to diffegs between financial statement carrying amournggisting assets and liabilities and their
respective tax bases and operating loss and atbechrryforwards. Deferred tax assets and lisdsldre measured using enacted tax rates
expected to apply to taxable income in the yearghith those temporary differences are expectdxttecovered or settled. The Company
records a valuation allowance that primarily repres non-U.S. operating and other loss carryforsvémdwhich utilization is uncertain.
Management judgment is required in determining@benpany’s provision for income taxes, deferredassets and liabilities and the
valuation allowance recorded against the Compamgtgleferred tax assets. In calculating the promifdr income taxes on an interim basis,
the Company uses an estimate of the annual eféeteivrate based upon the facts and circumstameesrkat each interim period. On a
quarterly basis, the actual effective tax ratedisisted as appropriate based upon the actual semsttompared to those forecasted at the
beginning of the fiscal year. In determining thedor a valuation allowance, the historical anoiguted financial performance of the
operation recording the net deferred tax asseirisidered along with any other pertinent informatiince future financial results may differ
from previous estimates, periodic adjustments ¢oGbmpany’s valuation allowance may be necessargeptember 30, 2010, the Company
had a valuation allowance of $739 million, of whi#92 million relates to net operating loss camyirds primarily in France and Spain, for
which sustainable taxable income has not been demaded; and $247 million for other deferred tasess. The Company does not provide
additional U.S. income taxes on undistributed emsiof non-U.S. consolidated subsidiaries includeshareholders’ equity attributable to
Johnson Controls, Inc. Such earnings could becawabte upon the sale or liquidation of these no8-dJubsidiaries or upon dividend
repatriation. The Company’s intent is for such @&ga to be reinvested by the subsidiaries or toepatriated only when it would be tax
effective through the utilization of foreign taredits.

NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

In December 2009, the FASB issued Accounting Stateddpdate (ASU) No. 2009-17, “Consolidations (T@10): Improvements to
Financial Reporting by Enterprises Involved withridale Interest Entities.” ASU No. 2009-17 chanbes/ a company determines when an
entity that is insufficiently capitalized or is nodntrolled through voting should be consolidafElte determination of whether a company is
required to consolidate an entity is based on, anodiher things, an entity’s purpose and designaacdmpany’s ability to direct the activities
of the entity that most significantly impact theigrs economic performance. This statement isaife for the Company beginning in the
first quarter of fiscal 2011 (October 1, 2010). Humption of this guidance is not expected to rmsmgnificant impact on the Company’s
consolidated financial condition and results ofragiens.

In October 2009, the FASB issued ASU No. 2009-Revenue Recognition (Topic 605): Multiple-DelivelmBRevenue Arrangements — a
consensus of the FASB Emerging Issues Task FoA&J' No. 2009-13 establishes the accounting andrtiegoguidance for arrangements
under which a vendor will perform multiple revengenrerating activities. Specifically, this ASU adslres how to separate deliverables and
how to measure and allocate arrangement consideratione or more units of accounting. This guigawdl be effective for the Company
beginning in the first quarter of fiscal 2011 (Gmto 1, 2010) and, when adopted, will change the gzmy's accounting treatment for
multiple-element revenue arrangements on a praspduasis. The adoption of this guidance is noeeigd to have a significant impact on
the Company'’s consolidated financial condition aeglilts of operations.

In December 2008, the FASB issued guidance on giogrer’s disclosures about plan assets of a defirege:fit pension plan. The guidance
requires enhanced transparency surrounding the tfpglan assets and associated risks, as weitel®sure of information about fair value
measurements of plan assets. This guidance isdedlin ASC 715, “Compensation — Retirement Benéfisd is effective for the Company
for the fiscal year ending September 30, 2010. adwption of this guidance did not impact on the @any’s consolidated financial conditit
and results of operations. Refer to Note 15, “Ratient Plans,” for the Company’s disclosures of plssets.
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In December 2007, the FASB issued guidance chartgmgccounting for business combinations in a rarrbareas including the treatment
of contingent consideration, preacquisition corgimgjes, transaction costs, in-process researcd@arelopment and restructuring costs. In
addition, under this guidance changes in an acdj@intity’s deferred tax assets and uncertain tatipas after the measurement period will
impact income tax expense. This guidance is indudeASC 805, “Business Combinations,” and was éelbjpy the Company in the first
quarter of fiscal 2010 (October 1, 2009). This @umice changes the Company’s accounting treatmebufiness combinations on a
prospective basis.

In December 2007, the FASB issued guidance chartgmgccounting and reporting for minority integesthich are recharacterized as
noncontrolling interests and classified as a compbof equity. This new consolidation method chartpe accounting for transactions with
minority interest holders. This guidance is inclddle ASC 810, “Consolidationdnd was adopted by the Company in the first quaftéscal
2010 (October 1, 2009). The adoption of this guigadid not have a material impact on the Compacy'solidated financial condition and
results of operations. Refer to Note 14, “Equitd &oncontrolling Interests,” for further discussion

In September 2006, the FASB issued guidance tHatedefair value, establishes a framework for meaguair value and expands
disclosures about fair value measurements. Thidagigie also establishes a fair value hierarchypthiatitizes information used in developing
assumptions when pricing an asset or liability sTguidance is included in ASC 820, “Fair Value Meaments and Disclosures.” The
Company adopted this guidance effective Octob20@8. In February 2008, the FASB delayed the affeatate of this guidance for
nonfinancial assets and nonfinancial liabilitieatthre recognized or disclosed in the financiakst@nts on a nonrecurring basis to fiscal y
beginning after November 15, 2008. The provisidithis guidance for nonfinancial assets and nomfiiel liabilities were effective for the
Company in the first quarter of fiscal 2010 (Octobe2009) and will be applied prospectively ta fealue assessments such as the
Company’s long-lived asset impairment analyseseRef Note 17, “Impairment of Long-Lived Assetsot further discussion.

RISK MANAGEMENT

The Company selectively uses derivative instrumenteduce market risk associated with changesrgidn currency, commodities, interest
rates and stock-based compensation. All hedgimgations are authorized and executed pursuateadycdefined policies and procedures,
which strictly prohibit the use of financial instnents for speculative purposes. At the inceptiothefhedge, the Company assesses the
effectiveness of the hedge instrument and desigriaéehedge instrument as either (1) a hedge @f@gnized asset or liability or of a
recognized firm commitment (a fair value hedge),g(hedge of a forecasted transaction or of thiabéity of cash flows to be received or
paid related to an unrecognized asset or lialititgash flow hedge) or (3) a hedge of a net investrim a non-U.S. operation (a net
investment hedge). The Company performs hedgetef@ess testing on an ongoing basis dependingetype of hedging instrument used.

For all foreign currency derivative instrumentsigeated as cash flow hedges, retrospective effentiss is tested on a monthly basis using a
cumulative dollar offset test. The fair value oé thedged exposures and the fair value of the hiedgg@ments are revalued and the ratio o
cumulative sum of the periodic changes in the valube hedge instruments to the cumulative suth@fperiodic changes in the value of the
hedge is calculated. The hedge is deemed as héffielgtive if the ratio is between 80% and 125%. E@mnmodity derivative contracts
designated as cash flow hedges, effectivenesstexitesing a regression calculation. Ineffectivengsninimal as the Company aligns mos
the critical terms of its derivatives with the siyppontracts.

For net investment hedges, the Company assesses iterestment positions in the non-U.S. operatiamd compares it with the outstanding
net investment hedges on a quarterly basis. Thgehisddeemed effective if the aggregate outstangliimgipal of the hedge instruments
designated as the net investment hedge in a noneigeBation does not exceed the Company’s nettimesg positions in the respective non-
U.S. operation.

For interest hedges such as interest rate swap§dmpany elected the long haul method and assestsespective and prospective
effectiveness and measures ineffectiveness onréegyaasis.

For equity swaps, these derivative instrumentatelesignated as hedging instruments under ASC“8Esivatives and Hedging,” and
require no assessment of effectiveness on a glyagesis.

A discussion of the Company’s accounting polic@sderivative financial instruments is included\pte 1, “Summary of Significant
Accounting Policies,” to the accompanying finanaltements, and further disclosure
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relating to derivatives and hedging activitiesnsluded in Note 10, “Derivative Instruments and giad Activities,” and Note 11,Fair Value
Measurements,” to the accompanying financial statém

Foreign Exchange

The Company has manufacturing, sales and distoibdicilities around the world and thus makes itmesits and enters into transactions
denominated in various foreign currencies. In otdenaintain strict control and achieve the besedftthe Company’s global diversification,
foreign exchange exposures for each currency dtechiternally so that only its net foreign excharexposures are, as appropriate, hedged
with financial instruments.

The Company hedges 70% to 90% of the nominal amafugdich of its known foreign exchange transactierposures. The Company
primarily enters into foreign currency exchangetcaxcts to reduce the earnings and cash flow impfattte variation of non-functional
currency denominated receivables and payabless@aith losses resulting from hedging instrumentsebthe foreign exchange gains or
losses on the underlying assets and liabilitieadbedged. The maturities of the forward exchamgracts generally coincide with the
settlement dates of the related transactions. Behliind unrealized gains and losses on these ctann@ recognized in the same period as
gains and losses on the hedged items. The Comfemgealectively hedges anticipated transactionisafeasubject to foreign exchange
exposure, primarily with foreign currency exchaigetracts, which are designated as cash flow hadgescordance with ASC 815. At
September 30, 2010 and 2009, the Company estirfgttean unfavorable 10% change in the exchangs vatald have decreased net
unrealized gains by approximately $107 million &5d million, respectively.

The Company selectively finances its foreign openstwith local, non-U.S. dollar debt. In thosetamees, the foreign currency denominated
debt serves as a natural hedge of the foreign tipesanet asset positions. The Company has alsareshinto foreign currency denominated
debt obligations and cross-currency interest natgps to selectively hedge portions of its net itwmesit in Japan. The currency effects of the
debt obligations and the cross-currency interastsaaps are reflected in the accumulated othepoeimensive income (AOCI) account

within shareholders’ equity attributable to John§amtrols, Inc. where they offset gains and lossesrded on the Company’s net investment
in Japan. During the first and second quarterssoaf 2010, the Company retired its foreign curyedenominated debt which had previously
been designated as a net investment hedge in tmp&ty’'s net investment in Japan.

Interest Rates

The Company uses interest rate swaps to offsekfiesure to interest rate movements. In accordaitheASC 815, outstanding swaps
qualify and are designated as fair value hedgesf&eptember 30, 2010, the Company did not hayerdgerest rate swaps outstanding. A
10% increase or decrease in the average cost dahmany’s variable rate debt would result in angjgain pre-tax interest expense of
approximately $1 million and $4 million at SeptemB8, 2010 and 2009, respectively.

Commodities

The Company uses commodity contracts in the firrdmigrivatives market in cases where commodityeprigk cannot be naturally offset or
hedged through supply base fixed price contracis@odity risks are systematically managed purstmapblicy guidelines. As a cash flow
hedge, gains and losses resulting from the hedgstguments offset the gains or losses on purchafse underlying commodities that will
be used in the business. The maturities of the amdityncontracts coincide with the expected purchaedbe commodities.

ENVIRONMENTAL, HEALTH AND SAFETY AND OTHER MATTERS

The Company’s global operations are governed byr&Bnmental Laws and Worker Safety Laws. Under wgioircumstances, these laws
impose civil and criminal penalties and fines, &l as injunctive and remedial relief, for noncomapte and require remediation at sites
where Company-related substances have been relieésede environment.

The Company has expended substantial resourcealigldoth financial and managerial, to comply waghplicable Environmental Laws and
Worker Safety Laws, and to protect the environnaert workers. The Company believes it is in sub&bhovmpliance with such laws and
maintains procedures designed to foster and ercsunpliance. However, the Company has been, artkifuture may become, the subject of
formal or informal enforcement actions or procegdiregarding noncompliance with such laws or tineediation of Company-related
substances
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released into the environment. Such matters tylpieat resolved by negotiation with regulatory awities resulting in commitments to
compliance, abatement or remediation programsmasdme cases payment of penalties. Historicallgh@eesuch commitments nor penalties
imposed on the Company have been material.

Environmental considerations are a part of allificemt capital expenditure decisions; however,engitures in fiscal 2010 related solely to
environmental compliance were not material. At 8efiter 30, 2010 and 2009, the Company recordedeemagntal liabilities of $47 million
and $32 million, respectively. A charge to incormedcorded when it is probable that a liability baen incurred and the cost can be
reasonably estimated. The Company’s environmeiafailities do not take into consideration any pblsirecoveries of future insurance
proceeds. Because of the uncertainties associatie@mvironmental remediation activities at sitdsene the Company may be potentially
liable, future expenses to remediate identifiedssttould be considerably higher than the accradility. However, while neither the timing
nor the amount of ultimate costs associated withwknenvironmental remediation matters can be deétewat this time, the Company does
not expect that these matters will have a matadakrse effect on its financial position, resuftsperations or cash flows. In addition, the
Company has identified asset retirement obligationgnvironmental matters that are expected tadzressed at the retirement, disposal,
removal or abandonment of existing owned faciljtiggmarily in the power solutions business. At ®epber 30, 2010 and 2009, the
Company recorded conditional asset retirement atiigs of $84 million and $85 million, respectively

Additionally, the Company is involved in a numbémpooduct liability and various other casualty laits incident to the operation of its
businesses. Insurance coverages are maintainesstnthted costs are recorded for claims and stitsonature. It is management’s opinion
that none of these will have a materially adveffeceon the Company’s financial position, resatoperations or cash flows (see Note 20,
“Commitments and Contingencies,” to the consoliddieancial statements). Costs related to sucharsattere not material to the periods
presented.

QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA

(in millions, except per share da First Second Third Fourth Full
(unaudited’ Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Year
2010
Net sales $8,40¢ $8,31% $8,54( $9,04( $34,30¢
Gross profit 1,23¢ 1,22: 1,33¢ 1,491 5,28¢
Net income attributable to Johnson Controls, 14§ 35C 274 41¢€ 44¢ 1,491
Earnings per shal
Basic (3) 0.52Z 0.41 0.6z 0.67 2.22
Diluted (3) 0.52 0.4C 0.61 0.6€ 2.1¢
2009
Net sales $7,33¢ $6,31¢ $6,97¢ $7,867 $28,49’
Gross profit 68t 682 1,03¢ 1,14: 3,54¢
Net income (loss) attributable to Johnson Contials, (2] (60¢) (299 162 30C (33¢)
Earnings (loss) per sha
Basic (3) (2.02) (0.39) 0.27 0.5C (0.57)
Diluted (3) (1.02) (0.39) 0.2¢ 0.47 (0.57)

(1) The fiscal 2010 third quarter net income unies $11 million of fixed asset impairment changeorded in the automotive experience
Asia segment. The fiscal 2010 fourth quarter nedime includes $11 million of fixed asset impairmeimarges recorded in the
automotive experience Asia segment, an $8 milliverge related to the divestiture of a joint venteeorded in the automotive
experience North America segment and a $37 mitlimin on acquisition of a Korean joint venture nieaaquisition costs and related
purchase accounting adjustments recorded in thepsautions segment. The preceding amounts aesta a pr-tax basis

(2) The fiscal 2009 first quarter net loss indad&152 million of impairment charges recorded mequity investment in the building
efficiency North American unitary products segmamnd $11(
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million of fixed asset impairment charges refgat in the automotive experience North America Batbpe segments ($77 million and
$33 million, respectively). The fiscal 2009 secaquirter net loss includes a $230 million restruntuicharge. The fiscal 2009 fourth
quarter net income includes $105 million of incremadwarranty charges recorded in the buildingeégficy North American unitary
products segment and $111 million of debt conversimsts. The preceding amounts are stated or-tax basis

(3) Due to the use of the weighted-average sharestanding for each quarter for computing earsijoey share, the sum of the quarterly per
share amounts may not equal the per share amauthiefgear

ITEM 7A QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARK  ET RISK
See “Risk Management” included in Item 7 — ManagarseDiscussion and Analysis of Financial Conditeomd Results of Operations.

51




Table of Contents

ITEM 8 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

Index to Consolidated Financial Statements

Page
Report of Independent Registered Public Accourfdinm 53
Consolidated Statements of Income for the years@&&ptember 30, 2010, 2009 and 2 55
Consolidated Statements of Financial Position éepitember 30, 2010 and 2C 56
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the ye@ided September 30, 2010, 2009 and . 57
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ EquitsilAttable to Johnson Controls, Inc. for the yeadesl September 30,
2010, 2009 and 20C 58
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statem 59
Valuation and Qualifying Accoun 10t

52




Table of Contents

i

pwc

Report of Independent Registered Public Accountindrirm
To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Joth@ontrols, Inc.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetadisted in the accompanying index present faifall material respects, the financial
position of Johnson Controls, Inc. and its subsidiat September 30, 2010 and 2009, and the sesttteir operations and their cash flows
for each of the three years in the period endedeBdger 30, 2010 in conformity with accounting pijrtes generally accepted in the United
States of America. In addition, in our opinion, fir@ancial statement schedule listed in the accamiog index presents fairly, in all material
respects, the information set forth therein whextn@ conjunction with the related consolidatedficial statements. Also in our opinion, the
Company maintained, in all material respects, ¢éffednternal control over financial reporting asSeptember 30, 2010, based on criteria
established imnternal Control — Integrated Framewoissued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidriee Treadway Commission
(COSO0). The Company’s management is responsiblénése financial statements and financial statesehrdule, for maintaining effective
internal control over financial reporting and fta assessment of the effectiveness of internaralooter financial reporting, included in
Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Fitarigeporting appearing under Item 9A. Our respuifii is to express opinions on
these financial statements, on the financial statérachedule, and on the Company’s internal cootref financial reporting based on our
integrated audits. We conducted our audits in alzmre with the standards of the Public Company Aating Oversight Board (United
States). Those standards require that we plan eridrp the audits to obtain reasonable assuranmet akhether the financial statements are
free of material misstatement and whether effedtiternal control over financial reporting was ntained in all material respects. Our audits
of the financial statements included examiningadast basis, evidence supporting the amounts ianbbsures in the financial statements,
assessing the accounting principles used and &ignifestimates made by management, and evaluagngverall financial statement
presentation. Our audit of internal control oveaficial reporting included obtaining an understagdif internal control over financial
reporting, assessing the risk that a material weskexists, and testing and evaluating the desidmoperating effectiveness of internal
control based on the assessed risk. Our auditsradkaled performing such other procedures as wsidered necessary in the circumstan
We believe that our audits provide a reasonablestf@sour opinions.

As discussed in Note 18 to the consolidated fireratatements, the Company adopted guidance intlnd&ccounting Standards
Codification (ASC) 740, “Income Taxes,” prescribingw a company should recognize, measure, presaailisclose uncertain tax positions
effective October 1, 2007.

As discussed in Note 14 to the consolidated firerstatements, the Company adopted guidance inthnd&ccounting Standards
Codification (ASC) 810, “Consolidation,” prescrilgitnow a company should account for noncontrollintgriests effective October 1, 2009.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, 100 East Wisconsin ée/eMilwaukee, W1 532C
T: (414)212- 1600, F: (414) 212- 1880, www.pwc.amn/
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A company’s internal control over financial repogiis a process designed to provide reasonablesassuregarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of finahstatements for external purposes in accordantiegeinerally accepted accounting
principles. A company'’s internal control over firgad reporting includes those policies and proceduhat (i) pertain to the maintenance of
records that, in reasonable detail, accuratelyfainly reflect the transactions and dispositionshaf assets of the company; (i) provide
reasonable assurance that transactions are recasdeztessary to permit preparation of financétkstents in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles, and that receipdsexpenditures of the company are being madeinrdgcordance with authorizations of
management and directors of the company; and(idyide reasonable assurance regarding preventitmely detection of unauthorized
acquisition, use, or disposition of the companygseds that could have a material effect on then@iizé statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or @¢taisstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods afgect to the risk that controls may become inadegibecause of changes in conditions, or
that the degree of compliance with the policieprocedures may deteriorate.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Milwaukee, Wisconsin
November 23, 201
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(in millions, except per share data)
Net sales
Products and system
Services*

Cost of sale:
Products and system
Services*

Gross profit
Selling, general and administrative exper
Restructuring cosl
Debt conversion cos
Net financing charge
Equity income (loss
Income (loss) before income tax

Provision for income taxe

Net income (loss

Income (loss) attributable to noncontrolling int&e&

Johnson Controls, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Income

Net income (loss) attributable to Johnson Contilois,

Earnings (loss) per sha
Basic
Diluted

Year ended September 30,

2010
$27,20¢
7,101
34,30¢
23,22¢

5,79(
29,01¢

5,28¢

(3,610)

(170
254

2009

$21,837
6,66(
28,49"

19,61¢
5,33(
24,94¢

3,54¢
(3,210
(230)
(112)
(239)
(77)
(318)

32

(350)

12
$ (339

$ (0.57)
$ (0.57)

2008

$30,56¢
7,494
38,06:

26,49:
6,04¢
32,53¢
5,52¢

(3,565)
(495)

(25€)
11€

1,324

321

* Products and systems consist of automotive gapee and power solutions products and systeméaitding efficiency installed
systems. Services are building efficiency techréeal global workplace solutior

The accompanying notes are an integral part of thénancial statements.
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Johnson Controls, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Financial Position

(in millions, except par value and share data)
Assets

Cash and cash equivalel

Accounts receivable, less allowance for doubtfalbants of $96 and $99, respectiv
Inventories

Other current asse

Current assel

Property, plant and equipme— net
Goodwill

Other intangible asse— net
Investments in partial-owned affiliates
Other noncurrent asse

Total asset

Liabilities and Equity

Shor-term debt

Current portion of lon-term debt
Accounts payabl

Accrued compensation and bene
Other current liabilitie:

Current liabilities

Long-term deb
Postretirement health and other bene
Other noncurrent liabilitie

Long-term liabilities

Commitments and contingencies (Note
Redeemable noncontrolling intere

Common Stock, $.01 7/18 par value
shares authorized: 1,800,000,000
shares issued: 20:- 676,197,237; 200- 673,133,77"
Capital in excess of par vall
Retained earning
Treasury stock, at cost (20- 2,470,565; 200- 2,301,073 share!
Accumulated other comprehensive inca

Shareholder equity attributable to Johnson Controls, |
Noncontrolling interest

Total equity
Total liabilities and equit

The accompanying notes are an integral part of thénancial statements.

56

September 30,

2010 2009
$ 56C $ 761
6,09¢ 5,52¢
1,78¢ 1,521
2,211 2,01¢
10,65: 9,82¢
4,09¢ 3,98¢
6,501 6,542
741 74€
72¢ 71€
3,02¢ 2,27(
$25,74: $24,08¢
$ 75 $ 65¢
662 14C
5,42¢ 4,43¢
1,122 87z
2,62 2,61z
9,91( 8,71¢
2,652 3,16¢
23t 25E
2,57¢ 2,61(
5,46( 6,03
19¢ 15¢
9 9
2,44¢ 2,352
7,76% 6,61%
(74) (70)
(77) 192
10,07: 9,10(
10€ 84
10,17 9,184
$25,74: $24,08¢
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Johnson Controls, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(in millions)

Operating Activities

Net income (loss) attributable to Johnson Contiloks,
Income (loss) attributable to noncontrolling in&&

Net income (loss

Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to gasivided by operating activitie
Depreciatior
Amortization of intangible:
Equity in earnings of partial-owned affiliates, net of dividends receiv
Deferred income taxe
Impairment charge
Fair value adjustment of equity investm
Debt conversion cos
Equity-based compensatic
Other
Changes in working capital, excluding acquisitic
Receivable!
Inventories
Other current asse
Restructuring reserve
Accounts payable and accrued liabilit
Accrued income taxe

Cash provided by operating activiti

Investing Activities

Capital expenditure

Sale of property, plant and equipm
Acquisition of businesses, net of cash acqu
Recoverable customer engineering expendit
Settlement of cro-currency interest rate swa
Changes in lor-term investment

Cash used by investing activiti

Financing Activities
Increase (decrease) in st-term deb— net
Increase in lon-term debi
Repayment of lor-term debt
Payment of cash dividen
Debt conversion cos
Proceeds from the exercise of stock opti
Purchase of treasury sto
Other

Cash provided (used) by financing activit
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and casvadnts
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivale

The accompanying notes are an integral part of thénancial statements.
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Year Ended September 30,

2010

$ 1,491
75

1,56¢

64¢€
43
5

(85)
41

(47)
49
63

(60¢)
(260)
322
(195)
21¢
(247)
1,51¢

(777)
47
(62)
(76)

(101)
(966)

(575)
51E
(526)
(33¢)

52
(22

(895)
14¢

$_(201)

2009

$ (339

(12)
(350)

707
38
237
6
15€

101

&
w
Ay

2008
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Johnson Controls, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity Attbutable to Johnson Controls, Inc.

Accumulatec

Capital in Treasury Other
Common Excess o Retainec Stock, Comprehensiv
(in millions, except per share da Total Stock Par Value Earnings at Cost Income (Loss
At September 30, 200° $ 887 % 8 $ 145 $ 6662 $ (33 $ 782
Comprehensive incom
Net income attributable to Johnson Controls, 97¢ — — 97¢ — —
Foreign currency translation adjustme 17C — — — — 17C
Realized and unrealized losses on derival (93 — — — — (93
Employee retirement plar (18¢) — — — — (18¢)
Other comprehensive lo (111
Comprehensive incorr 86¢
Adjustment to initially adopt FIN 48, net of ti (68) — — (68) — —
Cash dividend
Common ($0.52 per shar (309 — — (309 — —
Redemption value adjustment attributable to redééma
noncontrolling interest 16 — — 16 — —
Other, including options exercis: 26 — 95 — (69) —
At September 30, 200t 9,40¢ 8 1,547 7,28 (102 671
Comprehensive los
Net loss attributable to Johnson Controls, (338 — — (339 — —
Foreign currency translation adjustme (199 — — — — (199
Realized and unrealized gains on derivat 41 — — — — 41
Employee retirement plai (329 — — — — (326
Other comprehensive lo (479
Comprehensive los (817)
Cash dividend
Common ($0.52 per shar (309 — — (309 — —
Debt conversion (Note ¢ 804 1 80:< — — —
Redemption value adjustment attributable to redééna
noncontrolling interest (20 — — (20) — —
Other, including options exercis 36 — 4 — 32 —
At September 30, 200¢ 9,10(¢ 9 2,35¢ 6,61F (70) 192
Comprehensive incom
Net income attributable to Johnson Controls, 1,491 — — 1,491 — —
Foreign currency translation adjustme (115 — — — — (11%)
Realized and unrealized gains on derivat 13 — — — — 13
Unrealized gains on marketable common s 3 3
Employee retirement plat (179 — — — — (270
Other comprehensive lo (269)
Comprehensive incorr 1,22:
Cash dividend
Common ($0.52 per shar (350 — — (350) — —
Redemption value adjustment attributable to redééena
noncontrolling interest 9 — — 9 — —
Other, including options exercis: 90 — 94 — (4) —
At September 30, 201( $10,07. $ 9 $ 244 $ 7768 $ (74 $ (77)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of thénancial statements.
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Johnson Controls, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements inclimeaccounts of Johnson Controls, Inc. and its doonasd non-U.S. subsidiaries that are
consolidated in conformity with accounting prin@glgenerally accepted in the United States of Aradll).S. GAAP). All significant
intercompany transactions have been eliminatecksimvents in partially-owned affiliates are accodrite by the equity method when
the Company’s interest exceeds 20% and the Comg@ery not have a controlling interest. The finanaallts for the year ended
September 30, 2009 include an out of period adjestraf $62 million made in the first and secondrtgra of fiscal 2009 to correct an
error related to the power solutions segment. Teection of the error, which reduces segment irggonimarily originated in fiscal
2007 and 2008 and resulted in the overstatementeftory and understatement of cost of salesior periods. The Company
determined that the impact of the error on theinaiting periods was immaterial, and accordinglgstatement of prior period amounts
was not considered necessary. The Company alsordeésl the impact of correcting the error in fis2D9 was not materie

Under certain criteria as provided for in Fio@h Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accountirgrslards Codification (ASC) 810,
“Consolidation,” the Company may consolidate aiplytowned affiliate when it has less than a 50#nership. In order to determine
whether to consolidate a partially-owned affiliateen the Company has less than a 50% ownershigdhgany first determines if the
entity is a variable interest entity (VIE). An dgtis considered to be a VIE if it has one of thlofving characteristics: 1) the entity is
thinly capitalized; 2) residual equity holders du nontrol the entity; 3) equity holders are shegldrom economic losses or do not
participate fully in the entity’s residual econosiior 4) the entity was established with non-sutista voting. If the entity meets one of
these characteristics, the Company then deternfiitas the primary beneficiary of the VIE. Thepaexposed to the majority of the
risks and rewards associated with the VIE is thE’'s primary beneficiary and must consolidate theter

Based upon the criteria set forth in ASC 8h@,Eompany has determined that for the reportimgge ended September 30, 2010 and
2009 it was the primary beneficiary in two VIE'swrich it holds less than 50% ownership as the Gomgunds the entities’ short-
term liquidity needs. Both entities are consolidatgthin the automotive experience North Americgraent. The Company did not h¢

a significant variable interest in any unconsokdbYIE’s for the presented reporting periods. Taeyng amounts and classification of
assets and liabilities included in the Companyissatidated statements of financial position forsmidated VIE's are as follows (in

millions):
September 3(
2010 2009
Current assetl $ 21t $ 14¢€
Noncurrent asse 69 101
Total asset 284 $ 247
Current liabilities $ 174 $ 10¢
Noncurrent liabilities — —
Total liabilities $ 174 $ 10:c

Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial stagets in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires managetrto make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts etassd liabilities and disclosure of contingersieds and liabilities at the date of the
financial statements and the reported amountsvefmges and expenses during the reporting perioahaboesults could differ from
those estimate:

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The fair values of cash and cash equivaleotnunts receivable, short-term debt and accournyshpa approximate their carrying
values. The fair value of long-term debt, which #8&s7 billion and $3.4 billion at September 30, @@hd 2009, respectively, was
determined using market quotes. See Not¢“ Derivative Instruments ar
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Hedging Activities,” and Note 11, “Fair Valueddsurements,” for fair value of financial instrurtsgiincluding derivative instruments
and hedging activitie:

Cash and Cash Equivalent:
The Company considers all highly liquid investmanith a maturity of three months or less when pasgt to be cash equivaler
Receivables

Receivables consist of amounts billed and adiyrelue from customers and unbilled costs andusxtprofits related to revenues on
long-term contracts that have been recognizeddooanting purposes but not yet billed to customEng Company extends credit to
customers in the normal course of business andtaiasnan allowance for doubtful accounts resulfiogn the inability or unwillingnes
of customers to make required payments. The alloevéor doubtful accounts is based on historicakeigmce, existing economic
conditions and any specific customer collectionéssthe Company has identifie

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cosharket. Cost is determined using either the lasfifist-out (LIFO) method or the first-in,
first-out (FIFO) method. Finished goods and v-in-process inventories include material, labor andufesturing overhead cost

Pre-Production Costs Related to Lon-Term Supply Arrangements

The Company’s policy for engineering, reseaneti development, and other design and developrostd celated to products that will
be sold under long-term supply arrangements regjgineh costs to be expensed as incurred or capitafireimbursement from the
customer is assured. Customer reimbursements@edesl as an increase in cash and a reductiodliogsgeneral and administrative
expense when reimbursement from the customer ésvext if reimbursement from the customer is notieess At September 30, 2010
and 2009, the Company recorded within the cons@dlatatements of financial position approxima&3@4 million and $282 million,
respectively, of engineering and research and dpwent costs for which customer reimbursementsaras. The reimbursable costs
are recorded in other current assets if reimburaemi occur in less than one year and in othemcwrent assets if reimbursement will
occur beyond one ye:

Costs for molds, dies and other tools useddkemproducts that will be sold under long-term $yipprangements are capitalized within
property, plant and equipment if the Company héstid the assets or has the ramcelable right to use the assets during the ¢érime
supply arrangement. Capitalized items, if spedifjadesigned for a supply arrangement, are amattmeer the term of the arrangeme
otherwise, amounts are amortized over the estimageflil lives of the assets. The carrying valueasskts capitalized in accordance
with the foregoing policy are periodically reviewfat impairment whenever events or changes in oistances indicate that its carry
amount may not be recoverable. At September 3@) 284 2009, approximately $72 million and $87 roiili respectively, of costs for
molds, dies and other tools were capitalized wighrioperty, plant and equipment which representsdtago which the Company had
title. In addition, at September 30, 2010 and 2@38,Company recorded within the consolidated states of financial position in oth
current assets approximately $212 million and $2iflon, respectively, of costs for molds, dies atHer tools for which customer
reimbursement is assure

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment are recordedstt ©epreciation is provided over the estimatexfuldives of the respective assets using
the straight-line method for financial reporting’poses and accelerated methods for income tax pespd he estimated useful lives
range from 10 to 40 years for buildings and improgats and from 3 to 20 years for machinery andpement.

The Company capitalizes interest on borrowihgsng the active construction period of major talgirojects. Capitalized interest is
added to the cost of the underlying assets anchistezed over the useful lives of the ass

60




Table of Contents

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

Goodwill reflects the cost of an acquisitiorexcess of the fair values assigned to identifialefeassets acquired. The Company reviews
goodwill for impairment during the fourth fiscal aer or more frequently if events or changes iowrnstances indicate the asset might
be impaired. The Company performs impairment resgiéw its reporting units, which have been detepdito be the Company’s
reportable segments, using a fair-value methoddasenanagement’s judgments and assumptions drghity valuations. The fair
value represents the amount at which a reportiritgconld be sold in a current transaction betwedling parties on an arms-length
basis. In estimating the fair value, the Compargsunultiples of earnings based on the averagestirigal, published multiples of
earnings of comparable entities with similar operat and economic characteristics. In certain s, the Company uses discounted
cash flow analyses to further support the fair gagtimates. The estimated fair value is then coedpaith the carrying amount of the
reporting unit, including recorded goodwill. Ther@pany is subject to financial statement risk togktent that the carrying amount
exceeds the estimated fair value. The impairmestitig performed by the Company in the fourth quastdiscal year 2010 indicated
that the estimated fair value of each reporting smbstantially exceeded its corresponding carrgimgpunt including recorded goodw
and as such, no impairment existed at Septemb&(3®,. No reporting unit was determined to besk of failing step one of the
goodwill impairment tes

At March 31, 2009, in conjunction with the paegtion of its financial statements, the Compamctaled it had a triggering event
requiring the assessment of impairment of goodwithe automotive experience Europe segment dtleetoontinued decline in the
automotive market. As a result, the Company peréatimpairment testing for goodwill and determinleattfair value of the reporting
unit exceeded its carrying value and no impairnesigted at March 31, 200

At December 31, 2008, in conjunction with thiegaration of its financial statements, the Compzomncluded it had a triggering event
requiring the assessment of impairment of goodwithe automotive experience North America and Rarsegments and the building
efficiency unitary products group segment due tordpid declines in the automotive and construatiankets. As a result, the Comp:
performed impairment testing for goodwill and detered that fair values of the reporting units extteir carrying values and no
impairment existed at December 31, 2008. To furtiu@port the fair value estimates of the automatiygerience North America and
building efficiency unitary product group segmerie Company prepared a discounted cash flow asdhat also indicated the fair
value exceeded the carrying value for each reppriinit. The assumptions supporting the estimataddicash flows of the reporting
units, including profit margins, long-term saleseftasts and growth rates, reflect the Company’sdstgnates. The assumptions related
to automotive experience sales volumes reflectecipected continued automotive industry declirtb wireturn to fiscal 2008 volume
production levels by fiscal 2013. The assumptiatated to the construction market sales volumdsatefd steady growth beginning in
fiscal 2010.

Indefinite lived other intangible assets aoaubject to at least annual impairment testingeintangible assets with definite lives
continue to be amortized over their estimated udisles and are subject to impairment testing i€ or changes in circumstances
indicate that the asset might be impaired. A carsidle amount of management judgment and assursgrerrequired in performing
the impairment tests. While the Company believegudgments and assumptions used in the impairtasts are reasonable and no
impairment existed at September 30, 2010, diffeasstimptions could change the estimated fair valodstherefore, impairment
charges could be require

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Company reviews long-lived assets, inclggiroperty, plant and equipment and other intaegiisisets with definite lives, for
impairment whenever events or changes in circurastamdicate that carrying amount may not be reable. See Note 17,
“Impairment of Lon-Lived Asset<” for disclosure of the impairment analyses perforimgthe Company during fiscal 2010 and 2C

Percentagw-of-Completion Contracts

The building efficiency business records ceartang-term contracts under the percentage-of-cetigwl method of accounting. Under
this method, sales and gross profit are recograsedork is performed based on the relationship éetvactual costs incurred and total
estimated costs at completion. The Company reamwsis and earnings in excess of billings on uncetaglcontracts within accounts
receivable — net and billings in excess of costsearnings on uncompleted contracts within otherecu liabilities in the consolidated
statements of financi
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position. Amounts included within accounts reabie — net related to these contracts were $68mand $579 million at
September 30, 2010 and 2009, respectively. Amanobsded within other current liabilities were $688llion and $601 million at
September 30, 2010 and 2009, respecti\

Revenue Recognitior

The Company’s building efficiency business grdaes revenue from certain long-term contracts twe contractual period under the
percentage-of-completion method of accounting. Tishod of accounting recognizes sales and grass pas work is performed based
on the relationship between actual costs incurnetitatal estimated costs at completion. Sales apskgrofit are adjusted using the
cumulative catch-up method for revisions in estedabtal contract costs and contract values. Egtithiasses are recorded when
identified. Claims against customers are recognéectvenue upon settlement. The amount of accoergs/able due after one year is
not significant.

The building efficiency business enters intteexled warranties and long-term service and maanisnagreements with certain
customers. For these arrangements, revenue ismeeogon a straig-line basis over the respective contract te

The Company’s building efficiency business asbs certain heating, ventilating and air comdiitng (HVAC) products and services in
bundled arrangements, where multiple products ars#fwices are involved. In accordance with ASC-885“Multiple—Element
Arrangements,” the Company divides bundled arrareggsninto separate deliverables and revenue isadéld to each deliverable based
on the relative fair value of all elements or tag falue of undelivered elemen

In all other cases, the Company recognizes revantie time title passes to the customer or ascesrare performel
Research and Development Cos

Expenditures for research activities relatingtoduct development and improvement are chargathst income as incurred and
included within selling, general and administratés@enses in the consolidated statement of inc&ueh expenditures for the years
ended September 30, 2010, 2009 and 2008 were $iflkgn$767 million and $829 million, respectivel

A portion of the costs associated with thegwities is reimbursed by customers and, for tisedl years ended September 30, 2010,
2009 and 2008 were $315 million, $431 million ad®$ million, respectively

Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per share are computed by diyidet income by the weighted average number ofwmmshares outstanding. Diluted
earnings per share are computed by dividing netnrecby diluted weighted average shares outstanBihgted weighted average sha
include the dilutive effect of common stock equéargb which would arise from the exercise of stagkams and any outstanding Equity
Units and convertible senior notes as of the beggaof the period, for the years ended SeptembgP@00 and 2008. However, dilutive
shares due to stock options, Equity Units and cuditke senior notes were not included in the corapanh of diluted net loss per
common share for the year ended September 30, 20@®, to do so would decrease the loss per sGaseNote 13, “Earnings per
Share” for the calculation of earnings per she

Foreign Currency Translation

Substantially all of the Company’s internatiboperations use the respective local currencyhadunctional currency. Assets and
liabilities of international entities have beemskated at period-end exchange rates, and incoohexgrenses have been translated using
average exchange rates for the period. Monetastsaaad liabilities denominated in non-functionadrencies are adjusted to reflect
period-end exchange rates. The aggregate transayzios included in net income for the years erdiggtember 30, 2010, 2009 and
2008 were $19 million, $21 million and $3 milliorspectively
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Derivative Financial Instruments

The Company has written policies and procedurasptae all financial instruments under the directof corporate treasury and rest
all derivative transactions to those intended fxtding purposes. The use of financial instrumemtsgeculative purposes is strictly
prohibited. The Company uses financial instrumémtaanage the market risk from changes in foreigihange rates, commodity
prices, stoc-based compensation liabilities and interest r:

The fair values of all derivatives are recordethe consolidated statements of financial positiThe change in a derivative’s fair value
is recorded each period in current earnings orrmotated other comprehensive income, depending atheh the derivative is
designated as part of a hedge transaction and tfisdype of hedge transaction. See Note 10, @&vie Instruments and Hedging
Activities,” and Note 11“Fair Value Measuremen” for disclosure of the Compa’s derivative instruments and hedging activit

Reclassification

Certain prior year amounts have been revisedndorm to the current year’s presentation. Reddgmennoncontrolling interests are
classified as mezzanine equity (temporary equityhé consolidated statements of financial positiefer to Note 14, “Equity and
Noncontrolling Interest” to the financial statements for further infornwetti Also, certain prior year amounts in Note 18ctime
Taxes” to the financial statements have been reclassifiedomparative purpose

New Accounting Pronouncements

In December 2009, the FASB issued Accountiram&ards Update (ASU) No. 2009-17, “Consolidatiorapfc 810): Improvements to
Financial Reporting by Enterprises Involved withridale Interest Entities.” ASU No. 2009-17 chanfe# a company determines
when an entity that is insufficiently capitalizedis not controlled through voting should be cordated. The determination of whethe
company is required to consolidate an entity iedam, among other things, an entity’s purposedasijn and a company’s ability to
direct the activities of the entity that most sfiggaintly impact the entity’s economic performanthis statement is effective for the
Company beginning in the first quarter of fiscall2qOctober 1, 2010). The adoption of this guidasaet expected to have a
significant impact on the Compe’s consolidated financial condition and results pérations

In October 2009, the FASB issued ASU No. 2089*Revenue Recognition (Topic 605): Multiple-Daiable Revenue Arrangements
— a consensus of the FASB Emerging Issues Task F@x&& No. 2009-13 establishes the accounting aparting guidance for
arrangements under which a vendor will perform ipldtrevenuegenerating activities. Specifically, this ASU adsles how to separe
deliverables and how to measure and allocate agraagt consideration to one or more units of acéognthis guidance will be
effective for the Company beginning in the firsteer of fiscal 2011 (October 1, 2010) and, wheopaed, will change the Company’s
accounting treatment for multiple-element revenuarggements on a prospective basis. The adoptithsofuidance is not expected to
have a significant impact on the Comp’s consolidated financial condition and results pérations

In December 2008, the FASB issued guidancenagnaployer’s disclosures about plan assets of ia@bbenefit pension plan. The
guidance requires enhanced transparency surroutttirigpes of plan assets and associated riskeelhas disclosure of information
about fair value measurements of plan assets.gthignce is included in ASC 715, “Compensation tirBment Benefits,” and is
effective for the Company for the fiscal year egd8eptember 30, 2010. The adoption of this guiddict@ot impact on the Compaisy’
consolidated financial condition and results ofratiens. Refer to Note 15, “Retirement Plans,”tfe@ Company’s disclosures of plan
assets

In December 2007, the FASB issued guidancegihgrthe accounting for business combinationsnnmber of areas including the
treatment of contingent consideration, preacquoisitiontingencies, transaction costs, in-processarel and development and
restructuring costs. In addition, under this guaohanges in an acquired entity’s deferred tagtassd uncertain tax positions after
the measurement period will impact income tax expefhis guidance is included in ASC 805, “Busirnésmbinations,” and was
adopted by the Company in the first quarter ofdi010 (October 1, 2009). This guidance change€timpanys accounting treatme
for business combinations on a prospective b
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In December 2007, the FASB issued guidancegihgrthe accounting and reporting for minority netgts, which are recharacterized as
noncontrolling interests and classified as a corepoof equity. This new consolidation method chanifpe accounting for transactions
with minority interest holders. This guidance isluded in ASC 810, “Consolidation,” and was adogigdhe Company in the first
quarter of fiscal 2010 (October 1, 2009). The aiopdf this guidance did not have a material immacthe Company’s consolidated
financial condition and results of operations. RédeNote 14" Equity and Noncontrolling Interes” for further discussior

In September 2006, the FASB issued guidandedifines fair value, establishes a framework feasuring fair value and expands
disclosures about fair value measurements. Thidagigie also establishes a fair value hierarchypthatitizes information used in
developing assumptions when pricing an asset bilitia This guidance is included in ASC 820, “F&falue Measurements and
Disclosures.” The Company adopted this guidanaectffe October 1, 2008. In February 2008, the FAIBRyed the effective date of
this guidance for nonfinancial assets and nonfirgfiabilities that are recognized or disclosedhr financial statements on a
nonrecurring basis to fiscal years beginning dftevember 15, 2008. The provisions of this guiddiecaonfinancial assets and
nonfinancial liabilities were effective for the Cpany in the first quarter of fiscal 2010 (Octobef@09) and will be applied
prospectively to fair value assessments such aSdngpany’s long-lived asset impairment analysegefRe Note 17, “Impairment of
Long-Lived Assets” for further discussior

2.  ACQUISITIONS

In July 2010, the Company acquired an additidféo of a power solutions Korean joint venturee Hequisition increased the
Company’s ownership percentage to 90%. The remaibd¥ was acquired by the local management team Cbhimpany paid
approximately $86 million (excluding cash acquicéé$57 million) for the additional ownership pertage and incurred approximately
$10 million of acquisition costs and related pusghaccounting adjustments. As a result of the aitepri, the Company recorded a non-
cash gain of $47 million within power solutions @guncome to adjust the Company’s existing equityestment in the Korean joint
venture to fair value. Goodwill of $51 million waescorded as part of the transaction. The purchdse gllocation may be subsequently
adjusted to reflect final valuation studi

Also during fiscal 2010, the Company compldatege acquisitions for a combined purchase prick36fmillion, of which $32 million
was paid as of September 30, 2010. The acquisitiothe aggregate were not material to the Compaognsolidated financial
statements. In connection with the acquisitions,Glompany recorded goodwill of $9 million. The phase price allocation may be
subsequently adjusted to reflect final valuatiardss.

During fiscal 2009, the Company completed facguisitions for a combined purchase price of $4Bam, of which $38 million was
paid in the twelve months ended September 30, 2008e of the acquisitions were material to the Canys consolidated financial
statements. In connection with these acquisitidresCompany recorded goodwill of $30 million, ofialin$26 million was recorded
during fiscal 2009

In July 2008, the Company formed a joint veatiar acquire the interior product assets of Plasiwmineered Products, Inc. (Plastech).
Plastech filed for bankruptcy in February 2008. Tmenpany owns 70% of the newly formed entity andade Plastech term lenders
hold the remaining noncontrolling interest. The @amy contributed cash and injection molding plaothe new entity with a fair val
of $262 million. The lenders contributed their figo receive Plastech’s interiors business obthinexchange for certain Plastech
debt. The combined equity in the new entity wasagxmately $375 million. Goodwill of $199 million as recorded as part of the
transaction. In the third quarter of fiscal 2008 Company finalized valuations associated withaitguisition and recorded a

$21 million increase to goodwil

Also in fiscal 2008, the Company completed seagditional acquisitions for a combined purchaseepof $108 million, none of which
were material to the Comparsytonsolidated financial statements. In conneatiith these acquisitions, the Company recorded gdb
of $66 million.
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3. INVENTORIES

Inventories consisted of the following (in millign:

September 3(
2010 2009

Raw materials and suppli $ 89¢ $ 71z
Work-in-process 27¢ 22¢
Finished good 743 674
FIFO inventories 1,92( 1,611
LIFO reserve (139 (90
Inventories $ 1,78¢ $ 1,521

Inventories valued using the LIFO method of accmgnivere approximately 22% of total inventorieSeptember 30, 2010 and 20
4. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Property, plant and equipment consisted of the@fahg (in millions):

September 3(
2010 2009

Buildings and improvemen $ 2,161 $ 2,231
Machinery and equipme 6,342 6,411
Construction in progres 752 42%
Land 36€ 374
Total property, plant and equipme 9,621 9,43¢
Less accumulated depreciati 5,525 5,457
Property, plant and equipme— net $ 4,09¢ $ 3,98¢

Interest costs capitalized during the fiscargeended September 30, 2010, 2009 and 2008 wnmifiibn, $16 million and

$12 million, respectively. Accumulated depreciatietated to capital leases at September 30, 20d@@d9 was $48 million and

$107 million, respectively
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5. GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwidtach of the Company’s reporting segments foffifoal years ended September 30,

2010 and 2009 were as follows (in million

Currency
September 3 Business Translation an September 3
2008 Acquisitions Other 2009
Building efficiency
North America systemr $ 51¢ $ — $ 1C $ 52t
North America servic 657 — 11 66¢
North America unitary produc 481 — 9 49(
Global workplace solutior 17¢ — 4 174
Europe 42¢ — (20 40¢
Rest of world 574 24 (12) 587
Automotive experienc
North America 1,35¢ 21 @ 1,37¢
Europe 1,21¢ 2 (10 1,211
Asia 20C — 23 22¢
Power solution: 90t — (25) 88C
Total $ 6,518 $ 47 $ (18) $ 6,542
Currency
September 3 Business Translation an September 3
2009 Acquisitions Other 2010
Building efficiency
North America systemr $ 52t $ — $ (3) $ 522
North America servic 66¢ 8 — 67€
North America unitary produc 49( — — 49(
Global workplace solutior 174 — 3 177
Europe 40¢ (29 37¢
Rest of world 587 — 8 59t
Automotive experienc
North America 1,37¢ — 2 1,37¢
Europe 1,211 5 (76) 1,14C
Asia 22¢ — 10 23¢
Power solution: 88( 51 (20) 911
Total $ 6,547 $ 64 $ (10%) $ 6,501

The Company’s other intangible assets, primariyrfibusiness acquisitions, are valued based on émdigmt appraisals and consisted of (in

millions):

September 30, 201

September 30, 20(C

Gross Gross
Carrying Accumulatec Carrying Accumulatec
Amount Amortization Net Amount Amortization Net
Amortized intangible asse
Patented technolog $ 277 $(191) $ 86 $ 30¢ $(190) $11€
Customer relationshiy 373 (70 303 34t (56) 28¢
Miscellaneous 68 (31 37 67 (25 42
Total amortized intangible asst 71€ (292) 42€ 72C (277) 44¢
Unamortized intangible asse
Trademark: 31E — 31E 297 — 297
Total intangible asse $1,03: $(292) $741 $1,015 $(277) $74¢€
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Amortization of other intangible assets for fiseal years ended September 30, 2010, 2009 ad8 &®as $43 million, $38 million and
$38 million, respectively. Excluding the impactasfy future acquisitions, the Company anticipatesréimation for fiscal 2011, 2012,
2013, 2014 and 2015 will be approximately $43 wiilli$37 million, $31 million, $29 million and $27ilfion, respectively

PRODUCT WARRANTIES

The Company offers warranties to its custordergending upon the specific product and termsettistomer purchase agreement. A
typical warranty program requires that the Compapface defective products within a specified timeiod from the date of sale. The
Company records an estimate for future warrantgteel costs based on actual historical return etdther known factors. Based on
analysis of return rates and other factors, theaaey of the Company’s warranty provisions are stéjth as necessary. While the
Company'’s warranty costs have historically beeimiwiits calculated estimates, the Company moniterszarranty activity and adjusts
its reserve estimates when it is probable thatréusvarranty costs will be different than thoseraates. Accruals related to pre-existing
warranties includes incremental warranty chargekl66 million recorded in the fourth quarter otf$2009 by the building efficiency
North America unitary products segment, of whiclé $Tillion was due to a specific product issue a2 fillion was a result of th
Company’s periodic warranty review process andyesigbf return rates. The portion of the incremeciarge due to a specific product
issue related to the anticorrosive film appliedéotain coils used in residential indoor heatirgptitating and air conditioning units as a
means to promote flow of condensation and addirtpafficiency of the unit:

The Company’s product warranty liability is oeded in the consolidated statement of financialtgm in other current liabilities if the
warranty is less than one year and in other nopatitiabilities if the warranty extends longer thare year

The changes in the carrying amount of the Cawysaotal product warranty liability for the fiskcgears ended September 30, 2010 and
2009 were as follows (in millions

Year Endec
September 3(
2010 2009

Balance at beginning of peri $ 344 $ 204
Accruals for warranties issued during the pe 26C 23¢
Accruals from acquisition 1 —
Accruals related to p-existing warranties (including changes in estimg (18) 11F
Settlements made (in cash or in kind) during théople (24%) (2149
Currency translatio (5 1
Balance at end of peric $ 337 $ 344

7.

LEASES

Certain administrative and production facibtend equipment are leased under long-term agréeniMaost leases contain renewal
options for varying periods, and certain leaseBide options to purchase the leased property dunirad the end of the lease term.
Leases generally require the Company to pay farare, taxes and maintenance of the property edeeapital assets included in net
property, plant and equipment, primarily buildiregel improvements, were $41 million and $33 milladrSeptember 30, 2010 and 2(
respectively

Other facilities and equipment are leased undangements that are accounted for as operatingslebstal rental expense for the fis
years ended September 30, 2010, 2009 and 2008388sillion, $403 million and $399 million, respeetly.
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Future minimum capital and operating lease paymamdsthe related present value of capital leasepats at September 30, 2010 w
as follows (in millions)

Capital Operating

Leases Leases
2011 $ 7 $ 29¢
2012 7 241
2013 6 171
2014 5 121
2015 5 84
After 2015 15 11F
Total minimum lease paymer 45 $ 1,02¢
Interest (11)
Present value of net minimum lease paym $ 34
8. SHORT-TERM DEBT AND CREDIT AGREEMENTS

Shor-term debt consisted of the following (in million
September 3(

2010 2009
Bank borrowings and commercial pa| $75 $65¢
Weighted average interest rate on s-term debt outstandin 6.2% 1.8%

The Company has a $2.05 billion committed fyeer credit facility to support its outstanding cuercial paper. The facility expires in
December 2011. There were no draws against the d@tednsredit facility during the fiscal years endgeptember 30, 2010 and 2009.
Average outstanding commercial paper for the figear ended September 30, 2010 was $342 milliomané was outstanding at
September 30, 2010. Average outstanding commeyajadr for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2@69$804 million and

$583 million was outstanding at September 30, 2

At September 30, 2010, the Company had threee@enominated revolving credit facilities totaliB§0 million euro with 50 million
euro expiring in May 2011, 150 million euro expgim May 2011 and 100 million euro expiring in Awg2011. In addition, the
Company has a $100 million revolving credit fagiktxpiring in December 2011. At September 30, 2@81€xe were no draws on the
revolving credit facilities

At September 30, 2009, the Company had three@enominated revolving credit facilities totaliB§0 million euro with 50 million
euro expiring in May 2010, 150 million euro expgim May 2011 and 100 million euro expiring in A2011. At September 30,
2009, there were no draws on the revolving cretiifies.
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9. LONG-TERM DEBT AND FINANCING ARRANGEMENTS

Long-term debt consisted of the following (in milliordye dates by fiscal yea

September 3(

2010 2009

Unsecured note
5.25% due in 2011 ($654 million 2010 par value,&i#dllion 2009 par value $ 65 $ 75C
6.50% due in 2012 (Convertible senior not — 2
5.8% due in 2013 ($100 million par valt 10z 10C
4.875% due in 2013 ($300 million par val 327 32t
7.7% due in 2015 ($125 million par valt 12t 12t
5.5% due in 2016 ($800 million par valt 80C 79¢
7.125% due in 2017 ($150 million par val 167 16¢
6.0% due in 2036 ($400 million par valt 39t 39t
11.50% due in 2042 (917,915 equity un 46 46
6.95% due in 2046 ($125 million par valt 12t 12t
5.00% due in 2020 ($500 million par valt 49¢ —
Capital lease obligatior 34 29
Foreigr-denominated det

Euro 27

Japanese ye — 412
Other 13 —
Gross lon-term debt 3,31« 3,30¢
Less: current portio 662 14C
Net lon¢-term debt $ 2,652 $ 3,16¢

At September 30, 2010, the Company’s euro-démated long-term debt was at fixed rates with aghd-average interest rate of
5.0%. At September 30, 2009, the Company’s eur@ihmated long-term debt was at fixed rates withedgivted-average interest rate
of 5.3% and the Compa’s yer-denominated debt was at floating rates with a weijjlaverage interest rate of 1.1

The installments of long-term debt maturingifsequent fiscal years are: 2011 — $662 milli@1,2— $5 million; 2013 —
$445 million; 2014 — $4 million; 2015 — $128 millip2016 and thereafter — $2,070 million. The Comypaiong-term debt includes
various financial covenants, none of which are etgxeto restrict future operatior

Total interest paid on both short and long-telebt for the fiscal years ended September 30,,20@ and 2008 was $181 million,
$358 million and $288 million, respectively. Ther@pany uses financial instruments to manage itsasteate exposure (see Note 10,
“Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities,”daNote 11, “Fair Value Measurements”). These imagnts affect the weighted
average interest rate of the Com’s debt and interest expen

Financing Arrangement

In fiscal 2008, the Company entered into nemmitted, revolving credit facilities totaling 35Gllon euro with 100 million euro
expiring in May 2009, 150 million euro expiring ilay 2011 and 100 million euro expiring in Augusti20In May 2009, the

100 million euro revolving facility expired and ti@®@mpany entered into a new one year committealving credit facility in the
amount of 50 million euro expiring in May 2010.Nfay 2010, the 50 million euro revolving facility gixed and the Company entered
into a new one year committed, revolving credilfigcin the amount of 50 million euro expiring May 2011. At September 30, 2010,
there were no draws on the revolving credit faesit

In January 2009, the Company retired its 2Hobilyen, three year, floating rate loan agreentieait matured. The Company used
proceeds from commercial paper issuances to rapayits due under the loan agreem
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In February 2009, the Company entered intoGarililion, three year, floating rate bilateral loagreement. The Company drew the
entire amount under the loan agreement duringdhese of the second quarter of fiscal 2009. Alsonduthe second quarter of fiscal
2009, the Company retired approximately $54 miliioprincipal amount of its $800 million fixed rat@nds that mature in

January 2011. The Company used proceeds from then$$Bon floating rate loan agreement to retire tionds

In March 2009, the Company closed concurrebtipwfferings. The Company issued $402.5 milligyeegate amount of 6.5% senior,
unsecured, fixed rate convertible notes that meemtember 30, 2012. The notes are convertiblesimioes of the Company’s common
stock at a conversion rate of 89.3855 shares ofrmmmstock per $1,000 principal amount of the natdsch is equal to a conversion
price of approximately $11.19 per share, subjeemnti-dilution adjustments. The Company also issuied million Equity Units (the
“Equity Units") each of which has a stated amount of $50 in agtgegancipal amount of $450 million. The Equity Wnconsist of (i) .
forward purchase contract obligating the holdguucchase from the Company for a price in cash 6f $& the purchase contract
settlement date of March 31, 2012, subject to esstitement, a certain number of shares of the Goip common stock and (ii) a
1/20, or 5%, undivided beneficial ownership intéirst1,000 principal amount of the Comp’s 11.5% subordinated notes due 2(

In September 2009, the Company settled thdtsesiits previously announced offer to exchargeany and all of its outstanding 6.5%
convertible senior notes due 2012 for the followtogsideration per $1,000 principal amount of cetibbke senior notes: (i) 89.3855
shares of the Company’s common stock, (ii) a castment of $120 and (iii) accrued and unpaid intesesthe convertible senior notes
to, but excluding, the settlement date, payableash. Upon settlement of the exchange offer, apmiately $400 million aggregate
principal amount of convertible senior notes wetehanged for approximately 36 million shares of owon stock and approximately
$61 million in cash ($48 million of debt conversipayments and $13 million of accrued interest paymen the convertible senior
notes). As a result of the exchange, the Comparogrézed approximately $57 million of debt converscosts within its consolidated
statement of income which is comprised of $48 wnillof debt conversion costs on the exchange af®dnailfon charge related to the
write-off of unamortized debt issuance co:

In September 2009, the Company settled thdtsesiits previously announced offer to exchangeai8,550,000 of its outstanding nine
million Equity Units in the form of Corporate Unifthe “Corporate Units”) comprised of a forward ghase contract obligating the
holder to purchase from the Company shares obitsncon stock and a 1/20, or 5%, undivided benefmiatership interest in $1,000
principal amount of the Company’s 11.50% subordidaiotes due 2042, for the following consideragien Corporate Unit: (i) 4.8579
shares of the Company’s common stock, (ii) a castment of $6.50 and (iii) a distribution consistiofgthe pro rata share of accrued
and unpaid interest on the subordinated notesuteedxluding, the settlement date, payable in ddglon settlement of the exchange
offer 8,082,085 Corporate Units (consisting of $4@i#lion aggregate principal amount of outstandirigs0% subordinated notes due
2042) were exchanged for approximately 39 millibares of common stock and approximately $65 milifooash ($52 million of debt
conversion payments and $13 million of accruedr@gepayments on the subordinated notes). As & afghe exchange, the Company
recognized approximately $54 million of debt corsien costs within its consolidated statement obime which is comprised of

$53 million of debt conversion costs on the excleaauigd a $1 million charge related to the v-off of unamortized debt issuance co:

During the quarter ended December 31, 2009Ctrapany retired its 12 billion yen, three yeawafing rate loan agreement that
matured. Additionally, the Company retired its lidan yen, three year, floating rate loan agreensahieduled to mature on January 18,
2011. The Company used cash to repay the n

During the quarter ended December 31, 2009Ctapany retired approximately $13 million in piiped amount of its fixed rate bonds
scheduled to mature on January 15, 2011. Additipnie Company repurchased 1,685 bonds ($1,685800alue) of its 6.5%
convertible senior notes scheduled to mature oe&dger 30, 2012. The Company used cash to funcefhechases

During the quarter ended March 31, 2010, then@any retired its 18 billion yen, three year, flogtrate loan agreement scheduled to
mature on January 18, 2011. The Company used caspay the note

During the quarter ended March 31, 2010, thegamy retired approximately $61 million in princigenount of its fixed rate bonds
scheduled to mature on January 15, 2011. The Compsad cash to fund the repurcha:
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10.

During the quarter ended March 31, 2010, them@any issued $500 million aggregate principal anhofis.0% senior unsecured fixed
rate notes due in fiscal 2020. Net proceeds frarigbue were used for general corporate purposksling the retirement of short-term
debt.

During the quarter ended June 30, 2010, a ¢6t200 bonds ($200,000 par value) of the Compa6ys&6 convertible senior notes
scheduled to mature on September 30, 2012, weeenged for Johnson Controls, Inc. common st

During the quarter ended June 30, 2010, thegaomretired approximately $18 million in princigghount of its fixed rate bonds
scheduled to mature on January 15, 2011. The Compsad cash to fund the repurcha:

During the quarter ended September 30, 2080Cthmpany entered into a new, $100 million commiit®volving credit facility
scheduled to mature in December 2011. At SepteBle2010, there were no draws outstand

DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS AND HEDGING ACTIVITIES

In March 2008, the FASB issued guidance entmanequired disclosures regarding derivatives auging activities, including how an
entity uses derivative instruments, how derivaingtruments and related hedged items are accotmtethd affect an entity’s financial
position, financial performance and cash flows.sTgidance is included in ASC 815, “Derivatives &tatiging,” and was effective for
the Company beginning in the second quarter 0&fig009 and is applied prospective

The Company selectively uses derivative insemits to reduce market risk associated with chaimgiseign currency, commodities,
stock-based compensation liabilities and interatgts; Under Company policy, the use of derivatisesstricted to those intended for
hedging purposes; the use of any derivative ingnirfor speculative purposes is strictly prohibitadiescription of each type of
derivative utilized by the Company to manage riskcluded in the following paragraphs. In addificafer to Note 11, “Fair Value
Measurements,” to the financial statements forrimftion related to the fair value measurementsvahchtion methods utilized by the
Company for each derivative tyf

The Company has global operations and partiefpia the foreign exchange markets to minimizeists of loss from fluctuations in
foreign currency exchange rates. The Company pilynases foreign currency exchange contracts t@bestrtain of its foreign
exchange rate exposures. The Company hedges 7988¢mf the nominal amount of each of its known iigmeexchange transactional
exposures

The Company has entered into foreign curremeyochinated debt obligations and cross-currencyeasteate swaps to selectively hedge
portions of its net investment in Japan. The cuyesffects of the debt obligations and cross-cuayenterest rate swaps are reflected in
the accumulated other comprehensive income (AO&Y@nt within shareholders’ equity attributableledinson Controls, Inc. where
they offset gains and losses recorded on the Coyhpaet investment in Japan. At September 30, 20@9Cbmpany had 37 billion ye

of foreign denominated debt designated as a nestment hedge. During the first quarter of fis€l @, the Company retired 19 billion
yen of foreign denominated debt which had previpbsien designated as a net investment hedge dhgan’s net investment in
Japan. During the second quarter of fiscal 201®bmpany retired the remaining 18 billion yenarefgn denominated debt which t
previously been designated as a net investmentehadfie Company’s net investment in Japan. Iplase, the Company entered into
three cross-currency interest rate swaps totalihgitlon yen. In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2Q205 billion yen cross-currency swap
expired and the Company replaced it with a newllbiyen cross-currency swap. There were no congsency interest rate swaps
outstanding at September 30, 20
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The Company uses commodity contracts in thenfiral derivatives market in cases where commaatite risk cannot be naturally
offset or hedged through supply base fixed pricgrects. Commodity risks are systematically manggeduant to policy guidelines.
As cash flow hedges, the effective portion of tedde gains or losses due to changes in fair vatumially recorded as a component
of AOCI and are subsequently reclassified into is@gswhen the hedged transactions, typically salepsts related to sales, occur and
affect earnings. Any ineffective portion of the geds reflected in the consolidated statementadrime. The maturities of the
commodity contracts coincide with the expected pase of the commodities. The Company had the faigwutstanding commodity
hedge contracts that hedge forecasted purch

Volume Outstanding as

Commodity Units September 30, 201 September 30, 20(
Copper Pounds 24,550,00 12,180,00
Lead Metric Tons 18,45( —
Aluminum Metric Tons 8,27¢ —

In addition, the Company selectively uses gogitaps to reduce market risk associated with iceofats stock-based compensation
plans, such as its deferred compensation planseldguity compensation liabilities increase asbmpany’s stock price increases and
decrease as the Company’s stock price decreasesntirast, the value of the swap agreement movéieinpposite direction of these
liabilities, allowing the Company to fix a portiaf the liabilities at a stated amount. As of SepienB0, 2010 and 2009, the Company
had hedged approximately 3.4 million and 2.8 millghares of its common stock, respectiv

The Company selectively uses interest rate sw@peduce market risk associated with chang@denest rates for its fixed-rate bonds.
As fair value hedges, the interest rate swaps elatied debt balances are valued under a markebagpusing publicized swap curves.
Changes in the fair value of the swap and hedgeibpoof the debt are recorded in the consolidatatement of income. In the fourth
quarter of fiscal 2009, the Company entered inteeHixed to floating interest rate swaps tota®7@0 million to hedge the coupons of
its 5.25% bonds maturing on January 15, 2011.drstttond quarter of fiscal 2010, the Company ung@1®0 million of one of the
three outstanding interest rate swaps. During ¢eersd quarter of fiscal 2010, the Company entar&da fixed to floating interest rate
swap totaling $100 million to hedge the coupont®b6i80% bond maturing November 15, 2012 and twexdfio floating swaps totaling
$300 million to hedge the coupon of its 4.875% boraturing September 15, 2013. In the fourth quartdiscal 2010, the Company
terminated all of its interest rate swa

In September 2005, the Company entered in&etforward treasury lock agreements to reduce tr&ahrisk associated with changes
in interest rates associated with the Company’gipated fixed-rate note issuance to finance tlgisition of York (cash flow hedge).
The three forward treasury lock agreements, whathdcombined notional amount of $1.3 hillion, éxeportion of the future interest
cost for 5-year, 10-year and 30-year bonds. Thevédiie of each treasury lock agreement, or thferdince between the treasury lock
reference rate and the fixed rate at time of negadnce, is amortized to interest expense ovdifehaf the respective note issuance. In
January 2006, in connection with the Comf’s debt refinancing, the three forward lock treasagseements were terminat
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The following table presents the location aaid ¥alues of derivative instruments and hedgintgvdies included in the Company’s
consolidated statements of financial position (ilioms):

Derivatives and Hedging Activitie Derivatives and Hedging Activities N
Designated as Hedging Instrume Designated as Hedging Instrume
under ASC 81! under ASC 81!
September 3 September 31 September 3 September 3
2010 2009 2010 2009
Other current asse
Foreign currency exchange derivati $ 19 $ 40 $ 8 $ 36
Commaodity derivative 14 7 — —
Other noncurrent asse
Interest rate swaf — 5 — —
Equity swag — — 104 70
Foreign currency exchange derivati 1 1 1
Total asset $ 34 $ 53 $ 11z $ 107
Current portion of lon-term debt
Net investment hedgt $ — $ 134 $ — $ —
Other current liabilitie:
Foreign currency exchange derivati 19 44 8 27
Commaodity derivative — 1 — —
Net investment hedge 17 — — —
Long-term debi
Fixed rate debt swapped to floati — 704 — —
Net investment hedgs — 27¢ — —
Other noncurrent liabilitie
Foreign currency exchange derivati 1 1 1 1
Total liabilities $ 37 $ 1162 $ 9 $ 28

The following table presents the location antbant of gains and losses on derivative instrumantsrelated hedge items included in
the Company’s consolidated statements of incoméhifiscal year ended September 30, 2010 anditieenmonths ended

September 30, 2009 and gains and losses initiatlggnized in other comprehensive income (OCI) h&boor cumulative translation
adjustment (CTA) net of tax in the consolidatedesteents of financial position (in millions

As of Year Endec Year Endec
September 30, 201 September 30, 201 September 30, 201
Amount of Gair Amount of Gair
Amount of Gair Location of Gain (Loss (Loss) Reclassifie Location of Gain (Loss (Loss) Recognized
(Loss) Recognized  Reclassified from AOC from AOCI into  Recognized in Income ¢ Income or
Derivatives in ASC 815 Cash Flc OCI on Derivative into Income (Effective Income (Effective  Derivative (Ineffective Derivative
Hedging Relationship (Effective Portion) Portion) Portion) Portion) (Ineffective Portion
Foreign currency exchange derivati $ — Cost of sale: $ (3) Cost of sale: $ —
Commaodity derivative 10 Cost of sale: (1) Cost of sale: —
Forward treasury lock 10 Net financing chargs 2 Net financing charge —
Total $ 20 $ (2 $ —
As of Nine Months Ende: Nine Months Ende:
September 30, 20C September 30, 20( September 30, 20(
Amount of Gain Amount of Gain
Amount of Gair Location of Gain (Loss (Loss) Reclassifie Location of Gain (Loss (Loss) Recognized
(Loss) Recognized  Reclassified from AOC from AOClinto  Recognized in Income ¢ Income or
Derivatives in ASC 815 Cash Flc OCI on Derivative into Income (Effective Income (Effective  Derivative (Ineffective Derivative
Hedging Relationship (Effective Portion) Portion) Portion) Portion) (Ineffective Portion
Foreign currency exchange derivati $ (3) Net sales $ (16) Net sales $ =
Commaodity derivative 3 Cost of sale: (8Q) Cost of sale: (5)
Forward treasury lock 12 Net financing charge 1 Net financing charge —
Total $ 12 $ 95) $ (5
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As of As of
September 30, 201 September 30, 20(
Amount of Gair Amount of Gain

(Loss) Recognized i (Loss) Recognized i
CTA on Outstanding CTA on Outstandin

Hedging Activities in ASC 815 N¢ Derivatives (Effectiv Derivatives (Effectiv
Investment Hedging Relationshi Portion) Portion)
Net investment hedgt $ (100 $ (28)
Total $ (10 $ (28)

For the fiscal year ended September 30, 20@ihare months ended September 30, 2009, no gaiosses were reclassified from CTA
into income for the Compa’s outstanding net investment hedc¢

Year Endec Nine Months Ende
September 30, 201 September 30, 20C
Amount of Gain (Loss  Amount of Gain (Loss

Derivatives in ASC 815 Fair Value Hedgi Location of Gain (Loss) Recognized in Incom¢ Recognized in Income ' Recognized in Income
Relationship: Derivative Derivative Derivative
Interest rate swa Net financing charge $ 10 $ 5
Fixed rate debt swapped to floati Net financing charge (7 (4)
Total $ 33 1
Year Endec Nine Months Ende:

September 30, 201 September 30, 20(
Amount of Gain (Loss Amount of Gain (Loss

Derivatives Not Designated as Hedg Location of Gain (Loss) Recognized in Income Recognized in Income : Recognized in Income

Instruments under ASC 8: Derivative Derivative Derivative
Foreign currency exchange derivati Cost of sale: $ 21¢ $ (82)
Foreign currency exchange derivati Net financing charge (185) 122
Equity swar Selling, general and administrative expel 14 28
Commaodity derivative Cost of sale: 1 4
Total $ 49 $ 66

11. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

ASC 820, “Fair Value Measurements and Discles(irdefines fair value as the price that woulddmived to sell an asset or paid to
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction beem market participants at the measurement datg.828 also establishes a three-level
fair value hierarchy that prioritizes informatiosad in developing assumptions when pricing an asdetbility as follows:

Level 1:0bservable inputs such as quoted prices in actamkets;
Level 2:Inputs, other than quoted prices in active markbtd, are observable either directly or indirectigg

Level 3:Unobservable inputs where there is little or noketidata, which requires the reporting entity teedep its own
assumptions.

ASC 820 requires the use of observable mardtgt, dvhen available, in making fair value measurgméVhen inputs used to measure
fair value fall within different levels of the harchy, the level within which the fair value measuent is categorized is based on the
lowest level input that is significant to the faalue measuremer
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Recurring Fair Value Measuremer

The following tables present the Companfgir value hierarchy for those assets and ligdslimeasured at fair value as of Septembe
2010 and 2009 (in millions

Fair Value Measurements Usir

Significant
Quoted Price Other Significant
in Active Observabl Unobservabl
Total as of Markets Inputs Inputs
September 30, 20 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Other current asse
Foreign currency exchange derivati $ 27 $ 27 $ — $ —
Commaodity derivative 14 — 14 —
Other noncurrent asse
Investments in marketable common st 31 31 — —
Equity swag 104 104 — —
Foreign currency exchange derivati 2 2 — —
Total $ 17€ $ 164 $ 14 $ —
Other current liabilitie!
Foreign currency exchange derivati $ 27 $ 27 $ — $ —
Cros«-currency interest rate swa 17 — 17 —
Other noncurrent liabilitie
Foreign currency exchange derivati 2 2 — —
Total $ 46 $ 29 $ 17 $ —
Fair Value Measurements Usir
Significant
Quoted Price Other Significant
in Active Observabl Unobservabl
Total as of Markets Inputs Inputs
September 30, 20! (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Other current asse
Foreign currency exchange derivati $ 76 $ 76 $ — $ —
Commaodity derivative 7 — 7 —
Other noncurrent asse
Interest rate swaf 5 — 5 —
Equity swag 70 70 — —
Foreign currency exchange derivati 2 2 — —
Total $ 16C $ 14¢€ $ 12 $ —
Current portion lon-term debt
Foreign currency denominated d $ 134 $ 134 $ — $ —
Other current liabilitie:
Foreign currency exchange derivati 71 71 — —
Commaodity derivative 1 — 1 —
Long-term debr
Fixed rate debt swapped to floati 704 — 704 —
Foreign currency denominated di 27¢ 27¢ — —
Other noncurrent liabilitie
Foreign currency exchange derivati 2 2 — —
Total $ 1,19(C $ 48t $ 70t $ =
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Valuation Method:

Foreign currency exchange derivatives — The amy selectively hedges anticipated transacticasatte subject to foreign exchange
rate risk primarily using foreign currency exchamgelge contracts. The foreign currency exchangeatires are valued under a mai
approach using publicized spot and forward priéesscash flow hedges, the effective portion of tedde gains or losses due to changes
in fair value are initially recorded as a compongriccumulated other comprehensive income andubysequently reclassified into
earnings when the hedged transactions occur aadta#rnings. Any ineffective portion of the hedgesflected in the consolidated
statement of income. These contracts are highgctffe in hedging the variability in future casbwis attributable to changes in
currency exchange rates at September 30, 201006081 Zhe fair value of foreign currency exchangevagives not designated as
hedging instruments under ASC 815 are recordekdrtonsolidated statement of incot

Commodity derivatives — The Company selectivedgiges anticipated transactions that are sulgjextrhmodity price risk, primarily
using commodity hedge contracts, to minimize ovgnate risk associated with the Compasnpurchases of lead, copper and alumir
The commodity derivatives are valued under a maagptoach using publicized prices, where availadfielealer quotes. As cash flow
hedges, the effective portion of the hedge gainesses due to changes in fair value are initisorded as a component of
accumulated other comprehensive income and aregubstly reclassified into earnings when the hedgetsactions, typically sales
cost related to sales, occur and affect earningg.ideffective portion of the hedge is reflectedtie consolidated statement of income.
These contracts are highly effective in hedgingvgability in future cash flows attributable tbanges in commodity price changes at
September 30, 2010 and 20

Interest rate swaps and related debt — The @ognpelectively uses interest rate swaps to rethacket risk associated with changes in
interest rates for its fixed-rate bonds. As failueshedges, the interest rate swaps and relataddktnces are valued under a market
approach using publicized swap curves. Changdwiffair value of the swap and hedged portion ofdikigt are recorded in the
consolidated statement of income. In the fourthrigmaf fiscal 2009, the Company entered into thiceed to floating interest rate swe
totaling $700 million to hedge the coupons of 836 bonds maturing on January 15, 2011. In therskquarter of fiscal 2010, the
Company terminated a $100 million portion of onehaf three interest swaps mentioned above. Duniegécond quarter of fiscal 20.
the Company entered into a fixed to floating ins¢rate swap totaling $100 million to hedge thepzms of its 5.80% bond maturing
November 15, 2012 and two fixed to floating intémase swaps totaling $300 million to hedge thepmms of its 4.875% bond maturi
September 15, 2013. In the fourth quarter of fi@€Hl0, the Company terminated all of its interag® swaps. The fair value adjustments
to the related debt will be amortized over the rieing term of the deb

Investments in marketable common stockihe Company invested in certain marketable comnmeksduring the third quarter of fis
2010. The securities are valued under a markebapprusing publicized share prices. As of SepterBde2010, the Company recorded
an unrealized gain of $3 million in accumulatedestbomprehensive income and no unrealized lossésese investment

Equity swaps — The Company selectively usestyggwaps to reduce market risk associated wittageof its stock-based
compensation plans, such as its deferred compengalins. The equity swaps are valued under a rapggoach as the fair value of
the swaps is based on the Company’s stock pritteeaeporting period date. Changes in fair valu¢henequity swaps are reflected in
the consolidated statement of income within sejlggneral and administrative expen:

Cross-currency interest rate swaps — The Comnpalectively uses cross-currency interest ratgpswa hedge the foreign currency rate
risk associated with certain of its investmentdapan. The cross-currency interest rate swapsaéwed/using market assumptions.
Changes in the market value of the swaps are teflén the foreign currency translation adjustmesimponent of accumulated other
comprehensive income where they offset gains asgkkrecorded on the Company’s net investmenpanld he Company entered
into three cross-currency swaps totaling 20 billjen during the second quarter of fiscal 2010hinfburth quarter of fiscal 2010, a

5 billion yen cross-currency swap expired and tben@any replaced it with a new 5 billion yen crossrency swap. These swaps are
designated as hedges in the Company’s net invesimé@apan. There were no cross-currency inteagéstawaps outstanding at
September 30, 200

Foreign currency denominated debt — The Combesyentered into certain foreign currency denotathdebt obligations to
selectively hedge portions of its net investmenidpan. The currency effects of the debt obligatame reflected in the foreign currency
translation adjustments component of accumulatedratomprehensive incon
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where they offset gains and losses recordabd@@ompany’s net investment in Japan. At Septerd®eg2009, the Company had

37 billion yen of foreign denominated debt desigdads a net investment hedge. During the firsttquaf fiscal 2010, the Company
retired 19 billion yen of foreign denominated delbtich had previously been designated as a nettimezg hedge in the Company’s net
investment in Japan. During the second quarteisoalf 2010, the Company retired the remaining 1®biyen of foreign denominated
debt which had previously been designated as mwestment hedge in the Company’s net investmedapan. There was no foreign
currency denominated debt outstanding at SepteB8ihet010.

12. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

Effective October 1, 2005, the Company adogt8€ 718, “Stock Compensation,” using the modifiedgpective method. The
modified prospective method requires compensatish to be recognized beginning on the effective da} for all share-based
payments granted after the effective date andofbdlf awards granted to employees prior to theatife date of ASC 718 that remain
unvested on the effective date. The cumulative ohphadopting ASC 718 was not significant to thenpany’s operating results since
the Company had previously adopted certain prowssif this guidance

The Company has three share-based compengddiogy which are described below. The compensatishcharged against income for
those plans was approximately $52 million, $27 ionlland $29 million for the fiscal years ended $egier 30, 2010, 2009 and 2008,
respectively. The total income tax benefit recogdiin the consolidated statements of income foreshased compensation
arrangements was approximately $21 million, $1liomiland $11 million for the fiscal years ended teefber 30, 2010, 2009 and 20
respectively

Prior to the adoption of ASC 718, the Compappli@d a nominal vesting approach for employeekstzased compensation awards with
retirement eligible provisions. Under the nominasting approach, the Company recognized compensatit over the vesting period
and, if the employee retired before the end ofvisting period, the Company recognized any remginirecognized compensation (

at the date of retirement. For stock-based paymssued after the adoption of ASC 718, the Com@plies a non-substantive vesting
period approach whereby expense is accelerateaidee employees that receive awards and are @ligibretire prior to the award
vesting. Had the Company applied the non-subs&ntsting period approach prior to the adoptioASE 718, an approximate

$2 million reduction of préax compensation cost would have been recognizettidoyear ended September 30, 2008. There wouwi
been no impact for the years ended September 30, &@d 2009

Stock Option Plan

The Company’s 2007 Stock Option Plan, as anmé(tthe Plan), which is shareholder-approved, perthi¢ grant of stock options to its
employees for up to approximately 41 million shavEaew common stock as of September 30, 201000 @tvards are granted with an
exercise price equal to the market price of the gam’s stock at the date of grant; those option awaeds lvetween two and three ye
after the grant date and expire ten years frongthat date (approximately 25 million shares of canmtock remained available to be
granted at September 30, 201

The fair value of each option award is estimate the date of grant using a Black-Scholes optalnation model that uses the
assumptions noted in the following table. Expecteldtilities are based on the historical volatilitiithe Company’s stock and other
factors. The Company uses historical data to estimption exercises and employee terminations withé valuation model. The
expected term of options represents the periodnaf that options granted are expected to be outistgnThe risk-free rate for periods
during the contractual life of the option is basedthe U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at iheetof grant

Year Ended September 30

2010 2009 2008
Expected life of option (year: 4.3-5.0 42-45 4.5-5.25
Risk-free interest rat 1.91%- 2.20% 2.57%-2.68% 4.06%- 4.23%
Expected volatility of the Compa’s stock 40.00% 28.00% 22.00%
Expected dividend yield on the Comp’s stock 1.73% 1.52% 1.55%
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A summary of stock option activity at September3W10, and changes for the year then ended, ismexs below

Outstanding, September 30, 2(
Granted

Exercisec

Forfeited or expirel

Outstanding, September 30, 2(

Exercisable, September 30, 2(

Weighted
Average
Option Pric
$ 23.62
24.8¢
18.9i
28.5¢
$ 24.17
$ 222

Shares
Subject tc

Option
33,244,63
5,382,101
(3,095,82)

(372,80
35,158,10

24,386,55

Weighted
Average Aggregate
Remaining Intrinsic
Contractue Value
Life (years (in millions)
5.8 $ 258
4.€ $ 217

The weighted-average grant-date fair valueptibos granted during the fiscal years ended Sdptei30, 2010, 2009 and 2008 was

$7.70, $6.68 and $9.08, respective

The total intrinsic value of options exerciskding the fiscal years ended September 30, 201@9 2nd 2008 was approximately

$33 million, $4 million and $45 million, respectlye

In conjunction with the exercise of stock opsgranted, the Company received cash paymentisddiscal years ended September 30,

2010, 2009 and 2008 of approximately $52 milliod,ndillion and $34 million, respectivel

The Company has elected to utilize the altéradtansition method for calculating the tax effeaf stock-based compensation. The
alternative transition method includes computatigadance to establish the beginning balance efiiditional paid-in capital pool
(APIC Pool) related to the tax effects of emplogtack-based compensation, and a simplified methatbtermine the subsequent
impact on the APIC Pool for employee stdzksed compensation awards that are vested andmuditsj upon adoption of ASC 718. 1
tax benefit from the exercise of stock options,ahkhs recorded in capital in excess of par valugs %7 million, $1 million and $19
million for the fiscal years ended September 3Q,&2@009 and 2008. The Company does not settléyeigsiruments granted under

shari-based payment arrangements for ¢

At September 30, 2010, the Company had appmbeiyn $26 million of total unrecognized compensatiost related to nonvested share-

based compensation arrangements granted undelatiheTlRat cost is expected to be recognized ovegighted-average period of

0.8 years
Stock Appreciation Rights (SARS)

The Plan also permits SARs to be separatelytgdao certain employees. SARs vest under the samms and conditions as option

awards; however, they are settled in cash for ifierednce between the market price on the dateefaise and the exercise price. As a

result, SARs are recorded in the Com[’s consolidated statements of financial positioa &ability until the date of exercis

The fair value of each SAR award is estimatgidgia similar method described for option awaTde fair value of each SAR award is
recalculated at the end of each reporting periatithe liability and expense adjusted based on ¢mefair value.

The assumptions used to determine the fair valibeoSAR awards at September 30, 2010 were asvsl

Expected life of SAR (year:

Risk-free interest rat

Expected volatility of the Compa’s stock
Expected dividend yield on the Comp’s stock

0.1-3.0
0.14%- 0.64%
40.00%

1.74%
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A summary of SAR activity at September 30, 201@ eimanges for the year then ended, is presented/t

Weighted
Average Aggregate
Weighted Shares Remaining Intrinsic
Average Subject tc Contractue Value
SAR Prict SAR Life (years (in millions)
Outstanding, September 30, 2( $ 24.6¢ 2,996,19
Granted 24.8i 671,33!
Exercisec 20.1: (383,45()
Forfeited or expirel 27.8( (46,970
Outstanding, September 30, 2( $ 25.2¢ 3,237,11. 6.4 $ 20
Exercisable, September 30, 2( $ 23.2( 1,909,88 5.C $ 16

In conjunction with the exercise of SARs grahtine Company made payments of $3 million, $2iamland $5 million during the fiscal

years ended September 30, 2010, 2009 and 200&ctasgty.
Restricted (Nonvested) Stocl

In fiscal year 2002, the Company adopted aicéstl stock plan that provides for the award stnieted shares of common stock or
restricted share units to certain key employeesaie/under the restricted stock plan typically &8t after two years from the grant
date and 50% after four years from the grant ddte.plan allows for different vesting terms on sfiegrants with approval by the

board of directors

A summary of the status of the Company’s notegesestricted stock awards at September 30, 204D¢changes for the fiscal year then

ended, is presented bela

Weightec Shares/Unit

Average Subject tc

Price Restriction

Nonvested, September 30, 2( $ 34.1¢ 956,50(
Granted 25.1¢ 440,45!
Vested 30.9¢ (631,500)
Nonvested, September 30, 2( $ 31.6( 765,45!

13.

At September 30, 2010, the Company had appmbeiyn $10 million of total unrecognized compensatiost related to nonvested share-
based compensation arrangements granted understnieted stock plan. That cost is expected taebegnized over a weightedkerage
period of 1.2 year:

Earnings Per Share

The Company presents both basic and dilutedregs per share (EPS) amounts. Basic EPS is ctdduby dividing net income by the
weighted average number of common shares outstquadiring the reporting period. Diluted EPS is chlted by dividing net income

by the weighted average number of common shares@ndon equivalent shares outstanding during thertimg period that are
calculated using the treasury stock method forkstmtions. The treasury stock method assumeshbatompany uses the proceeds
from the exercise of awards to repurchase comnumk st the average market price during the pefibé. assumed proceeds under the
treasury stock method include the purchase prigethie grantee will pay in the future, compensatiost for future service that the
Company has not yet recognized and any windfalbenefits that would be credited to capital in esscef par value when the award
generates a tax deduction. If there would be atfgtloresulting in a charge to capital in excesgaf value, such an amount would be a
reduction of the proceed

The Company outstanding Equity Units due 2042 and 6.5% cdiblersenior notes due 2012 are reflected in dilwarnings per sha
using the"if-converte” method. Under this method, if dilutive, the comnstock is
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assumed issued as of the beginning of the tieaggreriod and included in calculating dilutedréags per share. In addition, if dilutive,
interest expense, net of tax, related to the outiitg Equity Units and convertible senior noteadsled back to the numerator in
calculating diluted earnings per she

The following table reconciles the numerators aadaininators used to calculate basic and diluteniregs per share (in millions

Year Ended September @

2010 2009 2008

Income Available to Common Shareholder:
Basic income (loss) available to common sharehs $ 1,491 $ (339 $ 97¢
Interest expense, net of t 5 — —
Diluted income (loss) available to common shareéis $ 1,49¢ $ (339 $ 9v7¢

Weighted Average Shares Outstandini
Basic weighted average shares outstan 672.C 595.: 593.1
Effect of dilutive securities

Stock options 5.6 — 8.3
Equity units 4.5 — —
Convertible senior note 0.1 — —
Diluted weighted average shares outstan 682.5 595.: 601.
Antidilutive Securities
Options to purchase common she 0.8 2.5 1.1

For the fiscal year ended September 30, 20@Xatal weighted average of potential dilutiverssalue to stock options, Equity Units
and the convertible senior notes was 47.8 millidowever, these items were not included in the cdatfmn of diluted net loss per
common share for the fiscal year ended Septemhe&t(®®, since to do so would decrease the losshzee.

During each of the three months ended SepteBthe2010 and 2009, the Company declared a dividé$d.13 per common share, and
during each of the twelve months ended Septemhe2(® and 2009, the Company declared four qusrtividends totaling $0.52 per
common share. The Company paid all dividends inmbath subsequent to the end of each fiscal qui

14. EQUITY AND NONCONTROLLING INTERESTS

In December 2007, the FASB issued guidancegihgrthe accounting and reporting for minority net&ts, which are recharacterized as
noncontrolling interests and classified as a corepoof equity or as redeemable noncontrolling ety and classified as mezzanine
equity (temporary equity). In addition, the guidarmhanges the presentation and accounting for momodiing interests, and requires
that equity presented in the consolidated finarst@lements include amounts attributable to Joh@sontrols, Inc. shareholders and the
noncontrolling interests. This guidance is includeASC 810, Consolidatior” and was effective for the Company October 1, 21
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The following schedules present changes inaatated equity attributable to Johnson Contrais, Bnd noncontrolling interests (in

millions):
Equity Attributable tt  Equity Attributable t
Johnson Controls Noncontrolling
Inc. Interests Total Equity
At September 30, 20C $ 8,87 $ 88 $ 8,961
Total comprehensive incom
Net income 97¢ 25 1,004
Foreign currency translation adjustme 17C 8 17¢
Realized and unrealized losses on derival (93 — (93
Employee retirement plar (18¢) — (18¢)
Other comprehensive income (lo (117) 8 (109
Comprehensive incorr 86¢ 33 901
Other changes in equit
Adjustment to initially adopt FIN 48, net of t (68) — (68)
Cash dividend— common stock ($0.52 per sha (309 — (309
Dividends attributable to noncontrolling intere — (34) (34
Redemption value adjustment attributable to redé&én@oncontrolling interes 16 — 16
Other, including options exercis 26 — 26
At September 30, 20C 9,40¢ 87 9,49:
Total comprehensive income (los
Net income (loss (339 16 (322
Foreign currency translation adjustme (1949 3 (197
Realized and unrealized gains on derivat 41 — 41
Employee retirement plat (32€) — (32€)
Other comprehensive income (lo (479 3 (47¢€)
Comprehensive income (los (817) 19 (79¢)
Other changes in equit
Cash dividend— common stock ($0.52 per sha (309 — (309
Dividends attributable to noncontrolling intere — (23 (23
Debt conversiol 804 — 804
Redemption value adjustment attributable to redé&éen@oncontrolling interes (20 — (20
Other, including options exercis 36 1 37
At September 30, 20C 9,10(¢ 84 9,18¢
Total comprehensive incom
Net income 1,491 43 1,53¢
Foreign currency translation adjustme (11%) — (11%)
Realized and unrealized gains on derivat 13 — 13
Unrealized gains on marketable common s 3 — 3
Employee retirement plat (170 — (170
Other comprehensive lo (269) — (269)
Comprehensive incorr 1,22: 43 1,268
Other changes in equit
Cash dividend— common stock ($0.52 per sha (350 — (350
Dividends attributable to noncontrolling intere — (22 (22
Redemption value adjustment attributable to redéén@oncontrolling interes 9 — 9
Other, including options exercis 90 1 91
At September 30, 201 $ 10,07. $ 10€ $ 10,17:
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The components of accumulated other comprehensogarie were as follows (in millions, net of ta

September 3(

2010 2009
Foreign currency translation adjustme $ 748 $ 85¢
Realized and unrealized gains on derivat 20 7
Unrealized gains on marketable common s 3 —
Employee retirement plar (849 (673
Accumulated other comprehensive income (li $ (1) $ 192

The Company consolidates certain subsidiani@ghich the noncontrolling interest party has wittiieir control the right to require the
Company to redeem all or a portion of its intefeghe subsidiary. The redeemable noncontrollingriests are reported at their
estimated redemption value. Any adjustment to #akemption value impacts retained earnings but doesnpact net income.
Redeemable noncontrolling interests which are ne@dédée only upon future events, the occurrence a€hvis not currently probable,
are recorded at carrying vall

The following schedules present changes in theeradble noncontrolling interests (in million

Year Endec Year Endec Year Endec

September 30, 20. September 30, 201 September 30, 20!

Beginning balance, September $ 15 $ 167 $ 74
Net income (loss 32 (28) (@D}
Foreign currency translation adjustme 1 2 1
Increase in noncontrolling interest sh 17 — 112
Dividends attributable to noncontrolling intere — 2 3
Redemption value adjustme (9) 20 (16)
Ending balance, September $ 19€ $ 15t $ 167

15. RETIREMENT PLANS
Pension Benefits

The Company has non-contributory defined bepefinsion plans covering most U.S. and certainldéh-employees. The benefits
provided are primarily based on years of serviakarerage compensation or a monthly retirementfiemaount. Effective January 1,
2006, certain of the Company’s U.S. pension plaesevamended to prohibit new participants from émgethe plans. Effective
September 30, 2009, active participants will camito accrue benefits under the amended plansetémber 31, 2014. Funding for
U.S. pension plans equals or exceeds the minimgoirements of the Employee Retirement Income ScAgt of 1974. Funding for
non-U.S. plans observes the local legal and reglditmits. Also, the Company makes contributioasihion-trusteed pension funds for
construction and service persont

The Company’s investment policies employ arre@gh whereby a mix of equities and fixed incomegiments are used to maximize
the long-term return of plan assets for a prudewellof risk. The investment portfolio primarilyrmains a diversified blend of equity
and fixed income investments. Equity investmengsdiversified across domestic and non-domestikstas well as growth, value and
small to large capitalizations. Fixed income inweestits include corporate and government issues,shitht-, mid- and long-term
maturities, with a focus on investment grade whertlpased. Investment and market risks are measmadhonitored on an ongoing
basis through regular investment portfolio reviearsual liability measurements and periodic asabtlity studies. The majority of the
real estate component of the portfolio is investea diversified portfolio of high-quality, operag properties with cash yields greater
than the targeted appreciation. Investments inratlternative asset classes, including hedge fandscommodities, are made via
mutual funds to diversify the expected investmetims relative to the equity and fixed income Btagents. As a result of our
diversification strategies, there are no signiftcancentrations of risk within the portfolio ofviestments

The Company’s actual asset allocations arméwith target allocations. The Company rebalamsset allocations as appropriate, in
order to stay within a range of allocation for easket categor
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The Compan’s pension plan asset allocations by asset catdégofigcal 2009 are shown belo

2009

Equity securities

U.S. plans 62%

Non-U.S. plans 50%
Fixed income securitie:

U.S. plans 27%

Non-U.S. plans 42%
Real estate/othe

U.S. plans 10%

Non-U.S. plans 7%
Cash/liquidity:

U.S. plans 1%

Non-U.S. plans 1%

In December 2008, the FASB issued guidancenaengployer’s disclosures about plan assets of iaebbenefit pension plan. The
guidance requires enhanced transparency surroutttirigpes of plan assets and associated riskeelaas disclosure of information
about fair value measurements of plan assets.gthignce is included in ASC 715, “Compensation —tirBaent Benefits,is effective
for the Company for fiscal 2010 and is applied pezgively.
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The Compan’s pension plan assets at September 30, 2010, bycadsegory, are as follows (in million:

Fair Value Measurements Usir

Significant
Quoted Price Other Significant
in Active Observabl Unobservabl
Total as of Markets Inputs Inputs
Asset Categor September 30, 20 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
U.S. Pensior
Cash $ 52 $ 52 $ — $ —
Equity Securities
Large-Cap 77¢ 77¢ — —
Smal-Cap 287 287 — —
Internationa— Developec 50t 50t — —
Fixed Income Securities
Governmen 147 147 — —
Corporate/Othe 46¢ 46¢ — —
Hedge Funds 91 — — 91
Real Estate 141 — — 141
Total $ 2,471 $ 2,23¢ $ — $ 23z
Non-U.S. Pensior
Cash $ 28 $ 28 $ — $ —
Equity Securities
Large-Cap 97 97 — —
Internationa— Developec 452 452 — —
Internationa— Emerging 13 13 — —
Fixed Income Securities
Governmen 13z 13z — —
Corporate/Othe 412 412 — —
Commaodities 11 11 — —
Real Estate 71 — — 71
Total $ 1,21¢ $  1,14F $ — $ 71

Following is a description of the valuation methlmdpes used for assets measured at fair vi
Cash:The fair value of cash is valued at cc

Equity SecuritiesThe fair value of equity securities is determingdrmirect quoted market prices. The value of asketd in separate
accounts is not published, but the investment menrsagport daily the underlying holdings. The uhdeg holdings are direct quoted
market prices on regulated financial exchan

Fixed Income Securitie The fair value of fixed income securities is deteved by indirect quoted market prices. The valuagsets
held in separate accounts is not published, buhtrestment managers report daily the underlyinidihgs. The underlying holdings are
direct quoted market prices on regulated finanexahanges

CommoditiesThe fair value of the commodities is determinedjbgted market prices of the underlying holdingsegulated financial
exchanges
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Hedge FundsThe fair value of hedge funds is accounted for loystodian. The custodian obtains valuations froehenlying managers
based on market quotes for the most liquid assetaliernative methods for assets that do not kaffecient trading activity to derive
prices. The Company and custodian review the matbedd by the underlying managers to value thesasdee Company believes this
is an appropriate methodology to obtain the falugaf these asset

Real EstateThe fair value of investment in real estate is gdlby the fund managers. The fund managers vatueti estate
investments via independent third-party appraisala periodic basis. Assumptions used to revale@tbperties are updated every
quarter. The Company believes this is an appraprethodology to obtain the fair value of thesetss$-or the component of the real
estate portfolio under development, the investmardgsarried at cost until they are completed aded by a thir-party appraisel

The methods described above may produce adhie calculation that may not be indicative of regtlizable value or reflective of
future fair values. Furthermore, while the Comphgeijeves its valuation methods are appropriatecamdistent with other market
participants, the use of different methodologieassumptions to determine the fair value of ceffiagncial instruments could result in
a different fair value measurement at the reportiatg.

The following sets forth a summary of changethe fair value of assets measured using sigmifisaobservable inputs (Level 3) (in

millions):

Total Hedge Func Real Estat
U.S. Pension
Asset Value as of September 30, 2! $ 174 $ 86 $ 88
Additions 59 — 59
Redemption: 9 — 9
Realized los: (5) — (5)
Unrealized gait 13 5 8
Asset Value as of September 30, 2! $ 23¢ $ 91 $ 141
Non-U.S. Pensior
Asset Value as of September 30, 2! $ 64 $ — $ 64
Unrealized gait 7 — 7
Asset Value as of September 30, 2! $ 7 $ = $ 71

The expected return on plan assets is bastitedBompany’s expectation of the lotegm average rate of return of the capital marke
which the plans invest. The average market retaresdjusted, where appropriate, for active asaetigement returns. The expected
return reflects the investment policy target assigtand considers the historical returns earne@émwh asset catego!

For pension plans with accumulated benefitgattions (ABO) that exceed plan assets, the prajdmaefit obligation (PBO), ABO and
fair value of plan assets of those plans were $8dlion, $3,804 million and $3,169 million, respively, as of September 30, 2010
and $3,316 million, $3,111 million and $2,219 naiili respectively, as of September 30, 2(
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2011
2012
2013
2014
2015

201¢-

In fiscal 2010, total employer and employeetdbations to the defined benefit pension plansen&$81 million, of which $509 million
were voluntary contributions made by the Compare Tompany expects to contribute approximately $2Bidon in cash to its
defined benefit pension plans in fiscal year 2(Prbjected benefit payments from the plans as ofeBaper 30, 2010 are estimated as
follows (in millions):

$ 24C

21z

22z

231

247

2020 1,33¢
Savings and Investment Plans

The Company sponsors various defined contdwavings plans primarily in the U.S. that allawpdoyees to contribute a portion of
their pre-tax and/or after-tax income in accordanith plan specified guidelines. Under specifiedditions, the Company will
contribute to certain savings plans based on th@ames’ eligible pay and/or will match a percertad the employee contributions up
to certain limits. Matching contributions chargedeikpense amounted to $42 million, $35 million &38 million for the fiscal years
ended 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectiv

Postretirement Health and Other Benefits

The Company provides certain health care dadisurance benefits for eligible retirees andrtdependents primarily in the U.S. Most
non-U.S. employees are covered by government speshgoograms, and the cost to the Company is gatfgiant. The U.S. benefits
are paid as incurred. No change in the Com'’s practice of funding these benefits on a-as-you-go basis is anticipate

Eligibility for coverage is based on meetingtaim years of service and retirement age quatifios. These benefits may be subject to
deductibles, co-payment provisions and other litioites, and the Company has reserved the right wifijnthese benefits. Effective
January 31, 1994, the Company modified certairrigalglans to place a limit on the Company’s cdstiture annual retiree medical
benefits at no more than 150% of the 1993 ¢

The September 30, 2010 accumulated postretitebenefit obligation (APBO) for both pre-65 andsp65 years of age employees was
determined using assumed medical care cost treesl 08 7.5% and 8% for U.S. plans and non-U.S.glespectively, decreasing one
half percent each year to an ultimate rate of 5% mescription drug trend rates of 9.5% and 8%f@. plans and non-U.S. plans,
respectively, decreasing one half percent eachtgean ultimate rate of 6% and 5% for U.S. pland mon-U.S. plans, respectively. The
September 30, 2009 APBO for both pre-65 and poste@®s of age employees was determined using miedigacost trend rates of
8.0% and 8.5% for U.S. plans and non-U.S. plarspeetively, decreasing one half percent each yean ultimate rate of 5% and
prescription drug trend rates of 10.0% and 8.5%%@&. plans and non-U.S. plans, respectively, desing one half percent each year to
an ultimate rate of 6% and 5% for U.S. plans ant-dds. plans, respectively. The health care cesittiassumption does not have a
significant effect on the amounts reported. Tosiitate, a one percentage point increase in theresshealth care cost trend rate would
have increased the accumulated benefit obligatyodlbmillion and $3 million for U.S. plans and nthS. plans, respectively, at
September 30, 2010 and the sum of the serviceraekst costs in fiscal year 2010 by less than #lilom A one percentage point
decrease in the assumed health care cost trendoatd have a negligible impact on the accumuléieakefit obligation and service and
interest costs for U.S. plans and decreased theradated benefit obligation of n-U.S. plans by $3 million at September 30, 2(
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The Company expects to contribute approximei@By million in cash to its postretirement heatftidd @ther benefit plans in fiscal year
2011. Projected benefit payments from the pland &eptember 30, 2010 are estimated as followm{iiions):

2011 $ 23
2012 23
2013 23
2014 24
2015 24
201¢-2020 101

In December 2003, the U.S. Congress enactebl¢uécare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Moietion Act of 2003 (Act) for
employers sponsoring postretirement health caresptzat provide prescription drug benefits. The iAtiboduces a prescription drug
benefit under Medicare as well as a federal subsidponsors of retiree health care benefit plaogiging a benefit that is at least
actuarially equivalent to Medicare Part D.1. Untiher Act, the Medicare subsidy amount is receiveeady by the plan sponsor and not
the related plan. Further, the plan sponsor iseguired to use the subsidy amount to fund postragnt benefits and may use the
subsidy for any valid business purpose. Projeatbdidy receipts are estimated to be approximatglmilion per year over the next ten

years.
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The table that follows contains the ABO andregliations of the changes in the PBO, the changetan assets and the funded status

(in millions):
Pension Benefit Postretiremen
U.S. Plang Non-U.S. Plans Health and Other Benefi

September 3( 2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009
Accumulated Benefit Obligation $ 2658 $ 2358 $ 1622 $142¢ $ — $ —
Change in Projected Benefit Obligatior
Projected benefit obligation at beginning of y 2,512 2,17¢ 1,521 1,33¢ 27t 258
Service cos 67 66 38 32 4 4
Interest cos 152 15¢ 68 65 14 18
Plan participant contributior — — 5 5 7 —
Acquisitions — — 1 9 — —
Divestitures — — — (D] — —
Plan transfer — — — 39 — —
Actuarial loss 10€ 43¢ 14¢€ 12¢ 23 41
Amendments made during the yi — 1 3 (14) (44 (13
Benefits paic (120 (99 (68) (55) (26) (29)
Estimated subsidy receivi — — — — 2 2
Special termination benefi — — — 1 — —
Curtailment gair — (224) 5) 4 — —
Other — ©)] 6 — — —
Currency translation adjustme — — 16 (18) 1 (1)
Projected benefit obligation at end of y: $ 2,71i $ 2,51 $ 1,72¢ $ 1,521 $ 25¢€ $ 27t
Change in Plan Asset:
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of \ $187 $ 1772 $108 $ 9 $ — $ —
Actual return on plan asse 151 8 64 57 — —
Plan transfer — — — 38 — —
Employer and employee contributic 573 18¢ 10¢ 10t 26 29
Benefits paic (120 (99 (68) (55) (26) (29)
Other — () 4 — — —
Currency translation adjustme — — 28 (25) — —
Fair value of plan assets at end of y $ 2,471 $ 1,86 $ 1,21¢ $ 1,08( $ — $  —
Funded statu $ (2460 $ (645 $ (B0 $ (441) $ (2560 $ (279
Amounts recognized in the statement of financialitpan

consist of.

Prepaid benefit co: $ 7 $ 4 $ 17 $ 23 $ — $ —

Accrued benefit liability (25%) (649) (52€) (4649) (25€) (275)
Net amount recognize $ (2460 $ (64F) $ (B0 $ (44) $ (256 B (27
Weighted Average Assumptions (1
Discount rate 5.5(% 6.25% 4.0(% 4.7%% 5.5(% 6.25%
Rate of compensation incree 3.2(% 4.2(% 3.0(% 3.2(% NA NA

() Plan assets and obligations are determined basadSeptember 30 measurement date at SeptembedBZ3Dald 200¢€
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The amounts in accumulated other comprehemstgeme on the consolidated statement of finanaaitiwn, exclusive of tax impacts,
that have not yet been recognized as componemist gferiodic benefit cost at September 30, 201@sufellows (in millions)

Postretiremen

Pensior Health and Othe
Benefits Benefits
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (inco
Net transition obligatiol $ 3 $ —
Net actuarial los 1,33¢ 22
Net prior service cost (cred 3 (62)
Total $1,34¢ $ (39

The amounts in accumulated other comprehemstome expected to be recognized as componentst giemiodic benefit cost over the
next fiscal year are shown below (in million

Postretiremen

Pensior Health and Othe
Benefits Benefits
Amortization of:
Net actuarial los $ 71 $ 2
Net prior service cost (cred 2 an
Total $ 73 $ (15
The table that follows contains the componentsedfperiodic benefit cost (in millions
Pension Benefit Postretiremen
U.S. Plans Non-U.S. Plans Health and Other Benefi
Year ended September 2010 2009 2008 2010 2009 2008 2010 2009 2008
Components of Nel
Periodic Benefit Cost:
Service cos $ 67 $ 66 $ 79 $ 38 $ 32 $ 38 $ 4 $ 4 $ 5
Interest cos 152 15¢ 14C 68 65 73 14 18 17
Expected return on plan ass 179 a74) (16€) (64) (55) (67) — — —
Amortization of net actuarial loss (ga 28 4 6 11 3 6 — 3 2
Amortization of prior service cost
(credit) 1 1 2 — — — (W) @) )
Special termination benefi — — — — 1 2 — — —
Curtailment loss (gair — 4 4 D ()] — — — —
Settlement los — — — 2 — — — — —
Divestures gail — — — — @ — — — —
Currency translation adjustme — — — 2 — (2) — — —
Net periodic benefit co: $ 69 $ 60 $ 65 $ 56 $ 43 $ 51 §$ 1 $ 12 $ 13
Expense Assumptions:
Discount rate 6.25% 7.5(% 6.5(% 4.75% 5.5(% 4.9(% 6.25% 7.5(% 6.5(%
Expected return on plan ass 8.5(% 8.5(% 8.5(% 6.0(% 6.0(% 6.1(% NA NA NA
Rate of compensation incree 4.2(% 4.2(% 4.3(% 3.2(% 3.0(% 3.0(% NA NA NA
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16. RESTRUCTURING COSTS

To better align the Company’s cost structurthgiobal automotive market conditions, the Compamymitted to a restructuring plan
(2009 Plan) in the second quarter of fiscal 2009 r@eorded a $230 million restructuring charge. fidstructuring charge related to cost
reduction initiatives in the Comparsyautomotive experience, building efficiency ansvposolutions businesses and included worki
reductions and plant consolidations. The Compamgets to substantially complete the 2009 Plan byetid of 2011. The automotive-
related restructuring actions targeted excess naatwring capacity resulting from lower industry gwation in the European, North
American and Japanese automotive markets. Theicasting actions in building efficiency were printgin Europe where the
Company is centralizing certain functions and rabaing its resources to target the geographic neavkigh the greatest potential
growth. Power solutions actions focused on optingZts manufacturing capacity as a result of loaxegrall demand for original
equipment batteries resulting from lower vehicledurction levels

Since the announcement of the 2009 Plan in M2009, the Company has experienced lower emplegeerance and termination
benefit cash payouts than previously calculatecéomotive experience — Europe of approximately 8ifllion, of which $42 million
was identified in the current fiscal year, duededrable severance negotiations and the decisionttolose previously planned plants
response to increased customer demand. The unddrepthe initial 2009 Plan reserves is commitietié utilized for additional costs
to be incurred as part of power solutions, autoneotixperience — Europe and automotive experiendéorth America’s additional
cost reduction initiatives. The planned workforeductions disclosed for the 2009 Plan have beeatagdor the Company'’s revised
actions.

The following table summarizes the changesién@ompany’s 2009 Plan reserve, included withiroturrent liabilities in the
consolidated statements of financial position (ilioms):

Employee
Severance at
Termination Fixed Asse Currency
Benefits Impairmen Other Translatiol Total
Original reserve $ 182 $ 46 $ 2 $ — $ 23C
Noncash adjustmer— underspent (28) — — — (28)
Noncash adjustmer— revised action 28 — — — 28
Utilized — cash (42 — — — (42
Utilized — noncast — (46) — 8 (38)
Balance at September 30, 2( $ 14C $ — $ 2 $ 8 $ 15C
Noncash adjustmer— underspent (42 — — — (42
Noncash adjustmer— revised action 20 — — — 20
Utilized — cash (64) — — — (64)
Utilized — noncast — — (2 (6) (8)
Balance at September 30, 2( $ 54 $ — $ — $ 2 $ 56

To better align the Comparsytesources with its growth strategies while reglgithe cost structure of its global operations,Goenpany
committed to a restructuring plan (2008 Plan) mfiburth quarter of fiscal 2008 and recorded a $#8bon restructuring charge. The
restructuring charge related to cost reductionatiites in its automotive experience, building @ffncy and power solutions businesses
and included workforce reductions and plant codstions. The Company expects to substantially cetaghe 2008 Plan by the end of
2011. The automotive-related restructuring wagaponse to the fundamentals of the European arntth Raterican automotive
markets. The actions targeted reductions in thegamy's cost base by decreasing excess manufactaperity due to lower industry
production and the continued movement of vehictalpction to low-cost countries, especially in Ew@ophe restructuring actions in
building efficiency were primarily in Europe whettee Company centralized certain functions and esizad its resources to target the
geographic markets with the greatest potential gtoRower solutions actions focused on optimizisgegional manufacturing
capacity.

Since the announcement of the 2008 Plan ineGdmr 2008, the Company has experienced lower gepleeverance and termination
benefit cash payouts than previously calculatedéniding efficiency — Europe and automotive expade —Europe of approximatel
$95 million, of which $32 million was identified e curren
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fiscal year, due to favorable severance negotistimalividuals transferred to open positions wittiia Company and changes in cost
reduction actions from plant consolidation to dowimg of operations. The underspend of the inR@08 Plan is committed to be
utilized for similar additional restructuring aati® The underspend experienced by building effayier- Europe is committed to be
utilized for workforce reductions and plant condations in building efficiency — Europe. The ungemsd experienced by automotive
experience — Europe is committed to be utilizedafdditional plant consolidations for automotive estpnce — North America and
workforce reductions in building efficiency — EumpAlso, in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2010, thempany sold one plant in
automotive experience — North America it had plahtteclose as a part of the 2008 Plan. The logh®iale of the plant of

$12 million was offset by a decrease in the Com{zargstructuring reserve for employee severanceemaination benefits related to
the planned workforce reductions which will no lengccur. The planned workforce reductions disaddse the 2008 Plan have been
updated for the Company’s revised actions.

The following table summarizes the changes in tam@any’s 2008 Plan reserve, included within otherent liabilities in the
consolidated statements of financial position (ilioms):

Employee
Severance at
Termination Fixed Asse Currency
Benefits Impairmen Other Translatiol Total
Balance at September 30, 2( $ 43t $ — $ 9 $ — $ 444
Noncash adjustmer— underspent (63) — — — (63)
Noncash adjustmer— revised action 63 — — — 63
Utilized — cash (220 — — — (220)
Utilized — noncast — — 9 (18) (27)
Balance at September 30, 2( $ 21F $ — $ — $ (19 $ 197
Noncash adjustmer— underspent (32 — — — (32
Noncash adjustmer— revised action 23 19 12 — 54
Utilized — cash (98) — — — (98)
Utilized — noncast — (19 (12 (10 (41)
Balance at September 30, 2( $ 10€ $ — $ — $ (28 $ 80

The 2008 and 2009 Plans included workforce redostaf approximately 20,400 employees (9,500 foormative experience — North
America, 5,200 for automotive experience — Eurdpg00 for automotive experience — Asia, 400 folding efficiency — North
America, 2,700 for building efficiency — Europe,0rfor building efficiency — rest of world, and 86fr power solutions).
Restructuring charges associated with employeaaege and termination benefits are paid over thiers@ce period granted to each
employee and on a lump sum basis when requiredcordance with individual severance agreementaf/September 30, 2010,
approximately 16,400 of the employees have beearaggg from the Company pursuant to the 2008 af@ Plans. In addition, the
2008 and 2009 Plans included 33 plant closuresofldutomotive experience — North America, 11 fotcemotive experience —
Europe, 3 for automotive experience — Asia, 1 faitding efficiency — North America, 1 for buildingfficiency —rest of world, and
for power solutions). As of September 30, 2010pPBe 33 plants have been closed. The restrucfwhiarge for the impairment of
long-lived assets associated with the plant claswas determined using fair value based on a digediwcash flow analysis.

Company management closely monitors its overall stvscture and continually analyzes each of itsiesses for opportunities to
consolidate current operations, improve operatifigiencies and locate facilities in low cost coti@s in close proximity to customers.
This ongoing analysis includes a review of its nfanturing, engineering and purchasing operatiosisyall as the overall global
footprint for all its businesses. Because of thpdrtance of new vehicle sales by major automotie@ufacturers to operations, the
Company is affected by the general business comditin this industry. Future adverse developmentle automotive industry could
impact the Company’s liquidity position, lead topairment charges and/or require additional reatrirgg of its operations.
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17.

IMPAIRMENT OF LONG -LIVED ASSETS

The Company reviews long-lived assets for immpant whenever events or changes in circumstandésate that the asset’s carrying
amount may not be recoverable. The Company condadting-lived asset impairment analyses in acaocd with ASC 360-10-15,
“Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets.” AS60-10-15 requires the Company to group assetéiaritities at the lowest level
for which identifiable cash flows are largely in@eplent of the cash flows of other assets and iliglsiland evaluate the asset group
against the sum of the undiscounted future castsfl¢f the undiscounted cash flows do not indi¢atecarrying amount of the asset
group is recoverable, an impairment charge is nredsas the amount by which the carrying amountefasset group exceeds its fair
value based on discounted cash flow analysis otaigais.

In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2010, the Compaoncluded it had a triggering event requiringeasment of impairment of its long-lived
assets due to the planned relocation of a pladaan in the automotive experience Asia segmend. rasult, the Company reviewed its
long-lived assets for impairment and recorded anhrillion impairment charge within cost of saleglie fourth quarter of fiscal 2010
related to the Asia automotive experience segnidrd.impairment was measured under a market apprddicing an appraisal. The
inputs utilized in the analysis are classified agél 3 inputs within the fair value hierarchy a$imed in ASC 820, “Fair Value
Measurements and Disclosu”

At September 30, 2010, the Company concludditiihot have any other triggering events requiasgessment of impairment of its
long-lived assets

In the third quarter of fiscal 2010, the Companncluded it had a triggering event requiringeassment of impairment of its long-lived
assets due to the planned relocation of its heatiraaduilding in Japan in the automotive expergeAsia segment. As a result, the
Company reviewed its long-lived assets for impamtrend recorded an $11 million impairment chargéiwiselling, general and
administrative expenses in the third quarter afdi010 related to the Asia automotive experiesgggnent. The impairment was
measured under a market approach utilizing an &ggbrd he inputs utilized in thenalysis are classified as Level 3 inputs withe fiar
value hierarchy as defined in ASC 8" Fair Value Measurements and Disclosl”

In the second quarter of fiscal 2010, the Camypaoncluded it had a triggering event requiringeasment of impairment of its long-
lived assets due to planned plant closures foNitith America automotive experience segment. Thlsres are a result of the
Company’s revised restructuring actions to the 2Pa#. Refer to Note 16, “Restructuring Costs,thie accompanying financial
statements for further information regarding th@@@lan. As a result, the Company reviewed itsiboreg assets for impairment and
recorded a $19 million impairment charge in theoselcquarter of fiscal 2010 related to the North Aiceeautomotive experience
segment. This impairment charge was offset by se@se in the Company’s restructuring reserve rlmi¢he 2008 Plan due to lower
employee severance and termination benefit castm@iatg than previously expected, as discussed furtiidote 16. The impairment
was measured under an income approach utilizirecémted discounted cash flows for fiscal 2010 tind2014 to determine the fair
value of the impaired assets. This method is ctargisvith the method the Company has employedior periods to value other long-
lived assets. The inputs utilized in the discourttesh flow analysis are classified as Level 3 igpuithin the fair value hierarchy as
defined in ASC 82C"Fair Value Measurements and Disclosl”

In the third quarter of fiscal 2009, the Companncluded it had a triggering event requiringeassent of impairment of its long-lived
assets in light of the restructuring plans in N@ktherica announced by Chrysler LLC (Chrysler) areh&al Motors Corporation

(GM) during the quarter as part of their bankruptgrganization plans. As a result, the Companievexd its long-lived assets relating
to the Chrysler and GM platforms within the NortmArica automotive experience segment and deternmioéchpairment existet

In the second quarter of fiscal 2009, the Camypaoncluded it had a triggering event requiringessment of impairment of its long-
lived assets in conjunction with its restructurpign announced in March 2009. As a result, the Gowpeviewed its long-lived assets
associated with the plant closures for impairmext @corded a $46 million impairment charge ingbeond quarter of fiscal 2009, of
which $25 million related to the North America autative experience segment, $16 million relatechtoAsia automotive experience
segment and $5 million related to the Europe autm@xperience segment. Refer to Note 16, “Resirirg Costs,” to the
accompanying financial statements for further infation regarding the 2009 restructuring plan. Addally, at March 31, 2009, in
conjunction with the preparation of its financitdtements, the Company concluded it had a triggexirent requiring assessment of its
other long-lived assets within the Europe autonséixperience segment due to significant declin&uimpean automotive sales
volume. As a result, the Company reviewed its olhieg-lived
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18.

assets within the Europe automotive experience sagfor impairment and determined no additionalamment existed

At December 31, 2008, in conjunction with thregaration of its financial statements, the Compzomcluded it had a triggering event
requiring assessment of impairment of its longdiessets due to the significant declines in NortieAican and European automotive
sales volumes. As a result, the Company revieveediitg-lived assets for impairment and recorded20$nillion impairment charge
within cost of sales in the first quarter of fis@al09, of which $77 million related to the North Arita automotive experience segment
and $33 million related to the Europe automotivpezience segmer

The Company reviews its equity investmentdrfgrairment whenever there is a loss in value dhaastment which is other than a
temporary decline. The Company conducts its eqoitgstment impairment analyses in accordance W8 823, “Investments-Equity
Method and Joint Ventures.” ASC 323 requires thenffany to record an impairment charge for a decrieegalue of an investment
when the decline in the investment is considerduktother than temporar

At December 31, 2008, in conjunction with thiegaration of its financial statements, the Compzomncluded it had a triggering event
requiring assessment of impairment of its equitiegiment in a 48%-owned joint venture with U.S.cainditioning Distributors, Inc.
(U.S. Air) due to the significant decline in Nomerican residential housing construction startsictv had significantly impacted the
financial results of the equity investment. The @amy reviewed its equity investment in U.S. Air fimpairment and as a result,
recorded a $152 million impairment charge withimiggincome (loss) for the building efficiency NbrAmerica unitary products
segment in the first quarter of fiscal 2009. Th&.AIr investment balance included in the consadidastatement of financial position at
September 30, 2010 was $53 million. The Companyg do¢ anticipate future impairment of this investings, based on its current
forecasts, a further decline in value that is othan temporary is not considered reasonably likelyccur.

INCOME TAXES

The more significant components of the Comy's income tax provision from continuing operatiors as follows (in millions)

Year Ended September @

2010 2009 2008
Tax expense (benefit) at federal statutory $ 617 $ (111 $ 468
State income taxes, net of federal ber 28 (15) 27
Foreign income tax expense at different rates areldn losses without tax benel (330 (92 (14¢)
U.S. tax on foreign incom ©)] 81 (19
Reserve and valuation allowance adjustm (13¢) 18C —
Medicare Part [ 16 — —
Credits 3) (17) (16)
Other 10 — 14
Provision for income taxe $ 197 $ 32 $ 321
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The Company’s base effective income tax rate fotinaing operations for fiscal years 2010, 2009 28608 was 18.1%, 22.7% and 21.0%,
respectively. The rate remained below the U.Sugiat rate due to continuing global tax planningiatives and income in certain non-U.S.
jurisdictions with a rate of tax lower than the Us&tutory tax rate. The Compi's base effective tax rates were further adjusted gesult of
the following discrete items (in millions):

Year Ended September @

2010 2009 2008
Federal, state and foreign income tax expensesat éffective income tax ra $ 31¢ $ (72 $ 27¢
Restructuring charge — 8 43
Impairment charge — 26 —
Debt conversion cos — (15) —
Valuation allowance adjustmer (117) 252
Uncertain tax position adjustmet (27 (72 —
Change in tax status of foreign subsidi — (89) —
Interest refunc — (6) —
Medicare Part [ 16 — —
Provision for income taxe $ 197 $ 32 $ 321

Restructuring Charge

In the second quarter of fiscal year 2009, the Canmgpecorded a $27 million discrete period tax sihient related to the second quarter Z
restructuring costs using a blended statutory d@sex of 19.2%. Due to the tax rate change in thd tuarter of fiscal 2009, the discrete period
tax adjustment decreased by $19 million for a tztaladjustment of $8 million.

In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008, the Compasagarded a $43 million discrete period tax adjustnelated to the fourth quarter 2008
restructuring charge using a blended effectiveraédés of 12.4%.
I mpairment Charges

In the first quarter of fiscal 2009, the Compangareled a $30 million discrete period tax adjustnrelgted to first quarter 2009 impairment
costs using a blended statutory tax rate of 12[B&&.to the change in the base effective tax ratiséal 2009, the discrete period tax
adjustment decreased by $4 million for a totaladpustment of $26 million.

Debt Conversion Costs
In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2009, the Compasagorded a $15 million discrete period tax adjustmelated to debt conversion costs using
an effective tax rate of 36.5%.

Valuation Allowances

The Company reviews its deferred tax asset valnatiowances on a quarterly basis, or whenevertev@rchanges in circumstances indic
that a review is required. In determining the reguient for a valuation allowance, the historical projected financial results of the legal
entity or consolidated group recording the net defttax asset are considered, along with any qtbsitive or negative evidence. Since
future financial results may differ from previoustienates, periodic adjustments to the Company’satan allowances may be necessary.

In fiscal 2010, the Company recorded an overaltelse to its valuation allowances of $87 milliohisTwas comprised of a $111 million
decrease in income tax expense with the remainimguat impacting the consolidated statement of firerposition.

In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2010, the Comparyf@rmed an analysis related to the realizabilftitsoworldwide deferred tax assets. As a
result, and after considering tax planning initiad and other positive and negative evidence, dmpany determined that it was more likely
than not that the deferred tax assets primarilpiwit
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Mexico would be utilized. Therefore, the Compangased $39 million of valuation allowances in theee month period ended
September 30, 2010. Further, the Company deterntivagdt was more likely than not that the defer@dassets would not be utilized in
selected entities in Europe. Therefore, the Compeacgrded $14 million of valuation allowances ie three month period ended
September 30, 2010. To the extent the Company wegrits underlying operating results in these iestithese valuation allowances, or a
portion thereof, could be reversed in future pesiod

In the third quarter of fiscal 2010, the Companted®mined that it was more likely than not that atipo of the deferred tax assets within the
Slovakia automotive entity would be utilized. THere, the Company released $13 million of valuaétiowances in the three month period
ended June 30, 2010.

In the first quarter of fiscal 2010, the Companyedmined that it was more likely than not that atipo of the deferred tax assets within the
Brazil automotive entity would be utilized. Therefothe Company released $69 million of valuatibomeaances. This was comprised of a ¢
million decrease in income tax expense offset B24million reduction in cumulative translation asiments.

In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2010, the Compamyréased the valuation allowances by $20 milliomictv was substantially offset by a
decrease in its reserves for uncertain tax postiora similar amount. These adjustments were basedreview of tax return filing positions
taken in these jurisdictions and the establishedries.

In fiscal 2009, the Company recorded an overalidase to its valuation allowances by $245 millibhis was comprised of a $252 million
increase in income tax expense with the remainmguat impacting the consolidated statement of firerposition.

In the third quarter of fiscal 2009, the Companted®mined that it was more likely than not that atipo of the deferred tax assets within the
Brazil power solutions entity would be utilized. &rkfore, the Company released $10 million of vadmaallowances in the three month
period ended June 30, 2009. This was comprisedb8fraillion decrease in income tax expense withrémeaining amount impacting the
consolidated statement of financial position beeatieelated to acquired net operating losses.

In the second quarter of fiscal 2009, the Compatgrthined that it was more likely than not thatdleéerred tax asset associated with a
capital loss would be utilized. Therefore, the Campreleased $45 million of valuation allowancethimthree month period ended March
20009.

In the first quarter of fiscal 2009, as a resulthef rapid deterioration in the economic environmseaveral jurisdictions incurred unexpected
losses in the first quarter that resulted in cuitivgdosses over the prior three years. As a reantl after considering tax planning initiatives
and other positive and negative evidence, the Casngatermined that it was more likely than not tiwt deferred tax assets would not be
utilized in several jurisdictions including Franddexico, Spain and the United Kingdom. Therefohe, Company recorded $300 million of
valuation allowances in the three month period dridecember 31, 2008. To the extent the Companydwagwrits underlying operating resi
in these jurisdictions, these valuation allowances portion thereof, could be reversed in fupgaods.

Uncertain Tax Positions

The Company is subject to income taxes in the Bh8.numerous non-U.S. jurisdictions. Judgmentgsired in determining its worldwide
provision for income taxes and recording the relassets and liabilities. In the ordinary coursthefCompany’s business, there are many
transactions and calculations where the ultimatel&dermination is uncertain. The Company is redylander audit by tax authorities. In

June 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards B{fa#$B) issued guidance prescribing a comprehemsivgel for how a company should
recognize, measure, present, and disclose imasdial statements uncertain tax positions thatnapany has taken or expects to take on a tax
return. The Company adopted this guidance, whidhcisided in ASC 740, “Income Taxes,” as of Octobg2007. As such, accruals for tax
contingencies are provided for in accordance vhighrequirements of ASC 740.

Upon adoption, the Company increased its exis@sgnves for uncertain tax positions by $93 millibhe increase was recorded as a
cumulative effect adjustment to shareholderglity of $68 million and an increase to goodwifls@5 million related to business combinati

in prior years. As of the adoption date, the Conmydaard gross tax effected unrecognized tax benafi#16 million of which $475 million, if
recognized, would affect the effective tax ratesdhs of the adoption date, the Company had acanterést expense and penalties related to
the
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unrecognized tax benefits of $75 million (net of keenefit). The Company recognizes interest andlpies related to unrecognized tax
benefits as a component of income tax expenseanvgltl, when applicable.

At September 30, 2010, the Company had gross fagtefl unrecognized tax benefits of $1,262 millkérvhich $1,063 million, if
recognized, would impact the effective tax ratetaloet accrued interest at September 30, 201Gapproximately $68 million (net of tax
benefit).

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amoaininrecognized tax benefits is as follows:

Year Endec Year Endec Year Endec
September 30, 20. September 30, 201 September 30, 20!

(in millions of dollars)

Beginning balance, September $ 1,04¢ $ 814 $ 61€
Additions for tax positions related to the currgear 258 23€ 18€
Additions for tax positions of prior yea 257 65 21
Reductions for tax positions of prior yei (15§ (29 9
Settlement: (209 (37 —
Statute closing (30 — —

Ending balance, September $ 1,26z $ 1,04¢ $ 814

The Company is regularly under audit by tax autfesj including major jurisdictions noted below:

Tax Statute o
Jurisdiction Limitations
Austria 5 years
Belgium 3 years
Brazil 5 years
Canade 5 years
China 3to 5 year
Czech Republi 3 years
France 3 years
Germany 4 to 5 year
Italy 4 years
Japar 5to 7 year
Mexico 5 years
Spain 4 years
United Kingdom 6 years
United State— Federal 3 years
United State— State 3to 5 year

In the U.S., the fiscal years 2004 through 2006careently under IRS Appeals. Additionally, the Gmemny is currently under exam in the
following major foreign jurisdictions:

Tax Jurisdictior Tax Years Covere
Austria 2003— 2005
Brazil 2005— 2008
France 2002— 2009
Germany 2001— 2007
Italy 2005— 2007
Mexico 2003— 2004
Spain 2006— 2008

It is reasonably possible that certain tax exanonat appellate proceedings and/or tax litigatidih e@nclude within the next 12 months, the
impact of which should not be material to the ficiahstatements.

96




Table of Contents

Based on recently published case law in a non-jurBdiction and the settlement of a tax audit dgrihe third quarter of fiscal 2010, the
Company released net $38 million of reserves faettain tax positions, including interest and ptesl

As a result of certain events related to prior ya&mlanning initiatives during the first quartdrfiscal 2010, the Company increased the
reserve for uncertain tax positions by $31 milliortluding $26 million of interest and penalties.

In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2010, the Compargréased its reserves for uncertain tax positigri&b million, which was substantially
offset by an increase in its valuation allowancea similar amount. These adjustments were basedreview of tax filing positions taken in
jurisdictions with valuation allowances as indichtdbove

As a result of certain events in various jurisdins during the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2G@8luding the settlement of the fiscal 2002
through fiscal 2003 U.S. federal tax examinatidhe,Company decreased its total reserve for urindea positions by $32 million. This was
comprised of a $55 million decrease to tax expamska $23 million increase to goodwill.

As a result of various entities exiting businesseértain jurisdictions and certain events relatedrtor tax planning initiatives during the third
quarter of fiscal 2009, the Company reduced thervesfor uncertain tax positions by $33 million.idtvas comprised of a $17 million
decrease to tax expense and a $16 million decteagmodwill.

Changein Tax Status

In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2009, the Compaagarded $84 million in discrete period tax beneffsted to a change in tax status of a U.S.
and a U.K. subsidiary. This is comprised of a $58ian tax expense benefit and a $25 million deseeto goodwill. In the second quarter of
fiscal 2009, the Company recorded a $30 millioridige period tax benefit related to a change irstatus of a French subsidiary.

The changes in tax status resulted from voluntxyetections that produced deemed liquidationdJf&. federal income tax purposes. The
Company received tax benefits in the U.S. for desés from the decrease in value as compared twitheal tax basis of its investments.
These elections changed, for U.S. federal incom@uaposes, the tax status of these entities andegiorted as a discrete period tax bene
accordance with the provision of ASC 740.

Interest Refund Claim

In the second quarter of fiscal 2009, the Compdag & claim for refund with the Internal Revenwngce related to interest computations of
prior tax payments and refunds. The refund claisulted in a tax provision decrease of $6 million.

Impacts of Tax Legisation and Change in Statutory Tax Rates

On March 23, 2010, the U.S. President signed amodomprehensive health care reform legislatioreutite Patient Protection and
Affordable Care Act (HR3590). Included among thganarovisions of the law is a change in the taatment of a portion of Medicare

Part D medical payments. The Company recorded eastintax charge of approximately $18 million in $eeond quarter of fiscal year 2010
to reflect the impact of this change. In the fougtlarter of fiscal 2010, the amount decreased hyifibn resulting in an overall impact of
$16 million.

During the fiscal year ended September 30, 20k0getislation was adopted in various jurisdictioN®ne of these changes are expected to
have a material impact on the Company’s consolitiitancial condition, results of operations ortcélews.

In fiscal 2009, the Company obtained High Tech Enise status from the Chinese Tax Bureaus foouarChinese subsidiaries. This status
allows the entities to benefit from a 15% tax rate.

In February 2009, Wisconsin enacted numerous clsatogé/isconsin income tax law as part of the Bu@ighulus and Repair Bill,
Wisconsin Act 2. These changes are effective imtbmpany’s tax year ended September 30, 2010. Ejer thanges included an adoption
of corporate unitary combined reporting and an asmm of the
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related entity expense add back provisions. Theisediisin tax law changes did not have a materiphthon the Company’s consolidated
financial condition, results of operations or céskwvs.

In December 2007, Canada enacted a new tax lavhveffiiectively reduced the income tax rates from 36%2%. A Business Flat Tax
(IETU) was enacted on October 1, 2007 in Mexica firavides for a tax rate of 17% on a modified lb@se with a credit for corporate inco
tax paid. On December 28, 2007, Italy enacted rimhein regional taxes from 4.25% to 3.9% effeetdanuary 1, 2008. These tax law
changes did not have a material impact on the Cagipaonsolidated financial condition, results peocations or cash flows.

Continuing Operations

Components of the provision for income taxes ortinamg operations were as follows (in millions):

Year Ended September &

2010 2009 2008
Current
Federal $ 11z $ 53 $ 13¢
State 29 6 26
Foreign 141 (33 19¢
282 26 361
Deferred
Federal 14t (27¢€) 13
State 2 (17) 9
Foreign (232 293 (62
(85 6 (40
Provision for income taxe $ 197 $ 32 $ 321

Consolidated domestic income from continuing openatbefore income taxes and noncontrolling intsrés the fiscal years ended
September 30, 2010, 2009 and 2008 was income @& Bfion, loss of $263 million and income of $8Aidllion, respectively. Consolidated
non-U.S. income from continuing operations befomme taxes and noncontrolling interests for thedfi years ended September 30, 2010,
2009 and 2008 was income of $1,097 million, los$%8 million and income of $426 million, respectiue

Income taxes paid for the fiscal years ended Sdmte®0, 2010, 2009 and 2008 were $535 million, $8#Bon and $317 million,
respectively.

The Company has not provided additional U.S. inctames on approximately $4.5 billion of undistriédtearnings of consolidated non-U.S.
subsidiaries included in shareholders’ equity latitable to Johnson Controls, Inc. Such earningkidmecome taxable upon the sale or
liquidation of these non-U.S. subsidiaries or ugoasdend repatriation. The Company’s intent isach earnings to be reinvested by the
subsidiaries or to be repatriated only when it widag tax effective through the utilization of fayeitax credits. It is not practicable to estin
the amount of unrecognized withholding taxes arfdrded tax liability on such earnings.

Deferred taxes were classified in the consolidatatements of financial position as follows (inlioits):

September 3(

2010 2009
Other current asse $ 53¢ $ 46¢
Other noncurrent asse 1,43¢ 1,252
Other current liabilitie Q) Q)
Other noncurrent liabilitie (112 (66)
Net deferred tax ass $ 1,85¢ $ 1,654
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Temporary differences and carryforwards which géaseto deferred tax assets and liabilities inctu@e millions):

September 3(

2010 2009
Deferred tax asse
Accrued expenses and reser $ 821 $ 70C
Employee and retiree benef 33: 494
Net operating loss and other credit carryforwe 1,731 1,54¢
Research and developmt 12¢ 147

3,01z 2,89(
Valuation allowance (739 (816

2,27¢ 2,07¢
Deferred tax liabilitie:
Property, plant and equipme 40 63
Intangible asset 33C 31C
Other 48 47

41€ 42C

Net deferred tax ass $ 1,85¢ $ 1,65¢

19.

At September 30, 2010, the Company had availadt operating loss carry forwards of approxinya$3.4 billion, of which $1.1 billion
will expire at various dates between 2011 and 2886,the remainder has an indefinite carryforwandog. The valuation allowance,

generally, is for loss carry forwards for whichliztion is uncertain because it is unlikely tHae tosses will be utilized given the lack
sustained profitability and/or limited carryforwapériods in certain countrie

SEGMENT INFORMATION

ASC 280, “Segment Reporting,” establishes thadards for reporting information about segmemfiiancial statements. In applying
the criteria set forth in ASC 280, the Company thetermined that it has ten reportable segmentsrfancial reporting purposes. Cert
segments are aggregated or combined based on afigterithin building efficiency rest of world angbwer solutions in accordance
with the guidance. The Company’s ten reportablenseds are presented in the context of its threaamy businesses — building
efficiency, automotive experience and power sohgi

Building efficiency

Building efficiency designs, produces, markatd installs HYAC and control systems that moniéatomate and integrate critical
building segment equipment and conditions includtWAC, fire-safety and security in commercial builgs and in various industrial
applications

. North America systems designs, produces, marketsnstalls mechanical equipment that provides hgatind cooling in Nortl
American non-residential buildings and industrigplications as well as control systems that integtlae operation of this
equipment with other critical building syster

. North America service provides technical servicesduding inspection, scheduled maintenance, regradrreplacement
mechanical and control systems in North Americayelt as the retrofit and service components ofgrerance contracts and
other solutions

. North America unitary products designs and prodinezging and air conditioning solutions for residlrand light commercie
applications and markets products to the replaceamhnew construction marke

. Global workplace solutions provides on-site staffcomplete real estate services, facility ogeraind management to improve
the comfort, productivity, energy efficiency andsteffectiveness of building systems around théel
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. Europe provides HVAC and refrigeration systems t&etinical services to the European marketpl

. Rest of world provides HVAC and refrigeration tgyas and technical services to markets in AsiaMiuglle East and Latin
America.

Automotive experience

Automotive experience designs and manufacturesantgystems and products for passenger cars ghtitfiicks, including vans, pick-up
trucks and sport utility/crossover vehicles in NMoitmerica, Europe and Asia. Automotive experienaesns and products include complete
seating systems and components; cockpit systeeiading instrument panels and clusters, informatimplays and body controllers;
overhead systems, including headliners and eldctmmmvenience features; floor consoles; and dgstems.

Power solutions

Power solutions services both automotive origiglipment manufacturers and the battery aftermdnketroviding advanced battery
technology, coupled with systems engineering, ntarfgeand service expertise.

Management evaluates the performance of the segrbaséd primarily on segment income, which reptesenome from continuing
operations before income taxes and noncontrolhiberésts excluding net financing charges, debt emion costs and restructuring costs.
General Corporate and other overhead expensefi@rated to business segments in determining segimesme. Financial information
relating to the Company’s reportable segments fslamvs (in millions):

Year Ended September @

2010 2009 2008
Net Sales
Building efficiency
North America system $ 2,142 $ 2,227 $ 2,282
North America servic 2,12 2,16¢ 2,40¢
North America unitary produc 787 684 81C
Global workplace solutior 3,28¢ 2,832 3,197
Europe 1,897 2,14( 2,71(
Rest of world 2,561 2,445 2,718
12,80: 12,49: 14,12;
Automotive experienc
North America 6,76¢ 4,631 6,72:
Europe 8,01¢ 6,281 9,85¢
Asia 1,82¢ 1,09¢ 1,514
16,61( 12,01¢ 18,09:
Power solution: 4,89: 3,98¢ 5,85(
Total net sale $34,30¢ $28,497 $38,06:

100




Table of Contents

Segment Income (Los

Building efficiency
North America system
North America servic
North America unitary products (
Global workplace solutions (:
Europe (3
Rest of world (4

Automotive experienc
North America (5
Europe (6
Asia (7)

Power solutions (€&
Total segment incom

Net financing charge
Debt conversion cos
Restructuring cost

Income (loss) before income tax

Assets

Building efficiency
North America system
North America servic
North America unitary produc
Global workplace solutior
Europe
Rest of world

Automotive experienc
North America
Europe
Asia

Power solution:
Unallocatec
Total
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Year Ended September &

2010 2009 2008
$ 262 $ 251 $ 25€
10¢ 204 224
58 (324) 2
54 45 59
(7) 41 114
203 18C 30z
672 397 957
37¢ (339 79
10E (212 464
107 4 36
591 (541 57¢
66¢ 40€ 541
$ 1,93 $ 262 $ 2,077
(170 (23¢ (25€)
— (111) —
- (230) (495)
$ 1,768 $ (31§ $ 1,32

September 3(

_ 2010 _ 2009 __ 2008
$ 1,48¢ $ 1,447 $ 1,55¢
1,511 1,481 1,621
1,082 1,014 1,33¢
1,012 86(C 797
1,554 1,62¢ 1,937
2,39( 2,062 2,142
9,03¢ 8,48¢ 9,38¢
3,392 3,25¢ 3,781
5,39( 5,38¢ 5,13(C
1,34¢ 1,087 98C
10,127 9,732 9,891
5,47¢ 4,27¢ 4,69¢
1,10C 1,58¢ 1,00¢
$25,74: $24,08¢ $24,98"
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Year Ended September &

2010 2009 2008
Depreciation/Amortizatiol
Building efficiency
North America system $ 24 $ 26 $ 20
North America servic 23 19 13
North America unitary produc 24 21 21
Global workplace solutior 16 13 13
Europe 21 22 21
Rest of world 30 33 25
13€ 134 118
Automotive experienc
North America 147 19¢ 212
Europe 21¢ 22C 25€
Asia 31 32 32
391 45C 502
Power solution: 162 161 16¢€
Total $ 691 $ 74E $ 78%
Year Ended September &
2010 2009 2008
Capital Expenditure
Building efficiency
North America system $ 29 $ 16 $ 74
North America servic 32 55 11
North America unitary produc 5 13 28
Global workplace solutior 17 9 11
Europe 8 8 22
Rest of world 28 31 47
11¢ 132 198
Automotive experienc
North America 12z 104 14z
Europe 22t 23t 292
Asia 38 30 27
38€ 36¢ 462
Power solution: 272 14€ 152
Total $ 777 $ 647 $ 807

(1) Building efficiency — North America unitaryqducts segment income for the year ended SepteB@h@008 excludes $5 million of
restructuring costs. For the years ended SepteBiher010, 2009 and 2008, North America unitary potsl segment income includes
($7) million, ($160) million and ($9) million, resptively, of equity loss

(2) Building efficiency — Global workplace solatis segment income for the years ended Septemb26039 and September 30, 2008
excludes $1 million and $11 million, respectivedy restructuring cost:

(3) Building efficiency — Europe segment incoroe the years ended September 30, 2009 and Sept&nb2008 excludes $15 million
and $88 million, respectively, of restructuring so$-or the years ended September 30, 2010, 2@D2G08, Europe segment income
includes $3 million, $4 million and $5 million, nEsctively, of equity income

(4) Building efficiency — Rest of world segmentome for the years ended September 30, 2009 grtdrSieer 30, 2008 excludes
$8 million and $5 million, respectively, of resttudng costs. For the years ended September 3@, 2009 and 2008, rest of world
segment income includes $8 million, $4 million &Wmillion, respectively, of equity incom
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(5) Automotive experience — North America segnmirnobme for the years ended September 30, 200Saptember 30, 2008 excludes
$47 million and $102 million, respectively, of negtturing costs. For the years ended Septembe2@®@@, 2009 and 2008, North
America segment income includes $14 million, ($dl)ion and $27 million, respectively, of equitydome (loss)

(6) Automotive experience -Europe segment income for the years ended Septe86b8009 and September 30, 2008 excludes $86n
and $208 million, respectively, of restructuringto For the years ended September 30, 2010, 2202098, Europe segment income
includes $7 million, ($3) million and $9 millionespectively, of equity income (los:

(7) Automotive experience — Asia segment incoorelie years ended September 30, 2009 and Sept&mp2008 excludes $23 million
and $4 million, respectively, of restructuring ostor the years ended September 30, 2010, 2002088] Asia segment income
includes $132 million, $70 million and $52 milliorespectively, of equity incom

(8) Power solutions segment income for the yeaded September 30, 2009 and September 30, 200&les&50 million and $72 million,
respectively, of restructuring costs. For the yesrded September 30, 2010, 2009 and 2008, powgis® segment income includes
$97 million, $22 million and $25 million, respeatiy, of equity income

The Company has significant sales to the automatisestry. In fiscal years 2010, 2009 and 2008¢customer exceeded 10% of consolide
net sales.

Geographic Segments
Financial information relating to the Company’s @i®ns by geographic area is as follows (in milj

Year Ended September @

2010 2009 2008

Net Sales

United State: $12,89: $11,09¢ $13,72¢
Germany 3,542 2,871 4,00¢
Mexico 1,42¢ 952 1,514
Other European countrit 8,33¢ 7,33( 11,11¢
Other foreigr 8,10¢ 6,23¢ 7,697
Total $34,30¢ $28,49% $38,06:
Long-Lived Assets (Yeiend)

United State: $ 1,57 $ 1,53¢ $ 1,67¢
Germany 38¢ 43¢ 607
Mexico 464 403 48¢
Other European countrit 1,071 1,11¢ 1,08:
Other foreigr 60C 492 53€
Total $ 4,09¢ $ 3,98¢ $ 4,38¢

Net sales attributed to geographic locations aseda@n the location of the assets producing tlesshbn-lived assets by geographic locat
consist of net property, plant and equipment.
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20.

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

The Company accrues for potential environmdotaes in a manner consistent with accountingcjprlies generally accepted in the
United States; that is, when it is probable a lessbeen incurred and the amount of the loss $onably estimable. Reserves for
environmental costs totaled $47 million and $32ionilat September 30, 2010 and 2009, respectifélg. Company reviews the status
of its environmental sites on a quarterly basis adjdsts its reserves accordingly. Such poternéhllities accrued by the Company do
not take into consideration possible recoveriefsifre insurance proceeds. They do, however, tatoeaiccount the likely share other
parties will bear at remediation sites. It is diffit to estimate the Company’s ultimate level abllity at many remediation sites due to
the large number of other parties that may be waalthe complexity of determining the relativeblldy among those parties, the
uncertainty as to the nature and scope of the figag®ns and remediation to be conducted, the maicgy in the application of law and
risk assessment, the various choices and costsiaesbwith diverse technologies that may be usembirective actions at the sites, and
the often quite lengthy periods over which eventaaiediation may occur. Nevertheless, the Compasynb reason to believe at the
present time that any claims, penalties or cost®imection with known environmental matters wilvk a material adverse effect on
Companys financial position, results of operations or cistvs. In addition, the Company has identifiededsgtirement obligations f
environmental matters that are expected to be adedeat the retirement, disposal, removal or abandat of existing owned facilities,
primarily in the power solutions business. At Segter 30, 2010 and 2009, the Company recorded ¢onditasset retirement
obligations of $84 million and $85 million, respigety.

The Company is involved in a number of prodiadiility and various other casualty lawsuits ireid to the operation of its businesses.
Insurance coverages are maintained and estimastsl @ recorded for claims and suits of this matitiis management’s opinion that
none of these will have a material adverse effadhe Company’s financial position, results of @tiems or cash flows. Costs related to
such matters were not material to the periods ptede

104




Table of Contents

JOHNSON CONTROLS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
SCHEDULE Il — VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

(In millions)
Year Ended September & 2010 2009 2008
Accounts Receivabl— Allowance for Doubtful Account
Balance at beginning of peric $ 99 $ 87 $ 75
Provision charged to costs and expet 42 51 52
Reserve adjustmen (24) (11) (26)
Accounts charged o (25) (28) (15)
Acquisition of businesse 4 — —
Currency translatio — — 1
Balance at end of peric $ 96 $ 99 $ 87
Deferred Tax Asset— Valuation Allowance
Balance at beginning of peric $ 81€ $ 378 $ 32€
Allowance established for new operating and othss lcarryforward 70 531 11C
Acquisition of businesse — (19 (6)
Allowance reversed for loss carryforwards utilized other adjustmen (149 (69 (57
Balance at end of peric $ 73¢ $ 81€ $ 3vi

ITEM9 CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON AC COUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
None.

ITEM 9A CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

The Company’s management, with the participatiothefCompany’s Chief Executive Officer and Chiafdticial Officer, has evaluated the
effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure conols procedures (as such term is defined in Rulaslb8) under the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended (“the Exchange Act”)) athefend of the period covered by this report. Basesuch evaluations, the Company’s
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Offideave concluded that, as of the end of such petti@dCompany’s disclosure controls and
procedures are effective in recording, processingymarizing, and reporting, on a timely basis, imfation required to be disclosed by the
Company in the reports that it files or submitsemithe Exchange Act, and that information is acdated and communicated to the
Company’s management, including the Company’s (hkefcutive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, gpropriate, to allow timely
decisions regarding required disclosure.

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Finandal Reporting

The Company’s management is responsible for estabfj and maintaining adequate internal controf fimancial reporting, as such term is
defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f). The Companyanagement, with the participation of the Conypaghief Executive Officer and
Chief Financial Officer, has evaluated the effestigss of the Company’s internal control over fi@neporting based on the framework in
Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued byG@menmittee of Sponsoring Organizations of the TwesdCommission. Based on this
evaluation, the company’s management has conclideédas of September 30, 2010, the Company’srateontrol over financial reporting
was effective.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtver financial reporting may not prevent or @¢tmisstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods agexct to risk that controls may become
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inadequate because of changes in conditions, bthtbalegree of compliance with the policies orcpaures may deteriorate.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent regisparblic accounting firm, has audited the Compsaeghsolidated financial statements
and the effectiveness of internal controls ovearitial reporting as of September 30, 2010 as statésireport which is included in Item 8 of
this Form 10-K and is incorporated by referencesimer

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Except as noted below, there has not been any ehartge Company’s internal control over finanecigborting during the quarter ended
September 30, 2010, that has materially affectets easonably likely to materially affect, ther@any’s internal control over financial
reporting.

The Company is undertaking the implementation glohal financial consolidations software system snghaintaining and monitoring
appropriate internal controls during the implem&ataperiod. The Company believes that the intecoalrol environment will be enhanced
as a result of implementation, which is expecteblg@ompleted in the first half of fiscal 2011. Bignificant changes were made to the
current system of internal control over financigborting during the fiscal year ended SeptembeG00.

The Company is also undertaking the implementatfamew enterprise resource planning systems iricebusinesses over a period of
several years. As the phased roll-out occurs, weerperience changes in internal control over fai@reporting. No significant changes
were made to the current system of internal comtvel financial reporting during the fiscal yeaded September 30, 2010.

ITEM 9B OTHER INFORMATION

None.

PART IlI

The information required by Part I, Items 10, 1B,and 14, and certain of the information requlvgdtem 12, is incorporated herein by
reference to the Company’s Proxy Statement f@20tsl Annual Meeting of Shareholders (fiscal 2018xP1Statement), dated and to be filed
with the SEC on or about December 10, 2010, asali

ITEM 10 DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNA NCE

Incorporated by reference to the sections entifRrdposal One: Election of Directors,” “Q: Wherendafind Corporate Governance materials
for Johnson Controls?,” “Board Information,” “Audtommittee Report,” and “Beneficial Ownership Rejpay Compliance — Section 16
(a),” of the fiscal 2010 Proxy Statement. Requirddrmation on executive officers of the Companpeagrs at Part |, Item 4 of this report.

ITEM 11 EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Incorporated by reference to the sections entffmpensation Committee Report,” “Compensation Déston and Analysis,” “Director
Compensation during Fiscal Year 2010,” “Potenti@yfAents and Benefits Upon Termination or Changeasttrol,” “Board Information,”
and “Shareholder Information Summary” of the fise@ll0 Proxy Statement.

ITEM 12 SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

Incorporated by reference to sections entitled i3olm Controls Share Ownership” and “Schedule 13DSuhedule 13G Filingssf the fisca
2010 Proxy Statement.
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The following table provides information about thempany’s equity compensation plans as of SepteBhe2010:

(@) (b) ()
Number of Securitie
Remaining Available fc
Future Issuance Und
Number of Securities  Weightec-Average  Equity Compensatio

be Issued upon Exerc  Exercise Price ¢ Plans (Excluding
of Outstanding Option Outstanding Option Securities Reflected i
Warrants and Right  Warrants and Righ Column (a))
Plan Categonr
Equity compensation plans approved by shareho 35,158,10 $ 24.15 26,513,59
Equity compensation plans not approved by shareis — — —
Total 35,158,10 $ 24.15 26,513,59

(¢) Includes shares of Common Stock that remaailable for grant under Company Plans as folla@#336,562 shares under the 2007
Stock Option Plan, 1,020,545 shares under the R@@tricted Stock Plan, as amended, and 156,486sshader the 2003 Stock Plan
for Outside Directors, as amended and resti

ITEM 13 CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

Incorporated by reference to sections entitled ‘fBdaformation — Related Person Transactions” addrd Information — Board
Independence” of the fiscal 2010 Proxy Statement.

ITEM 14 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

Incorporated by reference to the Audit Committepdrt section entitled “Relationship with IndepentAuditors,” of the fiscal 2010 Proxy
Statement.
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PART IV
ITEM 15 EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

Page ir
Form 1(-K
(a) The following documents are filed as part @ fform 1¢-K:
(1) Financial Statemen
Report of Independent Registered Public Accourfing 53
Consolidated Statements of Income for the yearse®#®ptember 30, 2010, 2009 and 2 55
Consolidated Statements of Financial Position ate&eber 30, 2010 and 20 56
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the yeraaled September 30, 2010, 2009 and : 57
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ EquitsilAttable to Johnson Controls, Inc. for the yeadesl September 30,
2010, 2009 and 20 58
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statem 58
(2) Financial Statement Sched:
For the years ended September 30, 2010, 2009 £&1
Schedule |— Valuation and Qualifying Accoun 10t

(3) Exhibits

Reference is made to the separate exhibit indetagwd on pages 110 through 113 filed herev

All other schedules are omitted because they arapplicable, or the required information is shawithe financial statements or notes
thereto.

Financial statements of 50% or less-owned compdrzies been omitted because the proportionate shneir profit before income taxes
and total assets are less than 20% of the respamiivsolidated amounts, and investments in suclpaoi@s are less than 20% of consolidi
total assets.

Other Matters

For the purposes of complying with the amendmemthké rules governing Form S-8 under the Securitiesof 1933, the undersigned
registrant hereby undertakes as follows, which ta#tang shall be incorporated by reference intastegnt’s Registration Statements on F¢
S-8 Nos. 33-30309, 33-31271, 33-58092, 33-58093,1%%07, 333-66073, 333-41564, 333-117898 and 33%18.

Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arisingder the Securities Act of 1933 may be permitteditectors, officers and controlling persons
of the registrant pursuant to the foregoing prarisi or otherwise, the registrant has been advisgdn the opinion of the SEC such
indemnification is against public policy as expegbi the Securities Act of 1933 and is, therefarenforceable. In the event that a claim for
indemnification against such liabilities (otherrnithe payment by the registrant of expenses indwreaid by a director, officer or
controlling person of the registrant in the suctidstefense of any action, suit or proceeding)siseated by such director, officer or controll
person in connection with the securities beingsteged, the registrant will, unless in the opinibiits counsel the matter has been settled by
controlling precedent, submit to a court of appiaterjurisdiction the question whether such inddioation by it is against public policy as
expressed in the Act and will be governed by thelfadjudication of such issue.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regiigthas duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, theredatp authorized.

JOHNSON CONTROLS, INC.

By /s/ R. Bruce McDonald
R. Bruce McDonald
Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer

Date: November 23, 2010

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgé Act of 1934, this report has been signed ba®af November 23, 2010, by the
following persons on behalf of the registrant amthie capacities indicated:

/sl Stephen A. Roell /s/ R. Bruce McDonald
Stephen A. Roe R. Bruce McDonalc
Chairman and Executive Vice President and
Chief Executive Office Chief Financial Officel

/s/ Brian J. Stief /s/ Dennis W. Archer

Brian J. Stief Dennis W. Arche

Vice President and Corporate Controller Director

(Principal Accounting Officer

/s/ David Abney /s/ Robert L. Barnett
David Abney Robert L. Barnet
Director Director

/s/ Natalie A. Black /s/ Robert A. Cornog
Natalie A. Black Robert A. Cornog
Director Director

/sl Richard Goodman /sl Jeffrey A. Joerres
Richard Goodma Jeffrey A. Joerre
Director Director

/s/ William H. Lacy /s/ Southwood J. Morcott
William H. Lacy Southwood J. Morco
Director Director

/s/ Eugenio Clariond Reyes-Retana

Eugenio Clariond Rey-Retang
Director
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Exhibit

Johnson Controls, Inc.
Index to Exhibits

Title

3.()

3. (ii)

4.A

4.B

4.C

4.D

4.E

4F

4.G

4H

4.

4.3

Restated Articles of Incorporation of Johnson Calstrinc., as amended through July 25, 2007 (inmeted by reference to
Exhibit 3.1 to Johnson Controls, Inc. Current Répor Form -K dated July 31, 2007) (Commission File N-5097).

By-laws of Johnson Controls, Inc., as amended Noverd®e2008, and effective December 31, 2008 (incaeal by referenc
to Exhibit 3.ii to Johnson Controls, Inc. Annualg®et on Form 10-K for the year ended SeptembefB08) (Commission File
No. 1-5097).

Miscellaneous lor-term debt agreements and financing leases withsané other creditors and debenture indentu
Miscellaneous industrial development bond I-term debt issues and related loan agreements aselsl¢

Letter of agreement dated December 6, 1990 betdamson Controls, Inc., LaSalle National Trust, NaAd Fidelity
Management Trust Company which replaces LaSall®@NatTrust, N.A. as Trustee of the Johnson Costroic. Employee
Stock Ownership Plan Trust with Fidelity ManagemBntst Company as Successor Trustee, effectiveadariy 1991
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.F to Jolm8ontrols, Inc. Annual Report on Form 10-K for jrear ended
September 30, 1991) (Commission File N-5097).

Indenture for debt securities dated January 176 2@®ween Johnson Controls, Inc. and US Bank NsAuacessor trustee to
Morgan Chase (incorporated by reference to ExHildiito Johnson Controls, Inc. Registration Statérapr-orm S3ASR [Reg
No. 33:-130714)).

Amended and restated Credit Agreement, dated Dezekt2006, among Johnson Controls, Inc., the @i@mstitutions party
thereto and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as adnatigtragent for the lenders (incorporated by refeego Exhibit 4.E to
Johnson Controls, Inc. Annual Report on Forr-K for the year ended September 30, 2006) (ComnrigSile No. -5097).

Supplemental Indenture, dated March 16, 2009, leiwiehnson Controls, Inc. and U.S. Bank NationabA&gtion, as Trustee
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Jolmn&aontrols, Inc. Current Report on Form 8-K/A dakéarch 10, 2009)
(Commission File No.-5907).

Subordinated Indenture, dated March 16, 2009, letwehnson Controls, Inc. and U.S. Bank Nationab&mtion, as Trustee
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to Jolmn&antrols, Inc. Current Report on Form 8-K/A dakéarch 10, 2009)
(Commission File No.-5907).

Supplemental Indenture No. 1, dated March 16, 2b88yeen Johnson Controls, Inc. and U.S. Bank NatiAssociation, as
Trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3dhnson Controls, Inc. Current Report on FornY&-¢tated March 10,
2009) (Commission File No-5907).

Purchase Contract and Pledge Agreement, dated M&;c2009, among Johnson Controls, Inc., U.S. Béational
Association, as Purchase Contract Agent, and UaBk Blational Association, as Collateral Agent, @dg&tl Agent and
Securities Intermediary (incorporated by referetocExhibit 4.4 to Johnson Controls, Inc. Currenp&# on Form 8-K/A dated
March 10, 2009) (Commission File N¢-5907).

Form of Remarketing Agreement among Johnson Cantiot., U.S. Bank National Corporation, as thedRégent and the

Remarketing Agent and U.S. Bank National Corporatas the Purchase Contract Agent (incorporatagfieyence to
Exhibit 4.5 to Johnson Controls, Inc. Current Répor Form -K/A dated March 10, 2009) (Commission File N-5907).
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Exhibit

Johnson Controls, Inc.
Index to Exhibits

Title

4K

4L

4.M

4.N

10.A

10.B

10.C

10.D

10.E

10.F

10.G

10.H

10.1

Form of Corporate Unit (incorporated by refererem&xhibit 4.6 to Johnson Controls, Inc. Current &epn Form 8-K/A dated
March 10, 2009) (Commission File N¢-5907).

Form of Treasury Unit (incorporated by referenc&xdibit 4.7 to Johnson Controls, Inc. Current Répa Form 8-K/A dated
March 10, 2009) (Commission File N¢-5907).

Form of Subordinated Note (incorporated by refegeiocExhibit 4.8 to Johnson Controls, Inc. Curf@aport on Form 8-K/A
dated March 10, 2009) (Commission File N-5907).

Officer’s Certificate, date March 9, 2010 creat’§00% Senior Notes due 2020 (incorporated by eefsr to Exhibit 4.1 to
Johnson Controls, Inc. Current Report on Fo-K dated March 9, 2010) (Commission File N-5907).

Johnson Controls, Inc. 1992 Stock Option Plannasraled and restated effective January 1, 2009rfincated by reference to
Exhibit 10.A to Johnson Controls, Inc. Annual Repmr Form 10-K for the year ended September 3082(00ommission File
No. 1-5097).**

Johnson Controls, Inc. Common Stock Purchase BlaBxXecutives as amended November 17, 2004 anctigffeDecember 1,
2004 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.Babnson Controls, Inc. Annual Report on Form 1®Ktlie year ended
September 30, 2004) (Commission File N-5097).**

Johnson Controls, Inc. Deferred Compensation Rla€értain Directors, as amended and restatedtigéeldovember 18, 20C
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.C to J@m&ontrols, Inc. Annual Report on Form 10-K foe tfear ended
September 30, 2009) (Commission File N-5097).**

Johnson Controls, Inc. Executive Survivor Bend®ian, as amended and restated effective Septerbb20Q9 (incorporated |
reference to Exhibit 10.D to Johnson Controls, fenual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended &apier 30, 2009)
(Commission File No.-5097).**

Form of employment agreement between Johnson Gsnine. and all elected officers remains effecfimethose officers
employed before September 15, 2009, as amendesiaded January 1, 2008 (incorporated by referenBEshibit 10.K to
Johnson Controls, Inc. Annual Report on Forr-K for the year ended September 30, 2007) (Commidsile No. -5097).**

Form of employment agreement between Johnson Gsning. and all elected officers and named exgesthired between
September 15, 2009 and July 28, 2010, as amendectstated effective September 15, 2009, filedwitne**

Form of indemnity agreement effective October 18)& between Johnson Controls, Inc. and each dfiteetors and elected
officers, (incorporated by reference to Exhibitl1® Johnson Controls, Inc. Annual Report on Fof¥Klfor the year ended
September 30, 2007) (Commission File N-5097).**

Johnson Controls, Inc. Director Share Unit Plargragnded and restated effective September 1, 200@jorated by referen
to Exhibit 10.H to Johnson Controls, Inc. AnnuapBeg on Form 10-K for the year ended Septembef309) (Commission
File No. 1-5097).**

Johnson Controls, Inc. 2000 Stock Option Plan nasraled and restated effective January 1, 2009rfincated by reference to

Exhibit 10.1 to Johnson Controls, Inc. Annual Repmor Form 10-K for the year ended September 309P200ommission File
No. 1-5097).**
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Form of stock option award agreement for JohnsomtiGts, Inc. 2000 Stock Option Plan, as amendesltin October 1, 2001,
as in use through March 20, 2006 (incorporatedelfigrence to Exhibit 10.1 to Johnson Controls, Current Report on Form 8-
K dated November 17, 2004) (Commission File N-5097).**

Johnson Controls, Inc. 2001 Restricted Stock Rlaramended and restated effective March 23, 28t0rforated by reference
to Exhibit 10.1 to Johnson Controls, Inc. Quartd&bport on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period enliedich 31, 2010)
(Commission File No.-5097).**

Form of restricted stock award agreement for Jomi@antrols, Inc. 2001 Restricted Stock Plan, asralee March 21, 2006, i
in effect since August 1, 2006 (incorporated byrefce to Exhibit 10.R to Johnson Controls, Incndal Report on Form 18-
for the year ended September 30, 2006) (CommigslerNo. 1-5097).**

Johnson Controls, Inc. Executive Deferred Compéms#&tlan, as amended and restated effective Ma&cB®L0 (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Johnson Contrais, Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quartedyiod ended March 31,
2010) (Commission File No-5097) .**

Johnson Controls, Inc. 2003 Stock Plan for OutBitectors, as amended September 1, 2009 (incogmbist reference to
Exhibit 10.N to Johnson Controls, Inc. Annual Régor Form 10-K for the year ended September 3092(@0ommission File
No. 1-5097).**

Johnson Controls, Inc. Annual Incentive Performdplea, as amended and restated effective Janu2608, (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.W to Johnson Controls, Awnual Report Form 10-K for the year ended Septm3b, 2008)
(Commission File No.-5097).**

Johnson Controls, Inc. Retirement Restoration Rlargmended and restated effective November 18, @€orporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.P to Johnson Controls, Mrmual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended &mapier 30, 2009)
(Commission File No.-5097).**

Compensation Summary for Non-Employee Directoramasnded and restated effective October 1, 2008rfdocated by
reference to Exhibit 10.Q to Johnson Controls, Armual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended Sapeer 30, 2009)
(Commission File No.-5097).**

Form of restricted stock award agreement for Jomi@santrols, Inc. 2001 Restricted Stock Plan, femgs made on January 3,
2006, (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.BBabdnson Controls, Inc. Annual Report on Form 1fdikthe year ended
September 30, 2006) (Commission File N-5097).**

Form of stock option award agreement for JohnsomiGts, Inc. 2000 Stock Option Plan, as amendedebaper 16, 2006, as
in effect since October 2, 2006 (incorporated bgrence to Exhibit 10.CC to Johnson Controls, Aual Report on
Form 1(-K for the year ended September 30, 2006) (ComnmigSile No. -5097).**

Johnson Controls, Inc. Long Term Incentive PerfaroeaPlan, as amended and restated effective Jahu20@8 (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.BB to Johnson Contrlsls, Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year en8egtember 30, 2008)
(Commission File No.-5097).**

Johnson Controls, Inc. 2007 Stock Option Plan, atedras of September 14, 2007, (incorporated byarede to Exhibit 10.CC

to Johnson Controls, Inc. Annual Report on FornKifor the year ended September 30, 2007) (CommisSiie No. 1-
5097).**
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10.vV Form of stock option award agreement for JohnsomtiGts, Inc. 2007 Stock Option Plan (incorporatgddference to
Exhibit 10.1 to Johnson Controls, Inc. Current Répa Form -K dated March 21, 2007) (Commission File N-5097).**

10w Supplemental Agreement to the Employment Contrast/éen the Company and Dr. Beda Bolzenius datesigtigh, 2008
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.EE to JamControls, Inc. Annual Report on Form 10-K foeg year ended
September 30, 2008) (Commission File N-5097).**

10.X Johnson Controls, Inc. Executive Compensation linefRecoupment Policy effective September 15, 2@@&rporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.X to Johnson Controls, Kaenual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended &apier 30, 2009)
(Commission File No.-5097) .**

10.Y Form of employment agreement between Johnson Gsnine. and all elected officers and named exgesthired after
July 28, 2010, as amended and restated July 28, @@dorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.Y tordsdn Controls, Inc.
Quarterly Report on Form -Q for the quarterly period ended June 30, 2010{@sion File No. -5097).**

21 Subsidiaries of the Registrant, filed herew

23 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accourking dated November 23, 2010, filed herew

31.1 Certification by the Chief Executive Officer pursiido Section 302 of the Sarba-Oxley Act of 2002, filed herewitt

31.2 Certification by the Chief Financial Officer pursudo Section 302 of the Sarba-Oxley Act of 2002, filed herewitt

32 Certification of Periodic Financial Report by thhi€f Executive Officer and Chief Financial Offigeursuant to Section 906 of
the Sarban«Oxley Act of 2002, filed herewitt

101 The following materials from Johnson Controls, Imé&nnual Report on Form 10-K for the year endept&mber 30, 2010,

formatted in XBRL (Extensible Business Reportingiggaage)

(i) the Consolidated Statements of Financial Pasjt{ii) the Consolidated Statements of Incomé, tfie Consolidated
Statements of Cash Flow, (iv) the Consolidatede@tants of Shareholders’ Equity Attributable to XdmControls, Inc. and
(v) Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements)ifined herewith

*%

These instruments are not being filed as exbibérewith because none of the long-term debtuimsints authorizes the issuance of debt
in excess of 10% of the total assets of JohnsorirGleninc. and its subsidiaries on a consolid&iasis. Johnson Controls, Inc. agrees to
furnish a copy of each agreement to the SecuatielsExchange Commission upon requ

Denotes a management contract or compensatory
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Exhibit 10.F

JOHNSON CONTROLS, INC.
EXECUTIVE EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT

In consideration of the employment of the usimed employee (“Executive”) by Johnson Contrhbis,, or its affiliated companies
(“Company”), it is agreed between Executive and @any as follows in lieu of any other agreementsanmitments relating to such
employment, whether written or oral and whethet pagresent, unless expressly included or incaigar herein:

1. DUTIES. The Company agrees to employ Executive as a neaméth duties and responsibilities which the Compacting either
through its Board of Directors or its Chief ExewetOfficer, its sole discretion believes are appedp to Executive’s skills, training and
experience. Executive agrees to perform such asdidaties by devoting full time, due care, loyahd best efforts thereto and complying
with all applicable laws and the requirements ef @ompany’s policies and procedures on employeduminincluding but not limited to the
Ethics and no-harassment policies.

2. TERM . This Agreement will be for an initial period ofi® year, and will thereafter automatically renewsfeaccessive one-year periods
unless terminated as provided in Section 4, repglacemended as provided in Section 5, or supedcagi@rovided in Section 6.

3. COMPENSATION . Executive shall be paid or be eligible for thedaalary, bonuses, and benefits set forth in Exhjisubject to the
terms and conditions set forth in this Section,iBitxtA and in Section 4. The salary, benefits, Boduses will be reviewed and adjusted
periodically in accordance with the Company’s gebcthen in existence. Those policies and any litesned bonus programs may be amended
from time to time at the Company’s discretion.

4. TERMINATION . Executive’s employment with the Company may lbmieated as follows, and Executive’s sole righteoeive
compensation, benefits, or bonuses after the tetioim shall be exclusively as set forth below. i#d time of any such termination, upon
request of the Company, such Executive agreestgrrén writing from all positions and board mendfeps of the Company and its
subsidiaries and affiliates.

(a) DEATH . If Executive dies during the term of this Agreemehis Agreement shall terminate and the Comsral be obligated to
pay a lump sum payment equal to six (6) monthsxefchtive's monthly base salary to the beneficiasetsout in Exhibit A, or to his estate if
no beneficiaries have been designated, no latertthey (30) days after the date of the Execuswdeath. However, all benefit plans or
bonuses in effect upon Executigsaleath shall operate in accordance with theirdarovering death of the Executive or terminate imiately
if silent.

(b) DISABILITY . If Executive becomes disabled during the terrthisf Agreement, the Company may terminate Execgigenploymer
and this Agreement, and Executive’s sole remedi bhao the Company’s Short and Long Term Disabiftolicies in effect at that time and
Executive’s “disability” shall be determined in acdance with such plan provisions. All other borsuaed benefits in effect at that time shall
operate in accordance with their provisions retatmdisability or terminate if there is no sucloysion.




(c) BY EMPLOYEE . Executive may terminate his or her employmentthimlAgreement at any time for any reason, inclgdiesignatio
or retirement. All compensation, bonuses, or béséfieffect at that time shall cease as of the datermination, unless specifically provided
otherwise with respect to voluntary terminationshie applicable bonus or benefit policies. Withlimiting the Company'’s discretion
generally, the Company specifically reserves thbtrio grant or not grant stock options, restrictextk, bonuses or other awards to an
employee who has voluntarily terminated employnmrannounced his intention to do so.

(d) FOR CAUSE . The Company may terminate Executive for the&hdnesty, fraudulent misconduct, violation of Smt{ or 8 of this
Agreement, gross dereliction of duty, grave misaadhjurious to the Company or serious violatidrite law or the Compang’policies an
procedures on employee conduct. In the event thep@ay terminates Executive for cause hereundek tkeeutive shall not be due any
compensation, bonuses or benefits after the Tetrmm®ate unless earned in full prior to such dataccordance with the applicable
provisions of the plan or plans. The Company,ldwéd by law, may set off losses, fines or damdhe$Executive has caused it as a result of
such misconduct.

(e) WITHOUT CAUSE . The Company, acting through its Board of Direstor through its Chief Executive Officer, may tenate
Executive for any reason other than as set oue@m &. a. - d. In such an event, Executive sha#live a severance allowance under the
Company’s severance policy in effect at that tirmvigled Executive signs a full release in form anlistance acceptable to the Company;
however, in no event shall such benefits be lems Executive’s base salary for one (1) year oréwiie severance payments provided under
the then current severance policy, whichever iatgre The severance payment shall be paid in deséugn as soon as practicable, but in no
event more than ten (10) business days, followegdate of Executive’s separation from service chtiee shall also receive any bonus or
benefits in effect at that time under plan prowvisidor terminations without cause or none if sulelmg are silent. For purposes hereof, whe
Executive has separated from service will be detexthpursuant to the provisions of Section 409AhefInternal Revenue Code of 1986, as
amended, which will generally occur when the Exeeuterminates employment from the Company andffiBates (within the meaning of
Section 414(b) and (c) of the Internal Revenue Gdd©86, as amended, provided that the phradedat 50 percent” shall be used in place
of “at least 80 percent” each place it appearfénrégulations thereunder). Executive will be pnesd to have terminated employment when
the level of bona fide services provided by Exe@utd the Company and its affiliates permanentlyrél@ses to a level of twenty percent
(20%) or less of the level of services renderedhgcutive, on average, during the immediately pteae36 months (or such lesser period of
service); provided that if Executive takes a leaabsence from the Company or an affiliate forppses of military leave, sick leave or other
bona fide leave of absence. Executive will not erded to have a separation from service for teedix (6) months of the leave of absence,
or if longer, for so long as Executive’s right employment is provided either by statute or bytramt; provided that if the leave of absence
is due to Executive’'s medically determinable phaka mental impairment that can be expected tolr@sdeath or can be expected to last
for a continuous period of six (6) months or maneg such impairment causes Executive to be unalgerform the duties of his position w
the Company or an affiliate or a substantially amposition of employment, then the leave peria/he extended for up to a total of twenty-
nine (29) months without causing a separation fsenvice.




5. AMENDMENT . The Company may at any time in its discretion mienodify or replace this Agreement; however, stltéinges sha
not reduce the benefits provided Executive for teation without cause under Sec. 4.e.

6. CHANGE OF CONTROL . In the event there is a “change of control” ia @ompany, as such term is defined in the Agreement
attached as Exhibit B, then the Agreement set fiaréxhibit B shall supersede and replace this Agrent in all respects.

7. NONCOMPETITION . (a) Executive agrees that for a period of one géar the termination of active employment hegrmhe shall
not, except as permitted by the Company’s priotteumiconsent, in any capacity in which Confidential

Information or Trade Secrets of the Company woakkpnably be regarded as useful, engage in, begedadby, or in any way advise or act
for any business which is a competitor of the Camypaith respect to the products or services pravio any division or group within the
Company to which Executive devoted substantiahtitia in the year preceding termination of employieith the Company, and within the
national and international geographic markets gsebyeany such division or group. This restrictitvals also apply to any ownership or other
financial interest in such a competitor exceptdinmership of less than five percent of the shafesg corporation whose shares are listed on
a recognized stock exchange or trade in an ovecdhater market. Depending on the scope of Exeeigtiesponsibilities in the year
preceding termination of employment with the Compdhis covenant could potentially apply to a gegdic area coextensive with the
Company’s operations, including but not limitedatbof North America and the European Economic Camity. This covenant shall survive
the termination of this Agreement.

(b) REMEDIES . The Executive acknowledges and agrees that threstef Section 7 and 8: (i) are reasonable in gigagc and temporal
scope, (ii) are necessary to protect legitimat@petary and business interests of the Companinter, alia, near permanent customer
relationships and confidential information. The Eixiéve further acknowledges and agrees that (xJettexutive’s breach of the provisions of
Section 7 will cause the Company irreparable harhich cannot be adequately compensated by moneggksnand (y) if the Company
elects to prevent the Executive from breaching saroliisions by obtaining an injunction against Ehescutive, there is a reasonable
probability of the Companyg’eventual success on the merits. The Executiveers and agrees that if the Executive commitssank breacl
or threatens to commit any breach, the Company bhaintitled to temporary and permanent injunctelef from a court of competent
jurisdiction, in addition to, and not in lieu ofjch other remedies as may be available to the Coynipa such breach, including the recov
of money damages. The Parties further acknowleddeagree that the provisions of Section 10(d) bedosvaccurate and necessary because
(A) this Agreement is entered into in the Stat&\igconsin, (B) as of the Effective Date, Wisconsiti have a substantial relationship to the
Parties and to this transaction, (C) as of the dathis Agreement, Wisconsin is the headquartette ©f the Company, which has operations
globally and has a compelling interest in havirsgeinployees treated uniformly, (D) the use of Whsoo law provides certainty to the Parties
in any covenant litigation in the United Stateg] §8) enforcement of the provision of this Secflowould not violate any fundamental public
policy of Wisconsin or any other jurisdiction. Ifyaof the provisions of Sections 7 or 8 are detaadito be wholly or partially unenforceak
the Executive hereby agrees that this Agreemeahypmprovision hereof may be reformed so that@irceable to the maximum extent
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permitted by law. If any of the provisions of Seat 7 or 8 are determined to be wholly or partiathenforceable in any jurisdiction, such
determination shall not be a bar to or in any wiawiish the Company’s right to enforce any suches@ant in any other jurisdiction.

8. CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION . (a) The Executive shall hold in a fiduciary capator the benefit of the Company all secret or
confidential information, knowledge or data relgtio the Company or any of its affiliated companasd their respective businesses, which
shall have been obtained by the Executive duriegekecutive’s employment by the Company or anyséffiliated companies and which
shall not be or become public knowledge (other tnaacts by the Executive or representatives ottkexcutive in violation of this
Agreement). During employment and for two yearerafrmination of the Executive’s employment wiile Company, the Executive, except
as may otherwise be required by law or legal pmcgsall not use any such information except oralbeti the Company and shall not
communicate or divulge any such information, knalgke or data to anyone other than the Company arse ttiesignated by it. This covenant
shall survive the termination of this AgreementtiNiog in this paragraph is intended or shall bestred to limit in any way Executive’s
independent duty not to misappropriate Trade Seafgdhe Company.

(b) “Trade Secret” means information of then@any, including a formula, pattern, compilatiorpgram, device, method, technique or
process, that derives independent economic vatiiealeor potential, from not being generally knotenand not being readily ascertainable
by proper means by, other persons who can obtaimogcic value from its disclosure or use, and thahé subject of efforts by the Company
to maintain its secrecy that are reasonable umgecitcumstances. During employment with the Cormgprecutive shall preserve and
protect Trade Secrets of the Company from unawbdruse or disclosure, and after termination oh ®roployment, Executive shall not use
or disclose any Trade Secret of the Company umtihdime as that Trade Secret is no longer a sasratresult of circumstances other than a
misappropriation involving the Executive.

9. MANDATORY ARBITRATION . As a condition of his employment with the Compaayd in consideration for that employment,
Executive agrees that if he has any legal dispuitsthe Company or its supervisors, managersgcthirs, or agents concerning his
employment or termination of employment, those ulisp will be brought and resolved exclusively tiytobinding arbitration. For example,
any claims by the Executive that he has been deindamied promotion, or discharged because of egemiination, race discrimination, or
unlawful retaliation will be resolved through bindiarbitration. Arbitrations involving employmessies under this provision will be
conducted pursuant to the terms and conditionseftompany’s Employment Dispute Resolution Progfeopy attached), except that use of
arbitration under the Program to resolve employndésgutes will be mandatory rather than voluntémpitrations under this agreement will
be conducted pursuant to the procedural rules lestal for resolving employment disputes by the Anan Arbitration Association (copy
available). By signing this Agreement, Executivieases and waives any right he has to resolve gmmglot disputes (including claims of
unlawful discharge) through filing a lawsuit in ¢guand agrees instead that the disputes will belved exclusively though binding
arbitration. Because Executive is giving up thalegght to file a lawsuit against the Companytsrsupervisors, managers, directors, or
agents involving any and all legal disputes arishogn his employment or termination of employmehg Company encourages him to
consult with an attorney prior to signing this Agmeent.




Executive understands that he has twenty-one dagsrisider whether to sign this agreement. If assit, for a period of seven days
following the signing he may revoke the agreeminarder to make the revocation effective, he naasiver a signed revocation to the
Company within the sevetlay revocation period. Notwithstanding the foregoiExecutive agrees that the Company may seekasarfant o
Sections 7 and 8 of this Agreement by filing anaacin a court of competent jurisdiction seekinqp®rary, preliminary and permanent
injunctive relief and such other relief as may beessary to protect the Company from threatenadjnent, or existing irreparable harm.

10. MISCELLANEOUS. (a) This Agreement is personal to the Executive \&ithout the prior written consent of the Compahwll not
be assignable by the Executive otherwise than Hyowthe laws of descent and distribution. Thisrégment shall inure to the benefit of and
be enforceable by the Executive’s legal represmetat

(b) This Agreement shall inure to the beneffiand be binding upon the Company and its successa assigns. Executive hereby grants
the Company unlimited authority to assign its righihder this Agreement and consents to any arstielfi assignments.

(c) The Company will require any successorgthir direct or indirect, by purchase, merger, obdation or otherwise) to all or
substantially of the business and/or assets ofthapany to assume expressly and agree to perfesmgineement in the same manner and at
the same extent that the Company would be reqtireérform it if no such succession had taken plAseused in this Agreement,
“Company” shall mean the Company as hereinbefofiee and any successor its business and/or esseferesaid which assumes and
agrees to perform this Agreement by operationwf & otherwise.

(d) This Agreement shall be governed by antsttoed in accordance with the laws of the StaM/istonsin, without reference to
principles of conflict of laws. The captions ofgbhgreement are not part of the provisions heradfshall have no force or effect.

(e) All notices and other communications hadear shall be in writing and shall be given by hdetivery to the other party or by
registered or certified mail, return receipt reqedspostage prepaid, addressed as follows:

If to the Executive:

To the address appearing immediatelyvib@gecutive’s signature.

If to the Company:

Johnson Controls, Inc.
5757 North Green Bay Avenue
Milwaukee, WI 53209
Attention: General Counsel
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or to such other address as either party shall heméshed to the other in writing in accordanceeigth. Notice and communications shall be
effective when actually received by the addressee.

() The invalidity or unenforceability of ampyovision of this Agreement shall not affect thdidity or enforceability of any other provision
of this Agreement.

(g) The Company may withhold from any amou#gable under this Agreement such Federal, stdtecaltaxes as shall be required tc
withheld pursuant to any applicable law or regolati

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Executive has herewstiothe Executive’s hand and, pursuant to theoaizttion from its Board of
Directors, Johnson Controls, Inc. has caused thesents to be executed in its name on its bedlbHs of the day and year written below.

Executive:
Address:
JOHNSON CONTROLS, INC.

By:

Stephen A. Roell, Chairman & CE

Date




Executive:
Base Salary

Benefits:

Participation:

Beneficiaries:

JOHNSON CONTROLS, INC.
EXECUTIVE EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT

EXHIBIT A

$

Executive is eligible to participate in the followg benefits provided by Johnson Controls, Incaddition to those
benefits provided all salaried employees. Howekgecutive is not assured an award under any suuéfiban any
year. Each award will be granted each year in aearare with the terms of the benefit pl

Annual Incentive Performance Pl

Long Term Incentive Performance Pl

Stock Option Plai

Executive Deferred Compensation P

Restricted Stock Pla

Retirement Restoration Pl

Flexible Perquisites Progra

Participant is subject to the applicable termshefylan. In addition to any vesting and/or forfestprovision that may
apply under the applicable plan, the Company resetlve right, at its discretion, to revoke or faréeme or all of the
stock options, restricted stock or other stock Baseards with respect to a fiscal year, and/orap al, some, or no
bonuses with respect to a fiscal year if the Exeeutoluntarily resigns his/her employment or isatiarged for cause
prior to the end of the applicable fiscal yearalinother instances, the terms of the respectimagpthall apply

The following beneficiaries will receive death bétseprovided under the above benefits unless beiaeks have

been designated under a specific Benefit plan &yEtkecutive. If more than one beneficiary is listealch benefician
if living at the time of payment, will share equalunless an unequal allocation has been expréstiated.

Name: Relationshig
Name: Relationshi.
Name: Relationshi.
Name: Relationshig




EXHIBIT B

JOHNSON CONTROLS, INC.
CHANGE OF CONTROL
EXECUTIVE EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT

AGREEMENT by and between Johnson Conttals a Wisconsin corporation (the “Company”) didecutive Namdthe
“Executive”), dated .

The Board of Directors of the Companye(tBoard”) has determined that it is in the bestriaests of the Company and its shareholders
to assure that the Company will have the contirdestication of the Executive, notwithstanding thegibility, threat or occurrence of a
Change of Control (as defined below) of the Compding Board believes it is imperative to diminikk inevitable distraction of the
Executive by virtue of the personal uncertaintied asks created by a pending or threatened Chah@entrol and to encourage the
Executive’s full attention and dedication to then@pany currently and in the event of any threatesrguending Change of Control, and to
provide the Executive with compensation and besefitangements upon a Change of Control which erihat the compensation and
benefits expectations of the Executive will besfad and which are competitive with those of otbenporations. Therefore, in order to
accomplish these objectives, the Board has cabge@ampany to enter into this Agreement.

NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY AGREED AS EDWS:

11. Certain Definitions

(a) i. The “Effective Date” shall mean thesfidate during the Change of Control Period (amddfin Section 1(b)) on which a Change of
Control (as defined in Section 2) occurs. (ii) Amyg in this Agreement to the contrary notwithstagdif a Change of Control occurs and if
the Executive’s employment with the Company is ieated or the Executive ceases to be an officénefCompany prior to the date on
which the Change of Control occurs, and if it issenably demonstrated by the Executive that suatiriation of employment or cessation of
status as an officer (A) was at the request ofrd tharty who has taken steps reasonably calcutateffect the Change of Control or
(B) otherwise arose in connection with or antidipatof the Change of Control, then for all purposéthis Agreement the “Effective Date”
shall mean the date immediately prior to the daguoh termination of employment or cessation afust as an officer.

(b) The “Change of Control Period” shall mela period commencing on the date hereof and eratirthe second anniversary of such
date; provided, however, that commencing on the dae year after the date hereof, and on each banniaersary of such date (such date
and each annual anniversary thereof shall be tadteirreferred to as the “Renewal Date”), the CleamigControl Period shall be
automatically extended so as to terminate two yars such Renewal Date, unless at least 60 dagstprthe Renewal Date the Company
shall give notice to the Executive that the Chapig€ontrol Period shall not be so extended.

(c) A “Change of Control” shall mean the fitstoccur of the following events:




i. The acquisition by any individual, entity group (within the meaning of Section 13(d)(3)1d{d)(2) of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”)) (ar$dn”) of beneficial ownership (within the meanfdRule 13d-3 promulgated
under the Exchange Act) of 35% or more of eithérttf then-outstanding shares of common stockeofCthmpany (the “Outstanding
Company Common Stock”) or (B) the combined votiogvpr of the then-outstanding voting securitieshef Company entitled to vote
generally in the election of directors (the “Outstang Company Voting Securities’rovided, however, that the following acquisitior
shall not constitute a Change of Control: (1) angusition directly from the Company, (II) any adgjtion by the Company, (lll) any
acquisition by any employee benefit plan (or reldtest) sponsored or maintained by the ComparangrAffiliated Company, or
(IV) any acquisition by any corporation pursuanattwansaction that complies with Sections 1(g§4i, 1(c)(iii)(B) and 1(c)(iii)(C);

ii. Any time at which individuals who, as diet date hereof, constitute the Board (the “IncurhBeard”) cease for any reason to
constitute at least a majority of the Bogptpvided, however, that any individual becoming a director subsegtethe date hereof
whose election, or nomination for election by thenany’s shareholders, was approved by a votelefat a majority of the directors
then comprising the Incumbent Board shall be caeid as though such individual were a member ofrttiembent Board, but
excluding, for this purpose, any such individualosé initial assumption of office occurs as a restitn actual or threatened election
contest with respect to the election or removalicgctors or other actual or threatened solicitabbproxies or consents by or on behalf
of a Person other than the Board;

iii. Consummation of a reorganization, merggatutory share exchange or consolidation or aimagibrporate transaction involving
Company or any of its subsidiaries, a sale or adisgosition of all or substantially all of the atsof the Company, or the acquisition of
assets or stock of another entity by the Comparangrof its subsidiaries (each, a “Business Coniiming), in each case unless,
following such Business Combination, (A) all or stantially all of the individuals and entities thegre the beneficial owners of the
Outstanding Company Common Stock and the Outstgri@dampany Voting Securities immediately prior telsBusiness Combination
beneficially own, directly or indirectly, more th&% of the then-outstanding shares of common stadkthe combined voting power
of the then-outstanding voting securities entitedote generally in the election of directorsttees case may be, of the corporation
resulting from such Business Combination (includinghout limitation, a corporation that, as a fésfi such transaction, owns the
Company or all or substantially all of the Compangssets either directly or through one or moraididries) in substantially the same
proportions as their ownership immediately priostieh Business Combination of the Outstanding Com@mmon Stock and the
Outstanding Company Voting Securities, as the ozsgebe, (B) no Person (excluding any corporaticultgng from such Business
Combination or any employee benefit plan (or reldtast) of the Company or an Affiliated Company or
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such corporation resulting from such Business Caoatin) beneficially owns, directly or indirectl$5% or more of, respectively, the
then-outstanding shares of common stock of thearatjipn resulting from such Business Combinatiothercombined voting power of
the then-outstanding voting securities of such a@fion, except to the extent that such ownerskiigted prior to the Business
Combination, and (C) at least a majority of the rhers of the board of directors of the corporatiesuiting from such Business
Combination were members of the Incumbent Boattetime of the execution of the initial agreemenof the action of the Board
providing for such Business Combination; or

iv. Approval by the shareholders of the Compaha complete liquidation or dissolution of ther@pany.

(d) As used in this Agreement, the term “Affied Company” or “Affiliated Companies” shall incle any company or companies
controlled by, controlling or under common contrgth the Companyprovided thatwvhen determining when the Executive has experieaced
Separation from Service for purposes of this Agremtimcontrol shall be determined pursuant to Castgiéh 414(b) or 414(% except that
the phrase “at least 50 percent” shall be usedbicepof the phrase “at least 80 percent” in eaahelt appears in the regulations thereunder.

(e) “Code"shall mean the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, anded. Any reference to a specific provision of@uele shall be deemec
include any successor provision thereto.

(f) “Separation from Service” shall mean theEutive’s Termination of Employment, except tHdhe Executive continues to provide
services following his or her Termination of Emphegnt, such later date as is considered a sepafedimnservice, within the meaning of
Code Section 409A, from the Company and its AfichCompanies. Specifically, if the Executive conés to provide services to the
Company or an Affiliated Company in a capacity otitkan as an employee, such shift in status isammatically a Separation from Servi

(9) For purposes of this Agreement, the Exgewtill be considered a “Specified Employee” ify the date of the Executive’s Separation
from Service, the Executive is a key employee ef@mpany or an affiliate of the Company (withie theaning of Code Section 414(b) or
(c)) any of the stock of which is publicly tradedl an established securities market or otherwise.Bxecutive is considered a key employee
for the 12-month period beginning on the first ddyhe fourth month following the key employee itlécation date, which is December 31
of each year, such that if the Executive satigfiesrequirements for key employee status as of bee 31 of a year, the Executive shall be
treated as a key employee for the 12-month perégihiming April 1 of the following calendar year. & Executive will meet the requirements
for key employee status as of December 31 of aijéla@ Executive meets the requirements of Codei@e416(i)(1)(A)(i), (i) or (iii),
applied in accordance with the regulations undeteC®ection 416, but disregarding Code Section X5§(iat any time during the 12-month
period ending on such December 31. For purposdstefmining whether the Executive is a key employlee definition of compensation
under Treasury Regulation §1.415-2(a) shall be usgplied as if the Company and its affiliates waoe using any safe harbor under
Treasury Regulation §1.415-2(d), any of the spdii@hg rules of Treasury Regulation §1.415-2(eqany of the special rules provided in
Treasury Regulation §1.415-2(qg).




In lieu of the foregoing, if, in the tisaction constituting a Change of Control, the Comypa merged with or acquired by another
entity, and immediately following the Change of @ohthe stock of either the Company or the acquiresuccessor in such transaction is
publicly traded on an established securities mavketherwise, then the Executive shall be considerkey employee for the period between
the effective date of such transaction and the speatified employee effective date of the acquiresurvivor if the Executive is on the
combined list of the specified employees of eadhtyeparticipating in the transaction, as re-ordete identify the top 50 key employees (as
well as 1% and 5% owners that are considered kejasmees) in accordance with Treasury Regulationd@IA-1(i)(6)(i).

(h) For purposes of this Agreement, the Exgeig “Termination of Employment” (or variationseteof, such as “Terminates
Employment” or “Employment Termination”) shall ocauhen the Executive permanently ceases to perfamvices for the Company and its
Affiliated Companies as an employee or when thellef’bona fide services the Executive performarasmployee of the Company and its
Affiliated Companies permanently decreases to neertitan twenty percent (20%) of the average le/bboa fide services performed by the
Executive (whether as an employee or independemtatior) for the Company and its Affiliated Comjemnover the immediately preceding
thirty-six (36)-month period (or such lesser periddervices). Notwithstanding the foregoing, & thxecutive takes a leave of absence for
purposes of military leave, sick leave or otherdfide reason, the Executive will not be deemeltiatee experienced a Termination of
Employment for the first six (6) months of the leaxf absence, or if longer, for so long as the Htiee's right to reemployment is provided
either by statute or by contract, including thisrégment; providethatif the leave of absence is due to a medically dateable physical or
mental impairment that can be expected to resuleath or last for a continuous period of not thss six (6) months, where such impairrr
causes the Executive to be unable to perform tkieslaf his or her position of employment or anpstantially similar position of
employment, the leave may be extended by the Coynfioaup to twenty-nine (29) months without causan@ermination of Employment.

12. Employment PeriadThe Company hereby agrees to continue the Execittiits employ for the period commencing on tlitle&ive
Date and ending on the second anniversary of sateh(the “Employment Period”), subject to the psts of Section 4.

13. Terms of Employmen{a) Position and Duties. During the Employment Period, (A) the Execeti/position (including status,
offices, titles and reporting requirements), autigoduties and responsibilities shall be at leashmensurate in all material respects with the
most significant of those held, exercised and assigt any time during the 90-day period immedygbetéceding the Effective Date and
(B) the Executives services shall be performed at the location wtierd=xecutive was employed immediately precediegBffective Date ¢
any office or location less than 35 miles from siattation.

ii. During the Employment Period, and excliglany periods of vacation and sick leave to whihExecutive is entitled, the
Executive agrees to devote reasonable attentioimedduring normal business hours to the busiaadsaffairs of the Company and,
the extent necessary to discharge the responigibiissigned to the Executive hereunder, to usexbeutives reasonable best efforts
perform faithfully and efficiently such responsitids. During the Employment
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Period it shall not be a violation of this Agreernfar the Executive to (A) serve on corporate, €ioi charitable boards or committees,
(B) deliver lectures, fulfill speaking engagememtseach at educational institutions and (C) margegeonal investments, so long as
such activities do not significantly interfere witie performance of the Executive’s responsibditis an employee of the Company in
accordance with this Agreement. It is expresslyeusiod and agreed that to the extent that any attoltities have been conducted by
the Executive prior to the Effective Date, the @auntd conduct of such activities (or the conducaafvities similar in nature and scope
thereto) subsequent to the Effective Date shaltmareafter be deemed to interfere with the peréoroe of the Executive’s
responsibilities to the Company.

(b) Compensationi. Base Salary During the Employment Period, the Executive shedkive an annual base salary (“Annual Base
Salary”), which shall be paid at a monthly rateleast equal to twelve times the highest monthbetsalary paid or payable to the Executive
by the Company and its Affiliated Companies for amynth during the twelve-month period immediatelggeding the month in which the
Effective Date occurs. During the Employment Peribe Annual Base Salary shall be reviewed at l@astally and shall be increased at
time and from time to time as shall be substantiedinsistent with increases in base salary geyemalbrded in the ordinary course of
business to other peer executives of the Compaaytaiffiliated Companies. Any increase in Annase Salary shall not serve to limit or
reduce any other obligation to the Executive uribisrAgreement. Annual Base Salary shall not beced after any such increase and the
term Annual Base Salary as utilized in this Agreatshall refer to Annual Base Salary as so incetase

ii. Annual Bonus In addition to Annual Base Salary, the Execusikeall be awarded, for each fiscal year ending duitire
Employment Period, an annual bonus (the “Annualiddyin cash at least equal to the average annualipedufy fiscal year consistit
of less than twelve full months or with respecivitich the Executive has been employed by the Cognfrariess than twelve full
months) bonuses paid or payable, including any amiat would have been paid or have been payadte iwnot for a mandatory or
voluntary deferral of such amount, including purdua the Annual and Long-Term Incentive Plansror @ounterpart or successor plan
(s) thereto, to the Executive by the Company amdiffiliated Companies in respect of the threedlsears immediately preceding the
fiscal year in which the Effective Date occurs (tRecent Average Bonus”). Each such Annual Bonwdl &g paid no later than the
fifteenth (151) day of the third month of the fiscal year nextdwing the fiscal year for which the Annual Bonissawarded, unless the
Executive shall elect to defer the receipt of sdohual Bonus in accordance with the terms of arfgrded compensation plan then in
effect.

iii. Incentive, Savings and Retirement Plabairing the Employment Period, the Executive shalentitled to participate in all
incentive, savings and retirement plans, practigekicies and programs applicable generally to opieer executives of the Company
and its Affiliated Companies, but in no event sisalth plans, practices, policies and programs geotlie Executive with incentive
opportunities




(measured with respect to both regular and spewiahtive opportunities, to the extent, if any tthach distinction is applicable),
savings opportunities and retirement benefit opputies, in each case, less favorable, in the agdee than the most favorable of those
provided by the Company and its Affiliated Comparfier the Executive under such plans, practiceliips and programs as in effec
any time during the 90-day period immediately pdiog the Effective Date or, if more favorable te thxecutive, those provided
generally at any time after the Effective Date ttoeo peer executives of the Company and its AfélieCompanies. The amount payable
to the Executive under any such incentive prograsany performance period will be reduced (boit Inelow zero) by the amount of
the Annual Bonus paid or payable to the Executivesfich performance period in accordance with 8e@&{b)(ii) above. Any amounts
thereafter payable to the Executive under the itmeprogram(s) for any performance period shalphi no later than the fifteenth (15
th) day of the third month of the fiscal year nexXtdwing the fiscal year that includes the performaperiod for which such payments
are awarded.

iv. Welfare Benefit PlansDuring the Employment Period, the Executive antlie Executive’s family, as the case may be, dbell
eligible for participation in and shall receive béinefits under welfare benefit plans, practiceficies and programs provided by the
Company and its Affiliated Companies (includingthwiut limitation, medical, prescription, dentalsalbility, salary continuance,
employee life, group life, accidental death an#dtaaccident insurance plans and programs) texkent applicable generally to other
peer executives of the Company and its Affiliaterpanies, but in no event shall such plans, pestigolicies and programs provide
the Executive with benefits which are less favogali the aggregate, than the most favorable df plans, practices, policies and
programs in effect for the Executive at any timemtythe 90-day period immediately preceding thie&ifve Date or, if more favorable
to the Executive, those provided generally at @mg @after the Effective Date to other peer exeagiof the Company and its Affiliated
Companies.

v. ExpensesDuring the Employment Period, the Executive shalentitled to receive prompt reimbursement fbreglsonable
expenses incurred by the Executive in accordantrethee most favorable policies, practices and ptaces of the Company and its
Affiliated Companies in effect for the Executiveaaty time during the 90-day period immediately paing the Effective Date or, if
more favorable to the Executive, as in effect galheat any time thereafter with respect to otheeipexecutives of the Company and its
Affiliated Companies.

vi. Fringe Benefits During the Employment Period, the Executive shalentitled to fringe benefits in accordance \ilitlh most
favorable plans, practices, programs and policieekeoCompany and its Affiliated Companies in effier the Executive at any time
during the 90-day period immediately precedingHEffective Date or, if more favorable to the Exeeatias in effect generally at any
time thereafter with respect to other peer exeestof the Company and its Affiliated Companies.
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vii. Office and Support StaffDuring the Employment Period, the Executive shalkentitled to an office or offices of a size avith
furnishings and other appointments, and to exctupersonal secretarial and other assistance,sitdgaal to the most favorable of the
foregoing provided to the Executive by the Compang its Affiliated Companies at any time during &feday period immediately
preceding the Effective Date or, if more favoratoléhe Executive, as provided generally at any tineseafter with respect to other peer
executives of the Company and its Affiliated Comipan

viii. Vacation. During the Employment Period, the Executive shalentitled to paid vacation in accordance withrtfost favorable
plans, policies, programs and practices of the Gowand its Affiliated Companies as in effect floe Executive at any time during the
90-day period immediately preceding the Effectivador, if more favorable to the Executive, asffaa generally at any time
thereafter with respect to other peer incentivethefCompany and its Affiliated Companies.

14. Termination of Employmeng{a) Death or Disability The Executive’ shall Terminate Employment autdoadly upon the Executive’
death during the Employment Period. If the Compaetgrmines in good faith that the Disability of theecutive has occurred during the
Employment Period (pursuant to the definition o$&hility set forth below), it may give to the Exé&ea or his legal representative written
notice in accordance with Section 11(b) of thiségmnent of its intention to Terminate the Execusvemployment. In such event, the
Executive’s Termination of Employment shall occffeetive on the 30th day after receipt of such ety the Executive or his legal
representative (the “Disability Effective Date”yopided that, within the 30 days after such regeahm Executive shall not have returned to
full-time performance of the Executive’s dutiesr parposes of this Agreement, “Disabilitghall mean the absence of the Executive fron
Executive’s duties with the Company on a full tibeesis for 180 consecutive business days as a dsltnedically determinable physical or
mental impairment that can be expected to resuleath or is otherwise total and permanent asméted by a physician selected by the
Company or its insurers and acceptable to the Hixecar the Executive’s legal representative (sagreement as to acceptability not to be
withheld unreasonably).

(b) _Cause The Company may Terminate the Employment of thechtive during the Employment Period for Cause.gtwposes of this
Agreement, “Cause” shall mean (i) repeated viotatiby the Executive of the Executive’s obligatiomsler Section 3(a) of this Agreement
(other than as a result of incapacity due to playgic mental iliness) which are demonstrably wilkind deliberate on the Executive’s part,
which are committed in bad faith or without readadiadelief that such violations are in the bestii@sts of the Company and which are not
remedied in a reasonable period of time after padiwritten notice from the Company specifyinglwiolations or (ii) the conviction of the
Executive of a felony involving moral turpitude.fmurposes of this Section 4(b), no act, or faikaract, on the part of the Executive shall be
considered “willful” unless it is done, or omittéal be done, by the Executive in bad faith or with@asonable belief that the Executive’s
action or omission was in the best interests ofdbmpany. Any act, or failure to act, based upaharity given pursuant to a resolution duly
adopted by the Board or upon the instructions efGhief Executive Officer of the Company or a senificer of the Company or based upon
the advice of counsel for the Company (or any didtkwthe




Executive omits to do because of the Executiveasoaable belief that such act would violate laktherCompany’s standards of ethical
conduct in its corporate policies) shall be conetely presumed to be done, or omitted to be doyehé Executive in good faith and in the
best interests of the Company. The cessation ofmgnt of the Executive shall not be deemed téob€ause unless and until there shall
have been delivered to the Executive a copy ofalugion duly adopted by the affirmative vote ot fess than three-quarters of the entire
membership of the Board (excluding the Executi/the Executive is a member of the Board) at a mgedf the Board called and held for
such purpose (after reasonable notice is providélde Executive and the Executive is given an opnityy, together with counsel for the
Executive, to be heard before the Board), findhmag,tin the good faith opinion of the Board, theeEixtive committed the conduct describe
Section 4(b)(i) or 4(b)(ii), and specifying the peulars thereof in detail.

(c) Without CauseThe Company may Terminate the Employment of Etteewduring the Employment Period without Causeyfich
event, without limitation, the provisions of Sectid shall apply.

(d) Good ReasariThe Executive may Terminate Employment for Goeé$dn during the Employment Period. For purposéisief
Agreement, “Good Reason” shall mean the occurrefeay of the following events:

i. the assignment to the Executive of anyatuinconsistent in any respect with the Executipesition (including status, offices,
tittes and reporting requirements), authority, ésitor responsibilities as contemplated by Sect{ah & this Agreement, or any other
action by the Company which results in a diminufiosuch position, authority, duties or respongibs, excluding for this purpose an
isolated, insubstantial and inadvertent actiontakén in bad faith and which is remedied by the Gany promptly after receipt of
notice thereof given by the Executive;

ii. any failure by the Company to comply wihy of the provisions of Section 3(b) of this Agremt, other than an isolated,
insubstantial and inadvertent failure not occurtiimpad faith and which is remedied by the Comparomptly after receipt of notice
thereof given by the Executive;

iii. the Company’s requiring the Executivebi® based at any office or location other than destribed in Section 3(a)(i)(B) hereof;

iv. any purported termination by the Compahthe Executive’s employment otherwise than as esgly permitted by this
Agreement;

v. any failure by the Company to comply witidasatisfy Section 10(c) of this Agreement; or

vi. the Company’s request that the Executiedgrm any illegal, or wrongful act in violation tife Company’s code of conduct
policies.

For purposes of this Section 4(d), any good fag@tednination of “Good Reason” made by the Executhall be conclusive.
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(e) Without Good Reasoimhe Executives employment may be terminated during the EmployrReniod by the Executive without Go
Reason.

() Notice of Termination Any Termination of the Executive’s Employmentthg Company or by the Executive shall be commueitat
by a Notice of Termination given to the other pdrgyeto. Such Notice of Termination shall satisfy tequirements set forth in Section 11(b)
of this Agreement. For purposes of this Agreemariotice of Termination” means a written noticeigth(i) indicates the specific
termination provision in this Agreement which iti¢d upon as a basis for the Termination of theddtige's Employment, (ii) to the extent
applicable, sets forth in reasonable detail théesfand circumstances claimed to provide a basi¥domination of the Executive’s
Employment under the provision so indicated anjlifithe Date of Termination (as defined belowptter than the date of receipt of such
notice, specifies the Date of Termination (whickedshall not be more than fifteen (15) days afterdate the Notice of Termination is
tendered to the other party). The failure by thedttive or the Company to set forth in the Noti€&ermination any fact or circumstance
which contributes to a showing of Good Reason ars€ashall not waive any right of the Executiveh@ €ompany hereunder or preclude the
Executive or the Company from asserting such factroumstance in enforcing the Executive’s or @@mpany’s rights under this
Agreement. Subject to the provisions of Sectioth&,Executive’s Employment Period ends at 11:59 pmthe Executive’s Date of
Termination.

(g) _Date of Termination“Date of Termination” means the date of which Ehecutive’s Termination of Employment occurs, @tofvs:
(i) if the Executive’s Termination of Employmentlig the Company for Cause, or by the Executiveood Reason or for other than Good
Reason, the date of receipt of the Notice of Teatidm or any later date specified therein, as #s=anay be, (ii) if the Executive’s
Termination of Employment is by the Company otlmamtfor Cause or Disability, the date on which@mnpany notifies the Executive of
such termination and (iii) if the Executive’s Temation of Employment is by reason of death or Diggbthe date of death of the Executive
or the Disability Effective Date, as the case may b

15. Obligations of the Company upon Termorati(a) Good Reason; Other Than for Cause, Deathisatiity . If, during the
Employment Period, the Executive’s Termination offfoyment shall be by Company other than for Caudaisability or by the Executive
for Good Reason:

i. the Company shall pay to the Executive lnrap sum in cash the aggregate of the followingants (such aggregate amounts ¢
be hereinafter referred to as the “Special TernonadAmount”):

(1) the sum of (1) the Executive’'s Annual B&sdary through the Date of Termination and anyuaiBonus(es) that relate to
performance periods that have ended on or befer®#te of Termination, (2) the product of (x) theher of (I) the Recent Average
Bonus and (1) the Annual Bonus paid or payableluding any amount that would have been paid orldvbe payable were it not f
a mandatory or voluntary deferral of such amountl@nnualized for any fiscal year consisting o§ lggn twelve full months or for
which the Executive has been employed for less tiatve full months) for the most recently comptefescal year during the
Employment Period, if any (the “Highest




Annual Bonus”) and (y) a fraction, the numeratowtiich is the number of days in the current figedr through the Date of
Termination, and the denominator of which is 3@Bdvided that, if the Executives Date of Termination is the same day as a Ch
of Control occurs as defined in the Annual and L-Giegm Incentive Plans or any counterpart or su@rgsians thereto, the amount
payable under this clause (2) shall be reducedntibelow zero) by the amounts paid or payableeusdch plans as a result of the
Change of Control); and (3) any accrued vacation jpeeach case to the extent not theretofore (ih&sum of the amounts
described in clauses (1), (2), and (3) shall beihafter referred to as the “Accrued Obligationsihd

(2) the amount equal to the product of (1&¢hand (2) the sum of (x) the Executive’s AnnuadSalary and (y) the Highest
Annual Bonus; and

(3) a separate lump-sum supplemental retirétemefit equal to:

(2) if the Executive is participating in thehhson Controls, Inc. Pension Plan (or any succgdan thereto) (the “Pension Plargid/or
is accruing a supplemental defined benefit amondeuthe Johnson Controls, Inc. Restoration BeRédih (the “Restoration Plan”) or any
other supplemental and/or excess retirement plarpttovides a defined benefit-type accrual forExecutive (the “SERP”) as of the
Effective Date, the amount, if any, by which (Agthctuarial equivalent single-sum value (utiliziogthis purpose the actuarial
assumptions utilized to determine lump sum paymassf the Date of Termination with respect toReasion Plan) of the benefit payable
under the Pension Plan, the related defined becmfiponent of the Restoration Plan or any otherS&Rich the Executive would recei
if the Executive’s employment continued at the cengation level provided for in Sections 3(b)(i) @&{d)(ii) of this Agreement until the
second anniversary of the Effective Date, assurfinthis purpose that all accrued benefits are/fuisted and that benefit accrual
formulas and the actuarial assumptions are ncalégantageous to the Executive than those mostdbisto the Executive and in effect
during the 90-day period immediately precedingEffective Date and assuming that the benefits conumen the earliest date following
Termination of Employment on which the Executiveultbbe eligible to commence benefits under the BarBlan, exceeds (B) the
actuarial equivalent single-sum value (utilizing flois purpose the same actuarial assumptions eswtiized in clause (1) above) of the
Executive’s actual benefit (paid or payable) wittyment assumed to have commenced at the samedioralar clause (1) above, if any,
under the Pension Plan, the Restoration Plan an8HRP; or

(2) if the Executive is participating in thehhson Controls, Inc. Savings and Investment (4@, or any successor plan thereto (the
“SIP™), and/or is eligible for any supplemental idefd contribution benefits under the RestoratiaanRIr any other supplemental or excess
retirement plan that provides a defined contributigpe benefit for the Executive (the “DC SERP")adishe Effective Date, the amount
equal to the Company non-matching and non-eled@ferral contributions that would have been madé¢hfe Executive
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under the SIP, the Restoration Plan and the DC SERE Executive’s employment continued at the pemsation level provided for in
Sections 3(b)(i) and 3(b)(ii) of this Agreementiltite second anniversary of the Effective Datspasing for this purpose that the
Executives accounts are fully vested and that the contnuibrmulas are no less advantageous to the Exectitan those most favorat
to the Executive and in effect during the 90-dasiqueimmediately preceding the Effective Date, tetermined without regard to any
interest such amounts would have earned untilébersd anniversary of the Effective Date.

Such lump sum shall be paid within thi{3®) business days after the Executive’s Separdtan Service, provided that (x) if the
Executive is a Specified Employee, payment wildetayed until no earlier than six (6) months andater than seven (7) months after the
date of the Executive’s Separation from Service, iiso delayed, such payment shall be accompdnjiedpayment of interest at an annual
rate equal to the “prime rate” as published frometito time by The Wall Street Journal, such ratnging as and when such published rate
changes (the “Prime Rate”), compounded quarteng,(§) if the Effective Date is prior to a ChangeGmntrol pursuant to Section 1(a)(ii),
payment will be made within thirty (30) businesysléollowing the Change of Control.

ii. until the second anniversary of the EffeetDate, or such longer period as any plan, proggactice or policy may provide, the
Company shall continue welfare benefits to the Ekge and/or the Executive’s family at least eqeathose which would have been
provided to them in accordance with the plans, @, practices and policies described in Sectfb}(i8) of this Agreement if the
Executive’s Employment had not been Terminatecceoedance with the most favorable plans, practigesgrams or policies of the
Company and its Affiliated Companies applicableagaily to other peer executives and their famitiagng the 90-day period

immediately preceding the Effective Date or, if eéavorable to the Executive, as in effect gengmtlany time thereafter with respect

to other peer executives of the Company and itgidt#d Companies and their familiggovided, howeverthat if the Executive

becomes reemployed with another employer anddghédito receive medical or other welfare benafitder another employer-provided

plan, the medical and other welfare benefits dbedrherein shall be secondary to those providednsuth other plan during such
applicable period of eligibility. For purposes aftermining eligibility of the Executive for retirdmenefits pursuant to such plans,
practices, programs and policies, the Executivél Beaconsidered to have remained employed urdilsécond anniversary of the
Effective Date and to have retired on the lastafasuch period. With respect to the foregoing:

(1) If applicable, following the end of the BRA continuation period, if such health care cogerés provided under a health plan

that is subject to Code Section 105(h), benefijgpke under such health plan shall comply withrdguirements of Treasury
regulation section 1.409A-3(i)(1)(iv)(A) and (B)@rif necessary, the Company shall amend suchhplh to comply therewith.
The continuation of health care coverage hereuslagit count as COBRA continuation coverage;
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(2) If the Executive is a Specified Employden during the first six (6) months following tB&ecutive’s Separation from
Service, the Executive shall pay the Company fgrlde insurance coverage that provides a benefibicess of $50,000 under a
group term life insurance policy. After the endsath six (6)-month period, the Company shall makash payment to the Executive
equal to the aggregate premiums paid by the Exexidr such coverage, and such payment shall luitedewith interest at an
annual rate equal to the Prime Rate, compoundedeglya and thereafter such coverage shall be gexVat the expense of the
Company for the remainder of the period endinghensiecond anniversary of the Effective Date; and

(3) If the Effective Date is prior to a ChangfeControl pursuant to Section 1(a)(ii), then @empany shall fulfill its obligations
hereunder by providing retroactive welfare benefitgerage to the Executive’s Date of Terminatiod, afithe Executive has paid
COBRA premiums for health care coverage from thee& Termination through the date of the Chang€aftrol, the Company
shall reimburse the Executive for the aggregateuasrinof such COBRA premiums within thirty (30) busas days following the
Change of Control, without liability for interestdreon; and

iii. to the extent not theretofore paid oryided, the Company shall timely pay or providette Executive any other amounts or
benefits required to be paid or provided or whiwoh Executive is eligible to receive pursuant ts thijreement under any plan, progr:
policy or practice or contract or agreement of@menpany and its Affiliated Companies (such otheoants and benefits shall be
hereinafter referred to as the “Other Benefits”).

(b) Death If the Executive’s Termination of Employment i teason of the Executive’s death during the Empleyt Period, this
Agreement shall terminate without further obligatido the Executive’s legal representatives urfdsrAgreement, other than for payment of
the Special Termination Amount and the timely paghwe provision of Other Benefits. The Special Teration Amount shall be paid to the
Executive’s estate or beneficiary, as applicalbie lump sum in cash within 30 days of the Dat&exinination. With respect to the provision
of Other Benefits, the term Other Benefits aszdili in this Section 5(b) shall include, and thedtxiee’'s family shall be entitled to receive,
benefits at least equal to the most favorable hisnafovided by the Company and any of its AffdidtCompanies to surviving families of p
executives of the Company and such Affiliated Conigsunder such plans, programs, practices andigslielating to family death benefits,
if any, as in effect with respect to other peerceiwes and their families at any time during tldeday period immediately preceding the
Effective Date or, if more favorable to the Exeeatand/or the Executive’s family, as in effect ba tlate of the Executive’s death with
respect to other peer executives of the Companytardfiliated Companies and their families.

(c) Disability. If the Executive’s Termination of Employment ig teason of the Executive’s Disability during thejloyment Period,
this Agreement shall terminate without further ghtions to the Executive, other than for paymenhefSpecial Termination Amount and the
timely payment or provision of Other Benefits. The
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Special Termination Amount shall be paid to the dtiiwe at the same time and in the same mannéregsalyment would be made pursual
Section 5(a). With respect to the provision of @tBenefits, the term Other Benefits as utilizedhis Section 5(c) shall include, and the
Executive shall be entitled after the Disabilityfdetive Date to receive, disability and Other Béisedt least equal to the most favorable of
those generally provided by the Company and itdiafitd Companies to disabled executives and/dr fhmilies in accordance with such
plans, programs, practices and policies relatingjgability, if any, as in effect generally withsggect to other peer executives and their fan
at any time during the 90-day period immediatelyceding the Effective Date or, if more favorabléhte Executive and/or the Executive’s
family, as in effect at any time thereafter gergnaith respect to other peer executives of the Gany and its Affiliated Companies and tr
families.

(d) Termination by Company for Cause; Terttioraby Executive for Other than for Good Reason

i. If the Executive’s Termination of Employmeturing the Employment Period is by the CompamyJause, this Agreement shall
terminate without further obligations to the Exéeatother than the obligation to pay to the Exasutiis Annual Base Salary through
the Date of Termination (subject to any deferratgbn then in effect) and the payment, in accordamith the terms of the Johnson
Controls, Inc. Executive Deferred Compensation Rlash the Johnson Controls, Inc. Retirement Restor&lan (or other relevant
nonqualified deferred compensation plan), of argvjmusly vested amounts, in each case to the etttergtofore unpaid.

ii. If the Executive voluntarily Terminates ployment during the Employment Period, excludinbeamination of Employment for
Good Reason, this Agreement shall terminate withurtiher obligations to the Executive, other thanAccrued Obligations and the
timely payment or provision of Other Benefits. lrch case, all Accrued Obligations shall be paithéoExecutive in a lump sum in cash
within thirty (30) business days of the ExecutivB&paration from Service; provided that if the Extee is a Specified Employee,
payment will be delayed until no earlier than € ihonths and no later than seven (7) months tifeedate of Separation from Service,
and, if so delayed, such payment shall be credviddinterest at an annual rate equal to the PRate, compounded quarterly.

16. NonrExclusivity of Rights. Nothing in this Agreement shall prevent or lithieé Executive’s continuing or future participationrany
plan, program, policy or practice provided by thar@any or any of its Affiliated Companies and fdrigh the Executive may qualify, nor
shall anything herein limit or otherwise affect Buights as the Executive may have under any contraagreement with the Company or
of its Affiliated Companies. Amounts which are \agbbenefits or which the Executive is otherwisédtlewtto receive under any plan, policy,
practice or program of or any contract or agreeméiiit the Company or any of its Affiliated Compasi& or subsequent to the Date of
Termination shall be payable in accordance witthsulan, policy, practice or program or contracagreement except as explicitly modified
by this Agreement.
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17. Full SettlementThe Company’s obligation to make the paymentsideal for in this Agreement and otherwise to perfats
obligations hereunder shall not be affected bysetyoff, counterclaim, recoupment, defense or atkem, right or action which the
Company may have against the Executive or othensolevent shall the Executive be obligated to sgle&r employment or take any other
action by way of mitigation of the amounts payabl¢he Executive under any of the provisions of thgreement and, except as provided in
Section 6(a)(ii), such amounts shall not be redweleether or not the Executive obtains other emplEyimThe Company agrees to pay, to the
full extent permitted by law, all legal fees angemses which the Executive may reasonably incarrasult of any contest (regardless of the
outcome thereof) by the Company, the Executivetioers of the validity or enforceability of, or lidity under, any provision of this
Agreement or any guarantee of performance themeciufing as a result of any contest by the Exeeutibout the amount of any payment
pursuant to this Agreement), plus in each casedst®n any delayed payment at the Prime Rate, conted quarterly. The Company shall
make such payment to the Executive within thirt§))(Business days (but in no event later than tdeoéthe calendar year following the
calendar year in which the Executive incurred dieels and expenses) following receipt from the Etieewf documentation substantiating
such fees and expenses.

18. Certain Additional Payments by the Conypan

(a) Anything in this Agreement to the contrantwithstanding and except as set forth belowhéevent it shall be determined that any
Payment would be subject to the Excise Tax, therEtkecutive shall be entitled to receive an add#igpayment (a “Gross-Up Payment”) in
an amount such that after payment by the Execofiadl taxes (and any interest or penalty imposéd vespect to such taxes), including,
without limitation, any income taxes (and any ietdrand penalties imposed with respect theretoEFanise Tax imposed upon the Gross-Up
Payment, the Executive retains an amount of the$stip Payment equal to the Excise Tax imposed timRayments. Notwithstanding the
foregoing provisions of this Section 8(a), if iedlbe determined that the Executive is entitletheoGrosddp Payment, but that the Parach
Value of all Payments does not exceed 110% of #fe Barbor Amount, then no Gross Up Payment sieathbde to the Executive and the
amounts payable under this Agreement shall be eztiso that the Parachute Value of all Paymentsygnegate, equals the Safe Harbor
Amount. The reduction of the amounts payable hateyrf applicable shall be made by first redudimg Payments under Section 5(a)(i)(B),
unless an alternative method of reduction is etebiethe Executive, and in any event shall be niadeich a manner as to maximize the
Value of all Payments actually made to the Exeeutivor purposes of reducing the Payments to the ISafbor Amount, only amounts
payable under this Agreement (and no other Paymshédl be reduced. If the reduction of the amagayable under this Agreement would
not result in a reduction of the Parachute ValualloPayments to the Safe Harbor Amount, no amopaysible under the Agreement shall be
reduced pursuant to Section 8(a). The Companyigatidn to make Gross-Up Payments under this Se&ishall not be conditioned upon
the Executive’s Termination of Employment.

(b) Subject to the provisions of Section 8@t)determinations required to be made underSkistion 8, including whether and when a
Gross-Up Payment is required and the amount of &xoks-Up Payment and the assumptions to be wtilizarriving at such determination,
shall be made by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP or
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such other certified public accounting firm as nbaydesignated by the Executive (the “AccountingniFirwhich shall provide detailed
supporting calculations both to the Company and=tkecutive within 15 business days of the receiptatice from the Executive that there
has been a Payment, or such earlier time as iestegby the Company. In the event that the Ac@ogifirm is serving as accountant or
auditor for the individual, entity or group effami the Change of Control, the Executive shall appanother nationally recognized accoun
firm to make the determinations required hereuriad@ich accounting firm shall then be referred tales Accounting Firm hereunder). All
fees and expenses of the Accounting Firm shalldoeebsolely by the Company. Any Gross-Up Paymentetermined pursuant to this
Section 8, shall be paid by the Company to the &xee: (1) if the Effective Date is prior to a Clggnof Control pursuant to Section 1(a)(ii),
within thirty (30) business days following the Clgarof Control, or if later, within five (5) businedays of the receipt of the Accounting
Firm’s determination, but no later thari/2 months following the year in which the Change oh@ol occurs; (2) if the Executive’s
Termination of Employment is on or after a Chang€antrol and the Executive is a Specified Employeeearlier than six (6) months and
no later than seven (7) months after the dateeoEttecutive’s Separation from Service, and sucls&tdp Payment shall be credited with
interest at an annual rate equal to the Prime Ratapounded quarterly or (3) otherwise, within tyn@0) days following the Executive’s
Separation from Servicprovided thathe Executive shall not have discretion to chobsetdx year in which the Gross-Up Payment shall be
made if the calendar year ends during any such payperiod.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the Exéve is required to pay the excise tax imposedkuCode Section 4999 prior to the
applicable payment date for the Gross-Up Paymestdriteed hereinabove (such as, for instance, beathse payments due to the Executive
without regard to this Agreement cause the Exceetd be due), then the Company shall promptly beirse the Executive for the amount of
Excise Taxes paid by the Executive under Code @ed999, plus an amount equal to the additionadamposed on the Executive due to
Companys reimbursement of the Excise Tax and such adaditi@xes. In no event shall the payment describehdis paragraph be paid to-
Executive later than the end of the calendar yaléoving the year in which the Executive remitsistiaxes. In such event, the Gross-Up
Payment, if and when paid, shall be reduced by#yeent previously made to the Executive underghaiagraph.

If the Accounting Firm determines thatExcise Tax is payable by the Executive, it shalhfsh the Executive with a written opinion
that failure to report the Excise Tax on the Exe®s applicable federal income tax return would result in the imposition of a negligence
or similar penalty. Any determination by the Accting Firm shall be binding upon the Company andBRkecutive. As a result of the
uncertainty in the application of Code Section 489%he time of the initial determination by thecdanting Firm hereunder it is possible that
Gross-Up Payments which will not have been madén&yCompany should have been made (“Underpaymaemifigistent with the
calculations required to be made hereunder. Ieteat that the Company exhausts its remedies mtrsu&ection 8(c) and the Executive
thereafter is required to make a payment of anygextax, the Accounting Firm shall determine theant of the Underpayment that has
occurred. Any such Underpayment shall be prompdig py the Company to or for the benefit of the &rare following the date the
Executive remits the taxes, or if earlier, the dhtelnternal Revenue Service assesses such additaxes, but no later than the calendar year
following the calendar year in which the Executieenits the additional taxes. The
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Executive shall provide written notice to the Compand documentation substantiating the amountditianal taxes paid or assessed.

(c) The Executive shall notify the Companyiniting of any claim by the Internal Revenue Seevibat, if successful, would require the
payment by the Company of the Gross-Up Paymeninaietpayment. Such notification shall be given assas practicable but no later than
ten (10) business days after the Executive is iméat in writing of such claim and shall apprise @@npany of the nature of such claim and
the date on which such claim is requested to be fdie Executive shall not pay such claim prioth® expiration of the thirty (30Jay perioc
following the date on which it gives such noticelie Company (or such shorter period ending ord#te that any payment of taxes with
respect to such claim is due). If the Company iestithe Executive in writing prior to the expiratiof such period that it desires to contest
such claim, the Executive shall:

i. give the Company any information reasonabtyuested by the Company relating to such claim,

ii. take such action in connection with cotitggsuch claim as the Company shall reasonablyestgn writing from time to time,
including, without limitation, accepting legal regentation with respect to such claim by an atioreasonably selected by the
Company,

iii. cooperate with the Company in good faittorder to effectively contest such claim, and
iv. permit the Company to participate in amgqeedings relating to such claim;

provided, howeve, that the Company shall bear and pay directlg@dts and expenses (including additional intenedtpenalties) incurred
connection with such contest and shall indemnify hold the Executive harmless, on an after-taxshdsi any Excise Tax or income tax
(including interest and penalties with respectél@rimposed as a result of such representatiompayihent of costs and expenses. Without
limitation on the foregoing provisions of this Seat8(c), the Company shall control all proceeditaisen in connection with such contest
and, at its sole option, may pursue or forgo ardyahadministrative appeals, proceedings, hearamgsconferences with the taxing authority
in respect of such claim and may, at its sole optsither direct the Executive to pay the tax ckdnand sue for a refund or contest the claim
in any permissible manner, and the Executive agepsosecute such contest to a determination eefoy administrative tribunal, in a court
of initial jurisdiction and in one or more appediatourts, as the Company shall determpmeyided, howeverthat if the Company directs the
Executive to pay such claim and sue for a refumel Gompany shall indemnify and hold the Executi@miiess, on an after-tax basis, from
any Excise Tax or income tax (including interespenalties with respect thereto) imposed with resfzesuch paymerdr with respect to any
imputed income with respect to such paymentdfurther providedthat any extension of the statute of limitationatiag to payment of taxe
for the taxable year of the Executive with resgeavhich such contested amount is claimed to beigilimited solely to such contested
amount. Furthermore, the Company’s control of thretest shall be limited to issues with respect liictv a Gross-Up Payment would be
payable hereunder and the Executive shall be exttit settle or contest, as the case may be, amy issue raised by the Internal Revenue
Service or any other taxing authority.
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(d) If, after the receipt by the Executiveanf amount advanced by the Company pursuant tooBeft), the Executive becomes entitled to
receive any refund with respect to such claim HEkecutive shall (subject to the Company’s complyiith the requirements of Section 8(c))
promptly pay to the Company the amount of suchméffiogether with any interest paid or credited¢ba after taxes applicable thereto). If,
after the receipt by the Executive of an amountaded by the Company pursuant to Section 8(c)texrdaation is made that the Executive
shall not be entitled to any refund with respectuoh claim and the Company does not notify thecEtkee in writing of its intent to contest
such denial of refund prior to the expiration aftth(30) days after the Company’s receipt of netaf such determination, then such advance
shall be forgiven and shall not be required todgaid and the amount of such advance shall offsétie extent thereof, the amount of Gross-
Up Payment required to be paid.

Notwithstanding any other provision oktBection 8, the Company, may in its sole disorgtin lieu of making a payment to the
Executive, withhold and pay over to the Internal&wie Service or any other applicable taxing aitthdor the benefit of the Executive, all
or any portion of any Gross-Up Payment, and thecktiee hereby consents to such withholding.

Definitions The following terms shall have the following mewgs for purposes of this Section 8.

“Excise Tax” shall mean the Excise Tayowed by Section 4999 of the Code, together wishimterest or penalties imposed with the
respect to such Excise Tax.

“Parachute Value” of a Payment shall mimnpresent value as of the date of the changertfol for purposes of Section 280G of the
Code of the portion of such Payment that consstat&parachute payment” under Section 280G (b)&)edermined by the Accounting Firm
for purposes of determining whether and to whagmixthe Excise Tax will apply to such Payment.

A “Payment” shall mean any payment otriistion in the nature of compensation (within theaning of Section 280G(b)(2) of the
Code) to or for the benefit of the Executive, wieethaid or payable pursuant to this Agreement logratise.

The “Safe Harbor Amount” means 2.99 tinfesExecutive’s “base amount,” within the meanifiggection 280G(b)(3) of the Code.

“Value” of a Payment shall mean the ecoitgpresent value of a Payment as of the dateeofhiange of control for purposes of
Section 280G of the Code, as determined by the émang Firm using the discount rate required byt®ac280G(d)(4) of the Code.

19. Confidential Information(a) The Executive shall hold in a fiduciary capafor the benefit of the Company all secret onfidential
information, knowledge or data relating to the Campor any of its Affiliated Companies, and th&spective businesses, which shall have
been obtained by the Executive during the Execistiemployment by the Company or any of its AffigdtCompanies and which shall not be
or become public knowledge (other than by actdleyExecutive or representatives of the Executiwgdtation of this Agreement). During
employment and for two years
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after the Executive’'s Termination of Employmeng txecutive, except as may otherwise be requirddwyr legal process, shall not use
any such information except on behalf of the Conypamd shall not communicate or divulge any suchrimftion, knowledge or data to
anyone other than the Company and those desighgtidThis covenant shall survive the terminatadrihis Agreement. Nothing in this
paragraph is intended or shall be construed td limany way Executive’s independent duty not teappropriate Trade Secrets of the
Company.

(b) “Trade Secret” means information of then@@any and its Affiliated Companies, including anfioria, pattern, compilation, program,
device, method, technique or process, that demdependent economic value, actual or potentiamfnot being generally known to, and not
being readily ascertainable by proper means bgrgibrsons who can obtain economic value fromistslasure or use, and that is the subject
of efforts by the Company or an Affiliated Companymaintain its secrecy that are reasonable um@ecitcumstances. During employment
with the Company and its Affiliated Companies, Bxtae shall preserve and protect Trade Secrets fmauthorized use or disclosure, and
after Termination of Employment, Executive shalt nse or disclose any Trade Secret until such éimthat Trade Secret is no longer a s¢
as a result of circumstances other than a misapiptgm involving the Executive.

20. Successorga) This Agreement is personal to the Executive &ithout the prior written consent of the Compahwll not be
assignable by the Executive otherwise than byavithe laws of descent and distribution. This Agreat shall inure to the benefit of and be
enforceable by the Executive’s legal representative

(b) This Agreement shall inure to the beneffiand be binding upon the Company and its successa assigns.

(c) The Company will require any successorgthir direct or indirect, by purchase, merger, obdation or otherwise) to all or
substantially all of the business and/or assetseCompany to assume expressly and agree to petiiis Agreement in the same manner
to the same extent that the Company would be redui perform it if no such succession had takanelFailure of the Company to obtain
such agreement prior to the effective date of suaichase, merger, consolidation or other transacti@ll be a breach of this Agreement
constituting “Good Reason” hereunder, except thapfirposes of implementing the foregoing, the daten which such purchase, merger,
consolidation or other transaction becomes effecivall be deemed the Date of Termination. As uséus Agreement, “Company” shall
mean the Company as hereinbefore defined and agssor to its business and/or assets as aforekaill assumes and agrees to perform
this Agreement by operation of law, or otherwise.

21. Miscellaneous(a) This Agreement shall be governed by and coedtin accordance with the laws of the State afdssin, without
reference to principles of conflict of laws. Thetians of this Agreement are not part of the priovis hereof and shall have no force or ef
This Agreement may not be amended or modified atiserthan by a written agreement executed by thigegahereto or their respective
successors and legal representatives.

(b) All notices and other communications hedar shall be in writing and shall be given by hdetivery to the other party or by
registered or certified mail, return receipt reqedspostage prepaid, addressed as follows:
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If to the Executive

If to the Company

Johnson Controls, Inc.

5757 North Green Bay Avenue
Milwaukee, Wisconsin 53209
Attention: General Counsel

or to such other address as either party shall haméshed to the other in writing in accordanceeigth. Notice and communications shall be
effective when actually received by the addressee.

(c) The invalidity or unenforceability of apyovision of this Agreement shall not affect thdidity or enforceability of any other provisic
of this Agreement.

(d) The Company may withhold from any amou#gable under this Agreement such Federal, stdtecaltaxes as shall be required tc
withheld pursuant to any applicable law or regolatiin addition, if prior to the date of paymentamlfy payment hereunder, the Federal
Insurance Contributions Act (FICA) tax imposed un8ections 3101, 3121(a) and 3121(v)(2), whereiegiple, becomes due with respect to
any payment or benefit to be provided hereunder@bmpany shall (unless otherwise directed by trex&ive, to the extent such direction
does not cause a violation of Code Section 4094yide for an immediate payment of the amount ne¢dgay the Executive’s portion of
such tax (plus an amount equal to the taxes tHhbe/due on such amount) and the Special Terntinatimount shall be reduced
accordingly.

(e) The Executive’s or the Company'’s failurértsist upon strict compliance with any provistwereof or any other provision of this
Agreement or the failure to assert any right thedtive or the Company may have hereunder, inofyduithout limitation, the right of the
Executive to Terminate Employment for Good Reasamsymnt to Section 4(c)(i)-(v) of this Agreemefizals not be deemed to be a waiver of
such provision or right or any other provision ight of this Agreement.

() The Executive and the Company acknowlettigé except as may otherwise be provided undeo#rer written agreement between the
Executive and the Company, the employment of thechtive by the Company is “at will” and, prior teet Effective Date, may be terminated
by either the Executive or the Company at any tiereover, if prior to the Effective Date, (i) theecutive’s employment with the
Company terminates or (ii) the Executive ceasdsetan officer of the Company, then the Executivalstave no further rights under this
Agreement. From and after the Effective Date, fiuseement shall supersede any other employmenéaget between the parties.

(g) This Agreement shall be governed by theslaf the State of Wisconsin, without referencedaoflict of law principles thereof.
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i. If, after a Change of Control, any paymamtount or the value of any benefit under this Agrest is required to be included in an
Executive’s income prior to the date such amouattsially paid or the benefit provided as a restthe failure of this Agreement (or
any other arrangement that is required to be agdedgvith this Agreement under Code Section 408Apmply with Code Section
409A, then the Executive shall receive a paymerd, lump sum, within ninety (90) days after theedats finally determined that the
Agreement (or such other arrangement that is reduo be aggregated with this Agreement) fails étthe requirements of
Section 409A of the Code; such payment shall etiigahmount required to be included in the Execigiireome as a result of such
failure and shall reduce the amount of paymentseoefits otherwise due hereunder.

ii. The Company and the Executive intend #rens of this Agreement to be in compliance withtl®ec409A of the Code. To the
maximum extent permissible, any ambiguous ternthisfAgreement shall be interpreted in a manneckvhivoids a violation of
Section 409A of the Code.

(h) To avoid a violation of Section 409A oétlode, the Executive acknowledges that, with dpepayments that may be payable or
benefits that may be provided under this Agreertieitare subject to Section 409A of the Code aatdre not timely paid or provided, the
Executive must make a reasonable, good faith etforbllect any payment or benefit to which the &xeve believes the Executive is entitled
hereunder no later than ninety (90) days aftetatest date upon which the payment should have begte or benefit provided under this
Agreement, and if not paid or provided, must takeéhier enforcement measures within one hundredye{@80) days after such latest date.
Failure to comply with these deadlines will notuledn the loss of any payment or benefit to whilth Executive is otherwise entitled.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Executive hasguerto set the Executive’s hand and, pursuant tadhi®orization from its Board of
Directors, the Company has caused these preseésarecuted in its name on its behalf, all ahefday and year first above written.

JOHNSON CONTROLS, INC

By:

Stephen Roell, CE!
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EXHIBIT 21

JOHNSON CONTROLS, INC.
Following is a list of significant subsidiariesthie Company, as defined by section 1.02(w) of Ratgur S-X, as of October 31, 2010.

Jurisdiction
Where
Subsidiary is
Name

Incorporated
York International Corporatio Delaware




EXHIBIT 23

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTINGRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by referémt¢lee Registration Statements on Form S-3 anchFx8 listed below of Johnson
Controls, Inc. of our report dated November 23,@2fHlating to the financial statements, financtatement schedule and the effectiveness of
internal control over financial reporting, whichpagars in this Form 10-K

1. Registration Statement on Forr-8 (Registration No. :-30309)

2. Registration Statement on Forr-8 (Registration No. -31271)
3. Registration Statement on Forr-8 (Registration No. :-58092)
4. Registration Statement on Forr-8 (Registration No. --58094)
5. Registration Statement on Forr-3 (Registration No. -64703)
6. Registration Statement on Forr-8 (Registration No. 3:-10707)
7. Registration Statement on Forr-3 (Registration No. 3:-13525)
8. Registration Statement on Forr-3 (Registration No. 3:--130714)
9. Registration Statement on Forr-8 (Registration No. 3:-66073)
10. Registration Statement on Forr-8 (Registration No. 33-41564)
11. Registration Statement on Forr-3 (Registration No. 3:-59594)
12. Registration Statement on Forr-8 (Registration No. 3:-117898)
13. Registration Statement on Forr-3 (Registration No. 3:-111192)
14. Registration Statement on Forr-8 (Registration No. 3:-141578)
15. Registration Statement on Forr-3 (Registration No. :-57685)
16. Registration Statement on Forr-3 (Registration No. 33-155802)

17. Registration Statement on Forr-3 (Registration No. 33-157502)

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Milwaukee, Wisconsin
November 23, 201



EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATIONS

I, Stephen A. Roell, Chairman and Chief Executi¥éo®r of Johnson Controls, Inc., certify that:

1.
2.

| have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Johnson Controls, Inc

Based on my knowledge, this report does notato any untrue statement of a material fact oit torstate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigtagisg with respect to the
period covered by this repo

Based on my knowledge, the financial statememtd other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtfe periods presented in this rep

The registrant’s other certifying officer anare responsible for establishing and maintaimiisglosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)1%nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act Rules
13ez15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and ha

a) Designed such disclosure controls and pruaesdor caused such disclosure controls and puoesdo be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgibsidiaries, is made known to
us by others within those entities, particularlyidg the period in which this report is being pregzh

b) Designed such internal control over financial réipgr, or caused such internal control over finahetporting to be designed un
our supervision, to provide reasonable assuramzgdeng the reliability of financial reporting attie preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitlerally accepted accounting princip

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the regissatisclosure controls and procedures and predentghis report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyédport based on such
evaluation; an

d) Disclosed in this report any change in #gistrant’s internal control over financial repodithat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repo&) tlas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regast’s internal control over financial reporting; a

The registrant’s other certifying officer anldave disclosed, based on our most recent evatuafiinternal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and materialak@esses in the design or operation of internairabaver financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regid’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpanhcial information; an

b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, thatotwes management or other employees who have Hisag role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin

Date: November 23, 2010 /sl Stephen A. Roell

Stephen A. Roel
Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer



EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATIONS

I, R. Bruce McDonald, Executive Vice President &fdef Financial Officer of Johnson Controls, Ineertify that:

1.
2.

| have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Johnson Controls, Inc

Based on my knowledge, this report does notato any untrue statement of a material fact oit torstate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigtagisg with respect to the
period covered by this repo

Based on my knowledge, the financial statememtd other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgdtfe periods presented in this rep

The registrant’s other certifying officer anare responsible for establishing and maintaimiisglosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)1%nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act Rules
13&15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hay

a) Designed such disclosure controls and pruaesdor caused such disclosure controls and puoesdo be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgibsidiaries, is made known to
us by others within those entities, particularlyidg the period in which this report is being preszh

b) Designed such internal control over financial réipgr, or caused such internal control over finahetporting to be designed un
our supervision, to provide reasonable assuramzgdeng the reliability of financial reporting attie preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitlerally accepted accounting princip

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the regissatisclosure controls and procedures and predentghis report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls adgatures, as of the end of the period coveredibydport based on such
evaluation; an

d) Disclosed in this report any change in #hgistrant’s internal control over financial repogithat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repo&) tfas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regast’s internal control over financial reporting; a

The registrant’s other certifying officer anldave disclosed, based on our most recent evatuafiinternal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and materialak@esses in the design or operation of internairabaver financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regid’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpanhcial information; an

b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, thatotwes management or other employees who have Hisag role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin

Date: November 23, 2010 /s/ R. Bruce McDonald

R. Bruce McDonald
Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer



EXHIBIT 32

CERTIFICATION OF PERIODIC FINANCIAL REPORTS

We, Stephen A. Roell, Chairman and Chief Execuificer, and R. Bruce McDonald, Executive Vice Ridest and Chief Financial Officer,
of Johnson Controls, Inc., certify, pursuant tot®&c906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the yeaded September 30, 2010 (the “Periodic Repartiyhich this statement is an
exhibit fully complies with the requirements of 8en 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange #{ct934 (15 U.S.C. 78m or
780(d)) anc

(2) information contained in the Periodic Report faphgesents, in all material respects, the finaraaldition and results of operatic
of Johnson Controls, In

Dated: November 23, 2010

/sl Stephen A. Roell
Stephen A. Roel
Chairman and

Chief Executive Officer

/s/ R. Bruce McDonald

R. Bruce McDonald
Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer




